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The Department of Industry and Resources works 

under the direction of three Cabinet ministers – the 

Hon. Alan Carpenter, Premier and Minister for Trade; 

Science; Innovation; the Hon. Eric Ripper, Minister 

for State Development; and the Hon. Francis Logan, 

Minister for Resources; Industry and Enterprise. 

The Department has a strong strategic development 

focus and facilitation role which seeks to address the 

challenges and maximise opportunities for sustained 

and responsible economic development in Western 

Australia.

The 2006-07 fi nancial year was a period that 

consolidated the economic expansion of recent years 

and, in the process, set new economic records in 

production, investment, employment and exports that 

helped make Western Australia the country’s fastest 

growing state.

Western Australia’s economy is well positioned to 

service the needs of our fastest growing trading 

partners.  Our resources sector is strongly 

complementary to the needs of countries that are 

predicted to become the strongest drivers of global 

economic growth for several decades to come. 

This has led a view that Western Australia’s economic 

expansion is structural not cyclical – that unlike the 

booms and busts of the past, the current economic 

expansion will be ‘stronger for longer’ and sustainable.

HIGHLIGHTS
The resources sector continued to be the prime driver 

of economic expansion. The value of production from 

the resources sector alone increased from $39.5 

billion in 2005 to $48.4 billion in 2006, driven by 

buoyant commodity prices and strong global demand. 

This heightened global interest in the resources sector 

led to a continuing surge in investment.  Investment 

growth was driven by two factors – increased 

investment in mining and petroleum projects to 

increase production capacity in response to higher 

levels of demand; and increased investment in 

economic infrastructure such as ports, rail lines, 

roads and energy and water supplies to facilitate the 

expansion of the resources sector and the State’s 

economy generally.  Capital investment in Western 

Australia surged from $9.1 billion in 2004 to $18.3 

billion in 2006.

While the resources sector continues to underpin 

the State’s rapid economic development, major 

developments occurred in other areas that added 

to The State’s existing economic performance while 

establishing the building blocks for future growth in 

new and emerging industry sectors.  These include 

technology-driven manufacturing and knowledge-

intensive service industries – such as marine and 

defence industries; oil and gas services and sub 

sea technology; information and communications 

technology; biotechnology; and renewable energy.

The Department has identifi ed a wide range of 

opportunities emerging from this new economic 

framework and is seeking to maximise the benefi ts 

of high and sustained growth. 

In 2006-07 the State faced a number of challenges, 

including a shortage of labour (particularly skilled 

labour) and substantial increases in the cost of 

construction of major projects and new infrastructure 

needed to facilitate continued growth.  One challenge 

particular to Western Australia was a signifi cant 

reduction in the volume of natural gas available for 

sale to industry in the near to medium term.

1.1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

JIM LIMERICK – DIRECTOR GENERAL

The Department of Industry and Resources is Western Australia’s 

principal economic development agency, with a charter to regulate 

the minerals and petroleum resource sector and to promote, 

facilitate and coordinate investment, business development, 

exports and activity across most sectors of the economy, with 

the exception of tourism, agriculture and fi sheries.
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POSITIONING WA TO ACHIEVE HISTORIC 

OPPORTUNITIES
Western Australia has an historic opportunity to 

achieve very signifi cant benefi ts from the longer term 

global expansion now under way.

New opportunities that are opening up for Western 

Australia include a signifi cant expansion in the 

Liquifi ed Natural Gas (LNG) industry to supply the 

energy needs of an increasingly carbon-constrained 

global economy.

The Department is working to achieve sustainable 

economic growth and a more resilient economy by 

broadening and diversifying Western Australia’s 

economic base on a number of fronts. It is using the 

growth of the State’s resources sector to leverage 

broader trade relations and promoting science and 

innovation to build the high growth technology-based 

knowledge industries of the future.

In 2006-07 the Department participated in, or led, 

numerous policy developments looking into some of the 

challenges facing Western Australia in order to better 

position the State for long term economic development. 

These included development of the Climate Change 

Statement; the State Infrastructure Strategy; the 

Domestic Gas Policy; and the State Water Plan.

The Department also made signifi cant progress in a 

range of longer term strategic planning issues.  In 

the Pilbara, the Department was active in addressing 

infrastructure and other planning issues for LNG 

projects and expansions in the iron ore industry; in the 

Mid West, the Department was engaged in planning 

issues for new iron ore mines, rail links and a new 

port at Oakajee; and in the Kimberley, the Department 

engaged in early assessments of the need and 

potential for a common hub location for a number of 

proposed LNG developments.

EXTENDING THE CAPABILITIES OF THE 

RESOURCES SECTOR
The resources sector is the foundation of the State’s 

prosperity. The Department takes a strategic view 

of the resources sector, supporting its development 

from discovery through to market. Such efforts include 

pre-competitive geoscience and mapping, conducted 

by the Geological Survey, to assist exploration for new 

resource discoveries, investment facilitation, approvals 

processing, and developing longer term relationships 

with the State’s major trading partners.

In 2006-07 the Department facilitated work on around 

$80 billion worth of projects which are underway or 

planned for the next few years.  Western Australia’s 

mineral and petroleum exploration expenditure 

reached a record $1.6 billion in 2006-07. 

Over the past year the Department processed a record 

number of mineral title applications and released 

a record number of open fi le mineral exploration 

reports. The Department’s Geological Survey also 

fl ew a record number of line kilometres of airborne 

geophysical surveys. To promote greater knowledge 

of the State’s resource development potential, the 

Department is working with Geoscience Australia, 

CSIRO and local universities on a number of projects.

The Department continued to improve its services to 

the resources sector with enhanced online information 

delivery systems.

At a time of record applications for resources 

tenements, the Department made improvements to 

approvals processes and will continue to work with the 

industry to further improve processes. 

Another initiative is the drafting of legislation which 

is intended to be introduced into Parliament soon to 

develop the geothermal industry which offers potential 

as a source of non-fossil fuel energy.

INVESTING IN OTHER HIGH GROWTH 

INDUSTRY SECTORS
The State Government is investing in the future of high 

growth technology based industries in which Western 

Australia has, or can create, an internationally 

competitive advantage.

Biotechnology has been identifi ed as a strategically 

important industry for the State, with the potential to 

develop as a major wealth generator and a provider 

of research and development expertise.  In 2006-07 

the Department developed the WA Biotechnology 

Industry Development Strategy that identifi ed a range 

of measures to support the industry to generate 

economic and social benefi ts for the State. Benefi ts 

include new highly skilled jobs, better treatments 

for human health, environmental sustainability, and 

increased growth in the State’s agricultural sector. 

The Department initiated the Clinical Trials Network in 

conjunction with the WA Institute for Medical Research 

to establish a $9.95 million, 24 bed facility at the Sir 

Charles Gairdner Hospital.

The State’s Information and Communications 

Technology (ICT) industry has specialist strengths 

and is a major ‘enabler’ of growth for other industry 

sectors. To provide a basis of future strategy 

development, the Department carried out an audit of 

the ICT industry.  Recommendations from the audit 

will be incorporated into an ICT Industry Development 

Strategy for release in 2007/08.

The Department continued to promote Australia’s 

largest concentration of marine industry at the 

Australian Marine Complex (AMC) in Henderson. It 

did this by coordinating the development of common 

user infrastructure to grow the AMC as a centre of 

marine engineering excellence, jointly establishing 

the Defence Industry Skills Taskforce and launching 

the Logical Choice campaign to promote the State’s 

modular fabrication, shipbuilding, repair and 

maintenance capabilities.

Western Australia is also developing expertise 

in biofuels and renewable energy, areas that 

have considerable potential given the growing 

environmental constraints on fossil fuel. The 

Department contributed to the Western Australian 

Government Biofuels Taskforce. 
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PROMOTING SCIENCE AND INNOVATION 

AS A DRIVER OF DEVELOPMENT
Innovation and research and development across all 

industries plays a critical role in supporting our ability 

to increase the productivity and competitiveness of 

the State’s economy and to position it for longer term 

growth.

Over the last year the Department has been active 

in building science infrastructure that will grow the 

State’s economic and research capabilities.  Projects 

included providing funding for seven new Centres 

of Excellence and additional funding for iVEC’s 

supercomputing and visualisation facility; negotiating 

funding for two WA Major Research Facilities (the 

WA Marine Science Institute and the Centre for 

Genomic Medicine); progressing the expansion of the 

Technology Precinct at Bentley and the development 

of a new Technology Precinct at the Australian Marine 

Complex at Henderson; and continuing to work with 

the Commonwealth Government to build the case for 

Western Australia to host the international Square 

Kilometre Array telescope project.

 

In 2006-07 the Department built on its broad 

innovation agenda by supporting the Inventor of 

the Year Award.  The Department also continued to 

support the Premier’s Science Awards which promote 

the importance of science to the economic and social 

well being of the State.

A new Premier’s Science and Innovation Council met 

for the fi rst time in June 2007, chaired by the recently-

appointed Chief Scientist, Professor Lyn Beazley.  The 

Council is developing strategic directions for growing 

Western Australia’s capabilities in science and 

innovation.

DEVELOPING INTERNATIONAL 

RELATIONSHIPS AND GLOBAL NETWORKS
The globalisation and rapid integration of powerful 

trade and investment networks has given increased 

importance to the development of international 

relations as a means of promoting the State’s long 

term wealth and prosperity.

During 2006-07 countries such as China and Japan 

have sought to secure access to long term supplies of 

commodities by investing directly in major mineral and 

petroleum projects in Western Australia.

Over the last year, the Department has continued 

to nurture international relationships of strategic 

importance and seeks to diversify the State’s longer 

term economic engagement with key partners through 

Western Australia’s network of State Government 

trade and investment offi ces in Europe, China, the 

Middle East, Japan, India, South Korea, Taiwan, 

Thailand, Malaysia, Indonesia and the US. 

COMMUNITIES SHARING IN THE BENEFITS
The Department has continued to work with 

numerous Local Governments, Regional Development 

Commissions and community groups to facilitate 

the development of major projects and provision of 

associated economic and social infrastructure.  As a 

result of efforts this year, signifi cant benefi ts will fl ow 

to communities in the Pilbara, Mid West and other 

regions in the years to come. 

To ensure that the whole community benefi ts from the 

State’s development, the government initiated a State 

wide Broadband Strategy in 2006-07, with the aim of 

developing a high speed broadband network across 

the State through the aggregation of the government’s 

telecommunications infrastructure expenditure.  The 

Department issued an Invitation to Register Interest 

to telecommunications companies and will consider 

the submissions in the context of the Commonwealth 

Government’s Broadband Connect program.

Improving the economic and employment 

opportunities of indigenous people is a priority for 

the Department.  The big expansion in the resources 

sector, combined with new Native Title Agreements, 

is opening up opportunities for economic and social 

development in Aboriginal communities.

The Pilbara Regional Partnership Agreements 

project, a joint initiative of government, industry and 

indigenous communities, has led to the successful 

development of ‘work readiness’ programs.  

Other such Agreements are being progressively 

implemented across the State.

The Department’s Aboriginal Economic Development 

Division has developed an action plan that focuses on 

the implementation of the Prosperity for Indigenous 

Western Australians – an Indigenous Economic 

Development Framework that is a joint initiative of the 

State and Commonwealth Governments.

IN CONCLUSION
The year in review has been a testing but successful 

year for the Department. Work volumes have 

increased substantially with the growth in the 

economy and, in an environment of skills shortages 

in the State, a signifi cant number of staff have left the 

agency to pursue opportunities in the private sector.  

But through the dedication of its skilled people the 

Department has met many unique challenges facing 

the Western Australian economy and enabled the 

State to build its capabilities in a truly competitive 

global environment. 

The government appointed Mr Terry Budge in 

January 2007 to undertake a Functional Review of the 

Department and he is expected to submit his report 

to the Minister for Public Sector management early in 

the new fi nancial year.
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1.2.4 RESPONSIBLE MINISTERS
The Department of Industry and Resources reports to the 

following three State Government Ministers:

THE HON ALAN J CARPENTER MLA

Premier; Minister for Federal-State 
Relations; Trade; Innovation; Science; 
Public Sector Management.

In relation to the Department, the 

Premier is responsible for the 

science, technology and innovation 

functions of the Department which 

focus on pure scientifi c research and 

promoting innovation as a driver for 

competitiveness in new sectors of the 

Western Australian economy. Premier 

Carpenter is also responsible for 

international trade and investment.

THE HON ERIC S RIPPER 

BA DipEd MLA

Deputy Premier; Treasurer; Minister 
for State Development 
In relation to the Department, the 

Deputy Premier is responsible for 

major resource projects, including 

oil and gas, alumina and iron ore 

developments.

THE HON FRANCIS M LOGAN 

BA(Hons) MLA

Minister for Energy; Resources; 
Industry and Enterprise

The Minister for Resources; Industry 

and Enterprise is responsible for the 

State’s resource sector including 

royalties and mining.  Minister Logan 

is also responsible for developing 

strategies to ensure the long-term 

viability of the State through the 

development of biotechnology, 

information communications 

technology, marine and defence, 

renewable energy and resource 

services as major ongoing contributors 

to the Western Australian economy.

1.2 OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE

1.2.1 NAME OF DEPARTMENT
Department of Industry and Resources

1.2.2 ADDRESSES OF MAIN OFFICES
Adelaide Terrace

1 Adelaide Terrace

East Perth

Western Australia  6004

Phone +61 8 9222 3333 

Fax: +61 8 9222 3862

Mineral House

100 Plain Street

East Perth

Western Australia  6004

Phone: +61 8 9222 3333 

Fax: +61 8 9222 3862

1.2.3 AUTHORITY BY WHICH THE 

DEPARTMENT IS ESTABLISHED
The Department of Industry and Resources 

(DoIR) was established on 3 February 

2003 under the Public Sector Management 

Act 1994 by the redesignation of the 

Department of Mineral and Petroleum 

Resources and the transfer of functions 

from the abolished Department of Industry 

and Technology. 
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Director General
 

Jim Limerick
DIRECTOR GENERAL

Corporate Services

Lew Pritchard
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mick Banaszczyk
GENERAL MANAGER

Gee Lightfoot
GENERAL MANAGER

Offi ce of Science, 

Technology and 

Innovation

Peter Viney
DEPUTY DIRECTOR 

GENERAL

Joe Ostojich
DIRECTOR

State Development 

Strategies

Lyne Thomas
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR 

GENERAL

Offi ce of State 

Development

Stuart Smith
DEPUTY DIRECTOR 

GENERAL

Brian Carew-Hopkins
DIRECTOR

Anna Cronin
DIRECTOR

Roger Dean
DIRECTOR

Resources Group

Roy Burton
DEPUTY DIRECTOR

GENERAL

Graham Cobby
DIRECTOR 

Mike Donaldson
GENERAL MANAGER

Tim Griffi n
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Duncan Ord
DIRECTOR

Rick Rogerson
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR

Bob Stevens
ACTING DIRECTOR

Bill Tinapple
DIRECTOR

Chemistry Centre 

(WA)

Phil Hyde
MANAGING DIRECTOR

Neil Campbell
CHIEF

Peter McCafferty
CHIEF

Neil Rothnie
CHIEF

Offi ce of the 

Director General

Ross Marshall
DIRECTOR

1.2.6 DISCLAIMER: CONTRACTS WITH SENIOR OFFICERS
(As mandated by Treasurer’s instructions 903 and 952)

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no Senior Offi cers, or fi rms of which 

Senior Offi cers are members, or entities in which Senior Offi cers have substantial interests, had any interests in 

existing or proposed contracts with the Department.

1.2.5 ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND SENIOR OFFICERS AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

Senior offi cers identifi ed on Chart 1 are those that substantively occupied positions at or above 

Level 9 as at 30/6/07.  Therefore some non-Senior Executive Service offi cers are included.  Each 

box in the chart represents a structural group. The most senior offi cer in each group is shown 

above the line; other offi cers are listed alphabetically below the line.
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1.2.7 STRUCTURAL GROUPS AND SUMMARY 

OF ACTIVITIES BY DIVISION
The Department structure at the end of the 2006/07 

fi nancial year consisted of fi ve major Groups;

• Resources Group

• Offi ce of State Development

• Offi ce of Science, Technology and Innovation

• State Development Strategies Group

• Corporate Support Group.

The Groups’ Functions

Resources Group (RG) 

• Regulates the mineral and petroleum industries

• Helps companies gain secure access to minerals 

and petroleum resources

• Minimises social and environmental impacts

• Ensures a satisfactory return to the community 

through royalties

• Provides up-to-date information on mineral and 

petroleum resources for economic and land use 

decisions

• Attracts investment in mineral and petroleum 

exploration to sustain the resources sector

• Promotes Aboriginal prosperity through 

leadership and innovation in Indigenous economic 

development

Offi ce of State Development (OSD)

• Assists existing Western Australian businesses to 

grow

• Encourages new business development to diversify 

the State’s economic base

• Initiates and support Western Australian trade 

access to markets outside the State, both 

nationally and internationally

• Facilitate approvals for major resource projects

• Attracts investment into Western Australia

• Helps companies make successful investments 

that benefi t Western Australians

Offi ce of Science, Technology and Innovation (OSTI)

This group works to:

• Support the research and innovation environment 

in Western Australia

• Promote science and technology as a major driver 

of economic, social and environmental growth and 

development

• Implement Government initiatives to 

commercialise innovative ideas and expand 

technology parks.

 

State Development Strategies (SDS)

• Supports the research and innovation environment 

in Western Australia

• Promotes science and technology as a major driver 

of economic, social and environmental growth and 

development

• Implements Government initiatives to 

commercialise innovative ideas and expand 

technology parks

Corporate Support (CS)

This group provides support services to the whole 

Department in:

• Communications and Marketing

• Facilities Management

• Finance

• Human Resources

• Organisational Development

• Information Technology

• Planning and Evaluation

• Records Management

This support helps the Department do its job well. 

The Investigation Services Unit (ISU) was formed 

during this reporting year and has the role of 

enhancing the investigation capabilities of the 

Department, raising enforcement initiatives with 

Government and industry stakeholders, and 

investigating and prosecuting serious breaches of 

the Department legislation.  

1.2.8 LEGISLATION ADMINISTERED 

BY THE DEPARTMENT 
The Department has responsibilities for the 

administration of a number of Acts. These are listed in 

Appendices 1 and 2.  Appendix 1 lists general Acts and 

Regulations, and Appendix 2 lists the Major-Resource 

State Agreement Acts.

Legislation that Impacts on the Department 

in the performance of its functions;

• Disability Services Act 1993

• Environmental Protection Act 1986 

• Equal Opportunity Act 1984

• Financial Management Act 2006

• Auditor General Act 2006

• Freedom of Information Act 1992

• Industrial Relations Act 1979

• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

• Public Sector Management Act 1994

• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

• State Records Act 2000
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1.2.9 VISION AND MISSION
The Department’s vision is articulated as “Sustainable 

prosperity and a better quality of life for Western 

Australians”. Its mission is “To advance the responsible 

development of industry and resources for the benefi t of 

Western Australians”.

1.2.10 ROLE AND CUSTOMER BASE
The Department has the role of facilitating the 

State’s economic development through the delivery 

of innovative, value-adding services to industry that 

ensures Western Australia is an attractive place to live 

and do business.

Through leadership, knowledge and a highly skilled 

and innovative workforce the Department aims to 

provide services which are valued by its customers 

and industry, and which effectively and effi ciently 

achieve the Government’s strategic outcomes for the 

Western Australian community.

Targets such as broadening the State’s economic base, 

creation of new jobs and ensuring that industry meets 

Government standards for responsible and sustainable 

development are pursued through services focused on:

• Resource access and development approvals

• Policy and advice

• Development facilitation and brokering 

opportunities

• Information provision

• Financial assistance.

1.2.11 CORE VALUES

Committed
Helping to grow a strong sustainable economy with 

safe and thriving industries

Well-informed
Knowing our business and the needs and expectations 

of our customers and the community

Principled
Behaving honestly and impartially

Innovative
Always looking for ways to improve services and build 

on our strengths

Open
Communicating openly and using transparent 

processes

Supportive
Providing support, recognising contribution and 

celebrating success.

The Department’s mission is 

“To advance the responsible 

development of industry and 

resources for the benefi t of 

Western Australians”.



DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07  PAGE 8

06
/07

1.3 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Broad, high level government goals are supported 

at agency level by more specifi c desired outcomes.  

Agencies deliver services to achieve these desired 

outcomes, which ultimately contribute to meeting the 

higher level government goals.  

Table 1 illustrates the relationship between the 

Department of Industry and Resources desired 

outcome and the most appropriate government goal.  

There have been no changes to the Department’s 

desired outcome this year.

TABLE 1

Government Goal Desired Outcome Services

To develop a strong economy 

that delivers more jobs, more 

opportunities and greater 

wealth to Western Australians 

by creating the conditions 

required for investment and 

growth.

Responsible development 

of the State’s industry and 

resources for the benefi t 

of Western Australia.

1. Resource Services

2. Industry Development Services

3. Investment Services

4. Geological Services

5. Science and Innovation Promotion and Support

6. Scientifi c Services

1.3.1 RELATIONSHIP TO GOVERNMENT GOALS
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1. Lead across government and industry to improve the 

business environment.

OUTCOME

• The Department is seen as the fi rst port of call for policy 

and advice on industry development and innovation.

• The Department is viewed as an agency that adds value 

for its customers.

• The Department has a regulatory framework that is 

conducive to responsible industry development.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The Department provides strong and bold leadership 

in policy and regulation, that supports industry 

development, science and innovation.

2. Encourage the take up of investment and trade 

opportunities.

OUTCOME

• The Department services have a direct result in 

increased trade investment and industry development.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The Department provides accountability through 

measuring its direct service benefi t, aggregating its 

services cross the entire agency, and setting future 

fi nance targets.

3. Create a more robust and resilient economy by 

broadening our competitive base.

OUTCOME

• The Department will increase the diversity and innovation 

of industry.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The Department puts an emphasis on services to 

industry sectors that are outside the traditional 

resources sector and that focus on innovation.

4. Anticipate and respond to future and global trends 

impacting on industry in WA.

OUTCOME

• The Department will identify and respond to global 

trends and changes in trade, investment, industry 

development and science.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The Department will develop a world economic 

perspective, while continuing to:

 o Take the lead locally in providing advice to 

government; and

 o Advocate within government for industry at a local 

level.

5. Implement innovative solutions to impediments to 

industry development.

OUTCOME

• The Department will contribute to reducing impediments  

 to industry development.

• The Department will provide timely delivery of its 

approvals for industry development.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The Department will provide strong leadership internally 

and across government, to:

 o Resolve current impediments and challenge the 

status quo.

 o Identify future impediments and investigate solutions 

to them.

6. Deliver integrated customer services.

OUTCOME

• The Department has a customer management system 

that is used, well managed, integrated with other 

systems and provides a co-ordinated approach with other 

organisations to ensure customer satisfaction.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The Department can provide consistent information and 

advice to customers from all areas in the Department.

• Departmental staff develop a customer view of the 

Department and can source relevant information across 

the Department and government.

7. Deliver satisfactory return (including non-fi nancial) on 

our owners’ investment.

OUTCOME

• The Department will contribute to the government 

strategic goals in a cost effective manner.

• The Department will provide value added outcomes to its 

owners.

• The Department’s funding allocation will match its 

owners’ expectations.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The Department will match its resources to its owner’s 

expectations.

• The Department will focus on delivering value to owners 

by providing high quality services to our customers.

8. Develop internal workforce capability.

OUTCOME

• The Department will have well skilled and appropriately 

rewarded staff that match the needs of the Department.

• The Department will effectively manage the creation, 

retention and dissemination of its corporate knowledge.

• The Department is an employer of choice.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The Department will make an investment in 

accountability, performance and staff development 

across the organisation, resulting in:

 o Clear defi nition of management roles and 

competencies.

 o Staff that are fl exible and versatile, and

 o Improved information fl ow across the organisation.

9. Develop a governance system that ensures delivery of 

business outcomes.

OUTCOME

• The Department has well managed systems and 

processes that operate to effectively deliver it’s business 

outcomes.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The Board will set the strategic direction for the 

Department and the Executive Management Group will 

be responsible for the delivery of operational outcomes.

• There will be a clear delineation of management roles 

and responsibilities, including risk management.

1.3.2 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND SUPPORTING OBJECTIVES

To achieve the Government’s desired outcome, the Department put in place a number of 

strategic priorities to focus the Department’s resources in areas of greatest impact.  These 

priorities and associated outcomes are as follows:
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1.3.3 SHARED RESPONSIBILITIES WITH OTHER AGENCIES 

Table 2 shows key cross agency initiatives with the lead agency highlighted in bold text

TABLE 2  CROSS AGENCY INITIATIVES

Initiative Related outcome
Contributing 

agencies

Development of a port and associated rail at 

Oakajee in the Midwest.

Development of an iron ore industry 

in the Midwest.

DoIR 

DPI

LandCorp

MWDC

Implementation of the WA Coal Future Strategy. An increase in the capacity of the coal 

industry for 6 to 10 mtpa by 2008.

DoIR

DPI

SWDC

Developing Ord Stage 2, Expression of interest 

Process.

7 000 to 16 000ha of land available for 

irrigated agriculture.

DAF

DoIR

KDC

Implementation of recommendations of the 

Review of the Project Development Approvals 

System.

A more seamless, transparent 

and accountable project approvals 

system.

DEC 

DIA

DPC

DLI

DoE

DoH

DoIR 

DPI

DTF

EPA



2.0 AGENCY PERFORMANCE – REPORT ON OPERATIONS
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SERVICE 1: RESOURCE SERVICES
Benefi ts the Western Australian community through 

a legislative framework, information and audit 

systems, administrative processes, and supporting 

infrastructure for the mineral and petroleum 

industries, and other established industries.  

Products and services include:

• granting and maintaining mineral and petroleum 

titles;

• collecting royalties according to legislation and 

government policy;

• undertaking environmental audit and assessment; 

and

• facilitating and providing supporting infrastructure 

to facilitate resource and established industry 

development.

SERVICE 2: INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT 

SERVICES
These services benefi t the Western Australian 

community by facilitating the growth of internationally 

competitive industry within Western Australia, and 

through the provision of infrastructure that supports 

technology-based industry. 

Products and services include:

• facilitation of industry development projects; and

• development and facilitation of Technology Parks 

and Precincts.

SERVICE 3: INVESTMENT AND TRADE 

SERVICES
Benefi ts the Western Australian community by 

facilitating private sector investment in the state, 

and promoting Western Australia as a source of 

internationally competitive products and services. 

Products and services include:

• delivering resource sector investment attraction 

programs;

• facilitating major resource projects; and

• facilitating major trade programs.

SERVICE 4: GEOLOGICAL SERVICES
Benefi ts the Western Australian community by 

encouraging exploration and hence the discovery of 

mineral and petroleum deposits through maintaining 

an up-to-date geological framework and archive of the 

State mineral and petroleum resources.

Products and services include: 

• publishing maps, reports and data sets; and

• providing access to a developing archive of 

geoscientifi c and resource exploration documents, 

samples and data.

SERVICE 5: SCIENCE AND INNOVATION 

PROMOTION AND SUPPORT
Promotes Science and Innovation by:

• supporting the Premier’s Science and Innovation 

Council with science policy development and 

advice;

• administering research capability and 

infrastructure grants; and

• administering science and innovation programs 

and projects.

SERVICE 6: SCIENTIFIC SERVICES
Benefi ts the Western Australian community through 

the provision of high quality independent chemical 

information, advice and analytical services to 

government agencies, industry and research groups.

Products and services include: 

• scientifi c and research support in the areas of 

public and occupational health, conservation and 

the environment, industrial development, food and 

agriculture;  

• emergency and crises response services to 

government agencies and industry for chemical 

spills and related incidents and crisis situations;

• contributing to the development of national 

chemical conformance standards and guidelines; 

and  

• forensic scientifi c services support to the Western 

Australian Police, State Coroner and the racing 

industry.

2.1   BENEFITS, PRODUCTS AND SERVICES



DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07  PAGE 13

MINERAL TITLE SERVICES 
Legislation

One of the major initiatives contained in The Mining 

Amendment Act 2004 which came into effect on 10 

February 2006, was a “reversion” scheme which 

allowed the applicants of the 7600 backlogged mining 

lease applications a one year period in which they can 

apply to “revert” to exploration title. The “reversion” 

period fi nished on 9 February 2007.

Mineral Titles and Land Access

The Department received 8419 applications for mining 

tenements during the year compared to the 5886 

applications received in the previous year, the increase 

being due in the main to the additional exploration 

titles being applied for as part of the “reversion” 

initiative. The “reversion” initiative saw the applicants 

for over 4560 mining lease applications apply to 

revert them to an exploration title. Another result of 

reversion was the increase in the mineral title backlog 

to 18,700 applications. There were 2750 applications 

granted during the year, a fi gure comparable with last 

year. As at 30 June 2007 there were 19,047 mineral 

titles in force covering some 45.8 million hectares of 

the State. 

Title Compliance

Ninety-nine per cent of Form 5 expenditure reports 

were lodged within the required 60-day period.

During the year:

• 12,846 Form 5 expenditure reports were lodged 

• 419 notices of intention to forfeit for non-payment 

of rent and non-compliance with expenditure 

commitments were issued in Perth

• 106 titles were forfeited 

• 3450 exemptions from expenditure affecting 4019 

mineral titles were fi nalised. 

TABLE 1: TENEMENT APPLICATIONS 

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JULY 2006 TO 30 JUNE 2007

No. Area (hectares)

Prospecting Licences 5071 651,478

Exploration Licences 3124 47,041 400

Mining Leases 41 111,864

Other 183 1,097,722

TOTAL 8 419 48,902,464

TABLE 2: TENEMENTS GRANTED 

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JULY 2006 TO 30 JUNE 2007

No. Area (hectares)

Prospecting Licences 995 131,952

Exploration Licences 1461 14,651,200

Mining Leases 151 76,416

Other 143 72,236

TOTAL 2 750 14,931,804

TABLE 3: TENEMENTS IN FORCE 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

No. Area (hectares)

(Mining Act 1978)

Prospecting Licences 5376 681909

Exploration Licences 4766 40,030,853

Mining Leases 5090 1,824,274

Other 3629 3,248,225 

(Mining Act 1904)

Mineral Claims and 

Others

186 21,253

TOTAL 19,047 45,806,514

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS

SERVICE 1: RESOURCE SERVICES
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Mining Industry Liaison Committee

The Mining Industry Liaison Committee (MILC) forum 

for industry groups considered the following issues:

• Marking out a miscellaneous licence

MILC members agreed that in the marking out 

of a miscellaneous licence the requirement to 

place one peg (as currently required) did not 

serve any real purpose and therefore should be 

removed. The requirement to describe the starting 

point and boundaries for miscellaneous licences 

is considered suffi cient in identifying the land 

required.

• Requirement to place a copy of the Form 21 on the 

datum post

MILC members agreed that the regulations be 

amended to dispense with the requirement to revisit 

the application site for the sole purpose of affi xing 

a copy of the Form 21 to the datum post. It was 

considered that this practice was now outmoded 

with the advent of an easily accessible electronic 

titles and mapping system. The Form 20, which is 

affi xed to the datum post at the time of marking out, 

will be amended to include additional information to 

support this change.

• Proposed Infringement System for Minor Offences

The Mining Act 1978 and Regulations provide for 

prosecution action through a court to be pursued 

in relation to various offences. While this action 

may be appropriate in certain instances there are 

many circumstances where prosecution may not 

deliver the most effective or effi cient outcome. 

The Department therefore believes that relatively 

minor offences could be dealt with more effectively 

through an infringement system which does not 

involve any court or prosecution action. MILC 

members have expressed in principle support for 

this concept.

 

• Lodgement anywhere – Mining Act 1978 

Applications and Forms

MILC members, with the exception of the 

Amalgamated Prospectors and Leaseholders 

Association, agreed that the Department should 

pursue the concept of allowing the lodgement of 

all mining tenement applications and forms at any 

of the Department’s offi ces (regardless of Mineral 

Field) with a view to facilitating the electronic 

lodgement of these documents and electronic 

payment of fees. The business rules for this 

“lodgement anywhere” concept are currently being 

considered by MILC members.

Customer and Information Services

The use of online facilities has continued to expand 

with 9,123 mining tenement searches provided to 

industry on line and 18,154 manual searches prepared 

and supplied over the counter. An average of 560 

customers per month, equating to 6,720 enquiries at 

the Minerals Titles information service counter. 

Business Systems 

TENGRAPH® Online & MINERAL TITLES Online 

Both these systems continue to be used strongly 

by the Department’s customers with a number of 

improvements and enhancements being made during 

the year. TENGRAPH® tenement boundary information 

is now being translated on a daily basis in a format 

that meets GIS user’s requirements. These data can 

be downloaded at no cost from the Department’s web-

site and used in a user-defi ned GIS application. And 

further enhancements to Mineral Titles Online now 

means more enquiry options for the user to meet their 

tenement management requirements.

eMITS 

eMITS continues to move towards a web-based 

register that will enable the replacement of MiTiS by 

early 2008. Several components of eMiTS are now in 

production, available for use by departmental offi cers 

and enable better monitoring of the tenememt grant 

process.

WARIMS

An exhaustive proof of concept project was 

successfully completed and tested the possible 

application of a locally developed GIS product 

(selected from several Tender submissions) to replace 

TENGRAPH (and GeoView). The project proved the 

tested technology was not suitable at this time and the 

project team will now embark on further assessments 

during the coming fi nancial year.

Title Information

High quality spatial and information services was 

supplied to customers. ESRI ArcView software was 

introduced to support the Enterprise Wide Spatial 

System project. 

Native Title

Historical Tenement Capture

Work is continuing on capturing the current historical 

mining and petroleum tenure information to support 

the State in negotiation of Native Title Claims. 

Unsurveyed tenement information is being captured 

on an ongoing claim-by-claim basis. 

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS

SERVICE 1: RESOURCE SERVICES
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Regional Standard Heritage Agreements

Continued use is being made by the Mining Industry of 

the Regional Standard Heritage Agreements (RSHA) 

as a solution to native title in the grant process for 

exploration titles.

Surveys

Instructions for the survey of 471 mining tenements 

were issued by the Titles Information Branch during 

2006-07 with 240 new Surveys being lodged with the 

Department.

PETROLEUM TITLE OPERATION AND 

RESOURCE SERVICES

Legislation

Several legislation changes were progressed 

during 2006/07. Part 4 of the Petroleum Legislation 

Amendment and Repeal Act 2005 which commenced on 

28 March 2007 amends the WA Petroleum (Submerged 

Lands) Act 1982 by introducing a comprehensive 

occupational safety and health regime modelled on 

the provisions of the Commonwealth’s Schedule 7. 

Part 4 also confers powers on the National Offshore 

Petroleum Safety Authority to regulate petroleum 

safety in waters covered by the Petroleum (Submerged 

Lands) Act 1982.

Implementation of the occupational safety and health 

provisions of the Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 

1982 required four sets of safety related regulations. 

The four sets (which are modelled on similar 

Commonwealth safety regulations) are:

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Management of 

Safety on Offshore Facilities) Regulations 2007

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Pipelines) 

Regulations 2007

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Diving Safety) 

Regulations 2007

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Occupational Safety 

and Health) Regulations 2007

Drafting of these regulations started in 2005/06 

and was completed this year when the regulations 

commenced on 28 March 2007.

A Bill to amend the Petroleum Act 1967 to provide 

for geothermal energy exploration and recovery was 

substantially completed during the year and it is 

anticipated that this legislation will be introduced into 

Parliament in the 2007 spring session.

Native Title Act Processes

Petroleum title applications cleared through the NTA 

process in 2006/07 added some 110,420 sq km of new 

onshore acreage to the area under exploration. The 

indicative value of exploration work planned for this 

acreage over the next six years amounts to more than 

$37 million.

Resource Management Studies

The Department contracted out Phase III of the Barrow 

Island CO
2
 Sequestration Feasibility Study to Innovative 

Carbon Technology Pty Ltd (ITCPL). ITCPL reviewed 

the technical work on the Gorgon Joint Venture’s 

ongoing investigations into the sequestration of CO
2
 

beneath Barrow Island. ITCPL submitted three (3) 

technical reports to the Department for review with a 

fi nal report due in 2007/08.

The following in house studies and reviews were 

conducted:

• “Tight gas resources in onshore Western Australia”. 

The study determined that tight gas in Western 

Australia would be competitive onshore and close 

to recognised markets or existing pipelines. 

• “Browse Basin Petroleum Assessment Report”. 

A review of the prospectivity and potential for 

undiscovered petroleum reserves in the offshore 

Browse Basin was conducted. The study concluded 

that there are large petroleum reserves yet to be 

discovered in this basin.

• Canning Basin Petroleum Resources Evaluation 

Report. A review of the prospectivity of the offshore 

and onshore Canning Basin. The study highlighted 

the potential of further exploration on the basin.

Policy and Economics

Key industry assessments were developed including:

• Comprehensive domestic and LNG gas price 

information for industry stakeholders to identify 

and place in context the domestic gas supply issue

• A twofold strategic policy to address the means 

by which domestic gas supply can be increased 

via a retention lease approach and onshore gas 

initiatives

• Technical and policy support in gas fi eld 

specifi cation and output forecasting for pipeline 

access and domestic supply policy

• Technical and policy input into Government and 

industry upstream petroleum strategies e.g. 

APPEA Upstream Oil and Gas Industry Strategy

Two editions of the Western Australian Mineral and 

Petroleum Statistics Digest covering fi nancial year 

2005/06 and calendar year 2006 were published 

containing comprehensive State mineral and energy 

statistics.

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS

SERVICE 1: RESOURCE SERVICES
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Petroleum and Royalty Division Quality 

Management System

An external audit of the Quality Management System 

was conducted and determined that the Division’s 

system was fully compliant with the international 

standards of ISO 9001:2000.

Approval Processing

Operational approvals (geophysical surveys and wells) 

were mostly approved within accepted time frames. 

In so far as the granting of titles was concerned, 

timeframes were within accepted times as far as land 

access (Native Title and conservation estates) and 

safety assessments allowed.

Industry Liaison

The Department conducted an annual Petroleum Open 

Day to showcase:

• Outputs during the year 

• Areas to be released for petroleum exploration 

permit bids

• Legislative initiatives

• Geothermal energy in Western Australia 

The Department exhibited at several conferences and 

expositions to help promote awareness of Western 

Australia’s petroleum prospectivity. These included:

• Australian Petroleum Production and Exploration 

Association’s (APPEA) Annual Conference in 

Adelaide

• Good Oil Conference in Fremantle

• American Association of Petroleum Geologists 

Prospect Expo (APPEX) in London

• North American Prospect Expo (NAPE) in Houston 

The Division held two breakfast workshops to release 

draft legislation covering safety, pipeline and resource 

management regulations to industry as part of a 

feedback and consultative process.

Titles and Access to Land

The Department’s promotion of exploration both 

onshore and offshore was effective in attracting 

additional exploration investment. There was a strong 

response to Commonwealth offshore acreage released 

with 32 new exploration permits granted. Applications 

were received for four of the fi ve State areas released 

for bidding.

Exploration
The Department had an active year in facilitating 
approvals for exploration in 2006/07. It was a year of 
high drilling activity. Exploration drilling in frontier 
areas increased signifi cantly with 30 wells (11 wells 
in 2005/06) drilled. Western Australia attracted 56 per 
cent of Australia’s petroleum exploration expenditure 
in 2006. Forty fi ve wildcat wells were drilled during 
2006/07, of which fi ve were signifi cant discoveries. 
The Department’s promotion has contributed to a new 
level of interest in exploration in Western Australia’s 
onshore basins, particularly the Canning Basin. 
There has been farm-in interest as well as several 
applications made for Special Prospecting Authorities 

with Acreage Option within this frontier basin.

Facilitation of Exploration
In September 2006, State acreage was released in the 
Canning Basin (three onshore application areas) and 
the Northern Carnarvon Basin (two application areas).
In April 2007 State acreage was released in the Perth 
Basin (one onshore area), the Canning Basin (three 
State Waters and fi ve onshore areas) and the State 
Waters area of the Northern Carnarvon Basin (four 
areas).

Release CDs provided information relevant to 
explorers about land access and key publications 
relating to prospectivity. Also included were 
listings of available geotechnical data. These CDs 
were advertised and distributed at key exploration 
conferences in Australia and overseas.

The Australian Petroleum Opportunities (farm-out and 
acreage release booklet) was published in November 
2006 and April 2007. This was used to promote 
industry interest in farming in to existing titles.

One issue of the Division’s Petroleum in Western 
Australia magazine was published in April 2007 and 
released in conjunction with the APPEA Conference.

Production and Development
During 2006/07 the Department received applications 
for and approved:

• three production license applications/renewals

• six location applications

• sixteen special prospecting authority applications.

Investment
During 2006/07 a number of projects were 
commissioned and technical evaluations conducted 
on the following upstream developments; Enfi eld 
oil, Goodwyn “A” Low Pressure Train, Perseus over 
Goodwyn, Angel gas, Stybarrow oil, Blacktip, Pluto, 
Laverda, Gorgon CO2 Sequestration, Jansz Io, 
Browse Basin and Ichthys gas, which resulted in total 

projected capital expenditure of $26.5 billion. 

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS

SERVICE 1: RESOURCE SERVICES
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ROYALTY SERVICES

Royalties Collected

During the year the Department assessed, collected 

and audited royalties totalling over $2.47 billion. 

Of this amount, $2.092 billion was collected for the 

State Government and $382 million (from offshore oil 

production) was collected on behalf of the Australian 

Commonwealth Government.

Royalties Information Technology Management 

System

Phase III of the Royalties Information Technology 

Management System relating to the electronic 

lodgment of royalty returns and electronic royalty 

payment options was successfully implemented 

during 2006/07. The newly developed royalty revenue 

forecasting module, which assists in the budget 

process that is jointly conducted with the Department 

of Treasury and Finance, was used for the fi rst time 

during this period.

Administration

Anomalies and other issues related to royalty 

collection were resolved and amendments to royalty 

legislation were progressed. These included: 

• The Perseus over Goodwyn table of the NWS 

Consolidated Royalty Schedule was agreed 

between DoIR, DITR and the JVPs of the NWS 

project. The table details the post wellhead 

operating and capital cost percentages which are 

used for the royalty calculation process.

• The existing revenue forecasting model was 

implemented and used to provide revenue 

estimates to DTF including monthly updates and 

variance analysis.

• Amendments to royalty rates and defi nitions in 

various Iron Ore Agreement Acts were drafted. 

The royalty rates required amendment to increase 

them in line with Mining Act rates.

• An Inter-State Royalty Consultation Group to 

discuss royalty issues was formed.

• A Cabinet decision to provide royalty assistance for 

Argyle’s Underground Project has required ongoing 

negotiations and drafting of amendments to its 

Agreement Act to implement these measures.

• Participation in legal proceedings to protect royalty 

revenues.

Compliance with Royalty Payment Requirements

Continuance of high compliance with royalty payment 

requirements (97 per cent on or before due date) 

was achieved in 2006/07. The Department again met 

all of its obligations during an audit of its Quality 

Management System (QMS) within the Petroleum and 

Royalties Division, which confi rmed its certifi cation 

ISO 9001-2000 status.

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES
The Department’s Environment Division provides 

environmental regulatory services to the petroleum 

and minerals sectors. It also reviews and develops 

government policy and regulates the provisions of the 

Native Vegetation Clearing Regulations, through a 

delegation from the Department of Environment and 

Conservation. 

Legislation

The Department has reviewed the guidelines relating 

to mine closure and environmental management, 

which are required under the Mining Act 1978 and 

support the mining proposal guidelines. Comment is 

currently being sought from industry. 

Amendments to the native vegetation clearing 

regulations were gazetted on 30 March 2007, which 

permanently exempts most low impact mineral and 

petroleum exploration activity from the clearing 

permit requirements. This continues the temporary 

exemption which has been in place for several years, 

and provides industry with more certainty about 

Western Australia’s regulatory framework.

The Department continued to administer petroleum 

activities covered under the Commonwealth Petroleum 

(Submerged Lands) (Management of Environment) 

Regulations 1999 on behalf of the Commonwealth 

Department of Industry, Tourism and Resources. The 

Department is also a member of the Environmental 

Assessors Forum (EAF), a national committee of 

environmental representatives. The role of the 

EAF is to facilitate communication between the 

petroleum industry and the State and Commonwealth 

Governments, to review legislation and administrative 

procedures, and develop new policies. The EAF 

met several times in 2006/07 to review and discuss 

implementation of the recent amendments to the 

Management of Environment Regulations 1999 

and other legislation. The EAF has also discussed 

and progressed draft policies and guidelines for 

Environmental Plans and Decommissioning.

Administrative Agreements

An audit of the Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) 

between the Department and the Environmental 

Protection Authority for the referral of onshore and 

offshore mining and petroleum projects in Western 

Australia was completed in 2006/07. The overall 

result was that these MOU’s are operating effi ciently 

and effectively, although some minor areas for 

improvement were identifi ed.

The Offi ce of the Auditor General is auditing the 

administrative agreement between the Department 

and the Department of Environment and Conservation. 

The fi nal report will be available prior to the end of 

2007. 

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS
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Also, the administrative agreement between the 

Department and the Department of Water is under 

review, with the aim of streamlining the referral 

processes between the two agencies.

Regulatory Services

The Department’s Environment Division administers 

environmental aspects of the Mining Act 1978, various 

Petroleum Acts and the Native Vegetation Clearing 

regulations. This includes mining and petroleum 

exploration and development proposals. During 

the 2006/07 year the division processed 241 mining 

proposals, 1693 mineral exploration projects, 92 

petroleum exploration projects and 108 petroleum 

development proposals. 

Signifi cant petroleum assessments include:

• Pluto Project 

(Woodside Energy Limited);

• Stybarrow Project 

(BHP Billiton Petroleum);

• Angel Gas Project 

(Woodside Energy Limited).

Signifi cant mining assessments include:

• Koolan Island Iron Ore Project 

(Mt Gibson Iron Limited);

• Superpit expansion – Kalgoorlie 

(Kalgoorlie Consolidated Gold Mines);

• Ravensthorpe Nickel Project 

(Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations Pty Ltd).

At the end of June 2007, the Department held 3365 

Unconditional Performance Bonds with a total value of 

$608.3 million (under authority of the Mining Act 1978).

Audits and Inspections

On-ground inspections and compliance has been an 

area of focus in 2006/07, with the implementation of a 

risk-based prioritisation system. 33 petroleum audits 

and 78 inspections relating to mineral exploration and 

production were undertaken.

Native Vegetation

In 2006/07, the Native Vegetation Assessment Branch 

approved 77 clearing permits, covering an area of 

approximately 5102 hectares. The average number of 

business days taken for permit approvals was down to 

60 in 2006/07, from 80 in 2005/06.

To improve process effi ciency, environmental 

outcomes and assessment timelines, the role of 

other agencies in providing advice or requiring project 

referral was analysed, and procedures for referral of 

projects to external agencies have been modifi ed. 

Strategic Policy

The Department is the Government’s lead agency on 

geosequestration and in this capacity the Strategic 

Policy Branch contributed to the Commonwealth 

government’s development of proposed amendments 

to the Offshore Petroleum Act 2006 to accommodate 

geosequestration. The Department ensured the 

Government’s climate change initiatives, such as the 

Greenhouse and Energy Taskforce, addressed industry 

and resources sector interests. This complemented 

the Department’s ongoing participation in the 

development of State 

and national greenhouse policy.

The Department provided strategic advice to 

the Government on a wide range of State and 

Commonwealth marine and terrestrial environmental 

initiatives and issues particularly those affecting 

access to WA mineral and petroleum resources 

and strategic industrial areas. The key initiatives 

include the creation of marine protected areas and 

conservation reserves in Commonwealth and State 

waters, access to mineralisation in the banded 

iron formations in the wider Yilgarn region and the 

development of biodiversity conservation strategies.

Stakeholder Engagement

A stakeholder feedback survey was completed in 

2006/07, which measured the needs and expectations 

of a wide range of individuals, companies and 

groups in relation to the Environment Division. It 

included both the policy and regulatory functions of 

the Division, the results of which will be used in the 

planning process for 2007/08.

A Minerals Liaison Offi cer (MLO) position was 

established and based at the Conservation Council of 

Western Australia. The objective of this position is to 

improve communication and transfer of information 

between the Department and community groups, and 

increase the capacity of these groups to participate 

in discussions and committees with the Department 

and other government agencies. The Department has 

agreed to fund the position for another year.

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS
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ABORIGINAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

SERVICES
The State government injected $1.4m in 2006/7 

toward the implementation of Indigenous Economic 

Development Strategy (IEDS) to initiate accelerated 

delivery on the government’s priority outcomes of 

sustainable employment, business development and 

wealth creation for Indigenous communities. $1.3m 

of this injection was expended in 2006/7, with $0.1m 

to be disbursed in 2007/8 due to delays in the tender 

process. Working in close collaboration with industry, 

State and Commonwealth government agencies, 

and Indigenous communities and organisations, the 

initiatives in 2006/7 included the following:

 

Aboriginal Economic Development Services

2006/7 Actuals

Core
$

IEDS
$

Total
$

Indigenous Art 

Commercialisation

170,485 141,054 311,539

Building and Construction 393,007 182,911 575,918

Regional Development 

Commissions

278,005 0 278,005

Resources 25,315 342,734 368,049

Business Development 130,405 452,818 583,223

Indigenous Community 

Store

90,668 0 90,668

Indigenous Tourism 

Development Support

256,920 41,743 298,663

Local Government 0 82,957 82,957

Indigenous CDEP 

Transitioning

0 53,768 53,768

Other 33,088 2,156 35,244

1,377,893 1,300,141 2,678,034

With growing international interest in Indigenous art, 

initiatives were directed at protecting the intellectual 

property of Indigenous artists through safeguards 

against fraud, improving the marketing and branding 

of Indigenous art and encouraging growth of the 

industry through mentoring and nurturing of budding 

Indigenous artists. The initiatives covered Indigenous 

communities in the Ngaangatyarra Land, the Pilbara 

and the Kimberley.

Building and construction initiatives included 

assistance with Indigenous commercial building, 

housing and road construction ventures in the 

Pilbara, Kimberley, the Mid-West and in the tourism 

development precinct of Coral Bay. The primary 

targets were promotion of Indigenous employment, 

business development and wealth creation.

Partnerships were developed with the Regional 

Development Commissions in the Gascoyne, 

Goldfi elds/Esperance, Great Southern, Wheatbelt 

and Mid-West and the Commonwealth Government 

to sustain inroads into Indigenous economic 

development in regional areas.

Engagement with the resources sector on Indigenous 

employment covered the Pilbara, the Kimberley 

and the South West and included work readiness 

programs, plant operator training and driver licensing.

Business development initiatives included support 

for a business incubator venture in the Kimberley, 

business development in the Pilbara and the 

Kimberley, formulation of more cost effective tax 

structure for Indigenous corporations and capitalising 

on benefi ts that fl ow from Native Title Consent 

Agreements. 

Following the assumption of responsibility 

for management assistance for stores by the 

Commonwealth Government through its Outback Store 

initiative. The Department phased out involvement 

with remote Indigenous community stores in 2006/07.

Indigenous tourism development support included 

assistance to West Australian Indigenous Tourism 

Operators Committee on enhancing Indigenous 

tourism and working with the Rottnest Island Authority 

on Indigenous participation in tourism development on 

Rottnest Island.

Assistance was offered to local governments to extend 

employment opportunities to local Indigenous people.

Indigenous Community Development Employment 

Program (CDEP) providers were also assisted with 

their transitioning from CDEP services, which was 

phased out by the Commonwealth government in 

all urban and regional centres, to their new role 

as providers of enhanced Structured Training and 

Employment Program services and commercial 

business enterprise.

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS
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INDUSTRY INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT 

SERVICES AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT 

PROJECT SERVICES
During 2006/07, the Department progressed planning 

and infrastructure issues affecting the development of 

mining and processing projects: as follows: 

• In partnership with others, the Department 

undertook preliminary consideration of an 

additional West Kimberley supply base, because 

increased exploration in the Browse Basin has 

radically increased demand for marine support 

services. There remains some uncertainty as to 

whether this demand can be met from the Broome 

port, which is now under pressure.  In addition, 

the Government has expressed its preference for 

one (or two) strategic common user sites to be 

identifi ed in the West Kimberley, for the onshore 

processing of Browse Basin gas. This would be 

done with the support of the indigenous community 

and would prevent ad hoc development by multiple 

investors.

• In September 2006 the Department sought 

expressions of interest from proponents interested 

in developing up to 16,000 hectares of land for 

irrigated agriculture in the Ord River Irrigation 

Area. The proposed development would have more 

than doubled the size of agricultural land in the 

Ord Irrigation Area, Kununurra.

 However, in June 2007 the State Government 

announced plans to extend and modify its 

selection process in relation to the Ord Stage 2, 

M2 Development Area. The decision was made to 

refl ect the emerging water issues that are now 

apparent at a national level.

The modifi ed selection process could allow for a 

better opportunity for Western Australia with the 

development of new and large-scale profi table 

industries in the Ord River Irrigation Area.

Presently, the Ord Stage 2 project is being 

administered by the Department of Premier 

and Cabinet working in Partnership with the 

Commonwealth to provide increased certainty 

to investors about infrastructure funding issues.

Ord Stage 2 has the potential to be a major project 

for the State of Western Australia.

• Worked with Department of Planning and 

Infrastructure to fi nalise a broad study of 

the transport of iron ore exports and other 

commodities from the Pilbara region.

• Undertook a strategic planning study for iron ore 

exports and gas processing at Cape Preston.

• Undertook heritage surveys required under the 

Burrup and Maitland Industrial Estates Agreement 

Additional Deed and managing rock art studies on 

the Burrup.

• Implemented plans to accommodate locally based 

workforces and service industries associated 

with the Ravensthorpe Nickel Project and the 

Boddington Gold Mine Expansion Project; and 

planned for common user infrastructure and 

services needs associated with the proposed LNG 

project at Onslow.

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT RELATED TO 

RESOURCE SERVICES 

Economic Modelling 

The Department undertakes economic modelling 

to support investment services and policy design. 

Using a general equilibrium modelling approach, the 

Department’s State Development Strategies Group 

(SDS) is able to assess the potential macroeconomic 

impacts on the State and regional economy of 

external shocks and policy changes. The modelling 

work undertaken covered a range of topics including 

emissions trading, energy prices, commodity booms, 

productivity enhancement and investment on new 

infrastructure and resources projects. 

Joint Working Group on Natural Gas Supply, 

Competitive Gas Supply Working Group

Western Australia currently chairs the Joint Working 

Group on Natural Gas Supply (JWG). The JWG is 

currently examining the status of Australian gas 

markets and is expected to report its fi nal fi ndings to 

Ministers at the end of August 2007. 

Closely aligned with the JWG’s objective of assessing 

the status of gas supply in Australia, SDS has been 

working in close alliance with other WA Government 

departments to assess gas supply within WA. 

General Research

The Department has been actively involved in the 

analysis of global trends and matters impacting the 

development of the State’s economy such as energy, 

skilled labour, private equity, carbon emissions 

trading, and the Stern report.

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS
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Economic Advice and Analysis

The Department provided strategic-level economic 

policy advice including co-ordination and analysis 

of the Commonwealth Budget and its impact on the 

Western Australian industry and resources sectors. 

The analysis was made available to WA Government 

Ministers within hours of the Budget’s release. 

Regular analysis of global economic trends and 

commodity markets is prepared for the Department’s 

quarterly fl agship magazine “Prospect”.

Water Reform

SDS represented the Department at the Inter 

Departmental Committee meetings that assist in 

preparing the new water resource management and 

services legislation. Water reform has been a key are 

of policy reform for the State, and the Department has 

sought to ensure that the reform process is cognisant 

of the needs and requirements of the resources and 

industry sectors of the economy.

Strategic Water Management in the Minerals 

Industry

In October 2006 the State Minister for Resources 

launched the above Framework. The Framework 

was an initiative of the Minerals Council of Australia 

(MCA) and the Ministerial Council on Mineral and 

Petroleum Resources (MCMPR). SDS jointly chaired 

the government/industry Working Group that prepared 

the Framework. The Framework provides high-level 

guidance on issues that should be addressed in water 

decision-making across Australia for the minerals 

sector, identifying principles and objectives for 

adoption in four areas:

• Valuing Water;

• Strategic Water Planning;

• Implementation; and 

• Engaging Stakeholders.

Premier’s Climate Change Action Statement

The Premier’s Climate Change Action Statement 

was released in May 2007. The Statement describes 

government initiatives to reduce Western Australia’s 

total greenhouse gas emissions by 60 per cent of 2000 

levels by 2050. Background research and discussion 

supporting the Statement was undertaken by the 

Premiers Climate Change Statement Working Group 

with representation from senior offi cials from the 

Departments of Environment and Conservation, 

Agriculture and Food, Housing and Works, Planning 

and Infrastructure, the Offi ce of Energy and the 

Department. Offi cers from the Department provided 

input to the initiatives relating to the needs of industry 

and future economic development of WA. 

Technical Advisory Group

The Department established a Technical Advisory 

Group including membership from the Department 

of Treasury and Finance, the Australian Bureau of 

Statistics, the University of WA and Curtin University 

to guide economic analysis of the WA economy. This 

resulted in a collaboration with Curtin university to 

determine WA’s public sector capital stocks. These 

data will serve as an input into analysis aimed at 

understanding the factors that impact on State 

economic growth, with a particular focus on WA.

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS
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INDUSTRY PROJECTS FACILITATION 

SERVICES

Biotechnology

During 2006/07, the Department developed the 

“Western Australian Biotechnology Industry 

Development Strategy – Strategic Directions 

2006-2010.”

The Strategy provided a range of measures to support 

the Western Australian biotechnology industry in 

generating economic value and social benefi ts for 

the State.

The Strategy also addressed key issues facing 

the biotechnology industry including:

• provision of key infrastructure support on a 

collaborative common user basis to enhance 

Western Australia’s biotechnology research 

and development (R&D) base;

• support for commercialisation of research 

by both the public and private sectors;

• promotion of Western Australia’s capabilities 

and need for international linkages to the global 

biotechnology industry; and 

• encouragement of greater understanding 

of biotechnology by the broader community.

Initiatives for 2006/07 included:

• Supporting promotion of the industry and 

developing international linkages through 

participation at: 

o Agricultural Biotechnology International 

Conference, Melbourne, August 2006;

o AusBiotech 2006, Sydney, November 2006; and

o BioPartnering Europe, London, October 2006.

• Departmental representatives and an industry 

delegation led by the Minister for Industry and 

Enterprise attended the BIO2007 International 

Conference and Exhibition held in Boston in May 

2007.  43 Western Australian delegates attended, 

representing 16 companies, two research institutes/

centres, and two universities. Western Australia’s 

biotechnology capabilities were promoted during 

the exhibition as part of the Australian Pavilion. In 

a fi rst for the State, two WA researchers chaired 

panel sessions at the conference. Professor Steven 

Halls, Director, Murdoch Environment, at Murdoch 

University, chaired a panel session titled ‘Biodiesel 

- a fuel for the future: facts and fi ction’. Professor 

Lyle Palmer, Head of the Laboratory for Genetic 

Epidemiology at the WA Institute for Medical 

Research, chaired a panel session on ‘Biobanks: 

building capacity, building understanding, building 

business’.

• The Minister for Industry and Enterprise signed 

a Letter of Intent with the USA Biotechnology 

Institute to develop the Sanofi -Aventis International 

BioGENEius Challenge in Western Australia. The 

BioGENEius Challenge is an annual competition 

for high school students undertaking outstanding 

research in biotechnology. Four senior high school 

science teachers and a representative from the 

former WA Curriculum Council participated as 

observers in the BioGENEius Challenge 2007. 

Western Australia is the fi rst competitor from 

outside North America to be invited to participate.   

• The Department supported the development 

of a skilled and sustainable industry through 

industry capability development programs such 

as the Business Development and Skills Training 

Scheme; the USA Test Drive Pilot Program; the USA 

Commercialisation Roadmap Pilot Program; and 

the Market Access Development Scheme.

• The Department also supported the development 

of the Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) Pilot 

Facility by OrthoCell Pty Ltd through funding of 

$300,000 (capital) to Murdoch University. The 

GMP facility assists in providing the infrastructure 

needed by biotechnology small-to-medium 

enterprises to deliver skills and support for 

staged growth, particularly through trialling, 

commercialisation and manufacture of locally 

developed biotherapeutic technologies.

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS
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Clinical Trials Network

The Department initiated activities in 2006/07 to allow 

the Western Australian Institute for Medical Research 

(WAIMR) to establish an early stage clinical trials 

facility at the Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital site in 

Nedlands. 

The $9.95 million, 24 bed facility will create a 

coordinated and centralised centre dedicated to 

high-quality clinical research.  The facility is expected 

to open in 2008.  It will raise the profi le of Western 

Australia’s exciting biotechnology, health and medical 

research industry.  The facility will allow local and 

international biotechnology and pharmaceutical 

companies and the WA public to take part in world-

class early phase clinical research.

The establishment of the facility will provide 

critical infrastructure for Western Australia’s local 

biotechnology sector and attract international and 

national companies to invest in WA.  It will also 

leverage on locally grown expertise, providing the 

foundation to attract and retain medical talent for the 

benefi t of the Western Australian community.

Information Communication Technology (ICT)

During 2006/07, the Department undertook an audit 

of the ICT industry. The audit acknowledged the 

importance this sector plays in the Western Australian 

economy as a provider of enabling technologies.  The 

audit was strongly supported by industry and captured 

information on the dynamic environment in which the 

industry operates. Recommendations from the audit 

will be incorporated into an ICT Industry Development 

Strategy due for release in November 2007.

In March 2007, the Department provided support for 

skills development via sponsorship of the Australian 

Information Industry Association (AIIA) Developing 

Business Skills for Entrepreneurs’ Program.  This 

sponsorship will enable four WA ICT business owners 

to participate in this program and contribute to the 

growth of Western Australia’s ICT industry. 

In 2006/2007 the Department has encouraged local 

ICT companies to register with the Industry Capability 

Network’s (ICN) ProjectConnect in order to bid for 

ICT contracts.  ProjectConnect is a supplier database 

helping suppliers identify procurement opportunities 

and providing project buyers with information 

on supplier capability.  The ProjectConnect ICT 

database was launched by the Minister for Industry 

and Enterprise in October 2006. The Department is 

working with the ICN to streamline the database, 

making it more relevant to current procurement 

activities.

The inaugural Go3 Electronic Entertainment Expo and 

Conference 2007 was held in Perth in March 2007.  

The Department supported Go3, which showcased 

the skills and capabilities of companies involved 

in the development of digital content, specifi cally 

in the gaming sector.  The Minister for Industry 

and Enterprise opened Go3 and announced the 

establishment of Interzone in Western Australia. 

Interzone is a US based online games development 

company which has established its fi rst international 

development studio in Perth.  Interzone develops 

online entertainment products that focus on the global 

market for massively multiplayer online (MMO) games.  

The world market for these games is estimated to 

exceed $10 billion by 2008.

Marine and Defence, Australian Marine Complex (AMC) 

The Department of Industry and Resources has a 

number of key accountabilities relating to Marine and 

Defence services.

Including:

• Working with industry, government agencies and 

key stakeholders to facilitate the development and 

growth of these industries. 

• Promoting, encouraging and facilitating the 

development and growth of the Australian 

Marine Complex (AMC) as a world class centre 

of excellence for manufacturing, fabrication, 

assembly, technology, repair and maintenance 

servicing activities in the marine and defence, and 

oil and gas sectors.

In relation to the marine and defence sectors during 

2006/07 the Department: 

• Initiated the Logical Choice Campaign to position 

Western Australian industry for upcoming 

work arising from the Royal Australian Navy’s 

Amphibious Ship project and Air Warfare Destroyer 

projects. The campaign highlighted WA’s fabrication 

capabilities and the marine industry infrastructure 

available at the Australian Marine Complex.

• Provided a detailed submission to the Senate’s 

Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence 

and Trade for its inquiry into naval shipbuilding. 

The Department’s submission supported local 

construction of naval ships in Australia and 

highlighted the importance of local manufacturing 

to enhanced Navy preparedness.

• The Defence Industry Skills Taskforce was formed 

including representatives from the defence 

industry, the Defence Materiel Organisation, the 

Department of Industry and Resources and training 

professionals from Challenger TAFE and the 

Department of Education and Training. 
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• During 2006/07 the Department coordinated 
Expressions of Interest for the development of 
common use infrastructure capable of meeting 
the service requirements of the superyacht and 
shipbuilding industry.

• The Department facilitated Phase 1 of the $174.3 
million Common User Facility (CUF) infrastructure 
upgrade at the Australian Marine Complex on time 
and on budget. Phase 1 involved the expansion of the 
Eastern Wharf at the CUF to increase berth capacity 

from two to four ships. 

StateWide Broadband Network Strategy (SBN)
In November  2006, the Premier released a strategy for 
the development of a high speed broadband network 
across the State. The SBN Strategy aims to enable 
more Western Australians to access an appropriate, 
high speed and affordable broadband service, including 
those in regional and remote areas.

The Strategy relies on aggregating the state agency 
telecommunications spend of approximately $100 
million per annum and establishing a ten year 
contract to provide world-class broadband internet 
and telephone services to government.  However 
the provider will also be required to offer broadband 
services at equitable prices to business and the 
community.

The government proposes to procure a total 
telecommunications solution, including mobile 
services, fi xed data, voice and video services through a 
competitive tender process to be undertaken in 2007.

Given the ‘state development’ potential of the 
scheme, the Department was requested to lead the 
investigations with assistance from the Department 
of Treasury and Finance (Offi ce of Government 
Procurement), and the Department of the Premier 
and Cabinet (Offi ce of e-Government) and a team was 
established for this purpose in February 2007.

An Invitation to Register Interest ITRI in developing 
the SBN  was released in February and closed in 
May. Responses confi rmed that major companies in 
the telecommunication industry are interested in the 
project. The procurement process is continuing using 
information from the ITRI responses and other sources.

Square Kilometre Array (SKA)
During 2006/07 the Department continued to progress 
development of the Murchison Radio-astronomy 
Observatory (MRO) as Australia’s site to host the SKA 
project.

As a result of Australia’s short-listing to host the 
International SKA telescope project, the Western 
Australian Government has made a commitment to 
maintain radio quietness on  15,396 square kilometres 
(six times the size of the Australian Capital Territory) for 

radio astronomy. 

The Department is the lead agency in Western 

Australia for this project and will co-ordinate all site 

activities and negotiations in partnership with the 

Australian Government. The Department is liaising 

with the Australian Government to fi nalise protection 

of the site, including the determination of key roles and 

responsibilities, funding and legislation.

On 8 May 2007, the Minister for Education, Science and 

Training, the Hon Julie Bishop MP, announced $56.6 

million in Australian Government funding as part of 

the 2007-08 Commonwealth Budget to develop the 

Australian Square Kilometre Array Pathfi nder (ASKAP) 

radio telescope – a move which will strengthen 

Australia’s position to be selected as host country of 

the SKA. CSIRO have already committed to establishing 

a SKA pathfi nder facility in the State’s Mid West.

Oil and Gas Services Sector 

During 2006/07, the Department continued to work 

with key stakeholders to facilitate the growth and 

development of the Oil and Gas services sector. Key 

activities included;

• Facilitated of the Oil and Gas Industry Coordinating 

Council.

• Supported the development of an Oil and Gas 

industry technology broker including  facilitation 

of an AusIndustry Industry Cooperative Innovation 

Program submission.

• Organised of the ‘Australian/Norwegian Showcase 

of Oil and Gas Technologies’ at the Perth 

Convention Centre on 14 November 2006.

• Organised  of the ‘Norwegian Technologies Update’ 

at the Parmelia Hilton on 13 April.

• Supported of the development of an Australasian 

Branch of the Society for Underwater Technology 

(SUT) in Perth through the Department’s Executive 

Support Scheme.

• Facilitated of a stakeholder workshop to investigate 

industry response to the plan to move the Premium 

Services rig training facility to the AMC/Australian 

Centre for Energy and Process Training (ACEPT) 

site.

• Participated in the development of Australian 

Petroleum Production and Exploration 

Association’s (APPEA) Strategic Leader’s Report 

through APPEA’s Research and Development 

sub-committee.

• Organised and staffed the Department’s booth at 

the Australian Oil and Gas Exhibition at the Perth 

Convention Centre in February 2007 to promote the 

fabrication capabilities of the Australian Marine 

Complex (AMC) to the subsea industry in particular.
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Collie Industry Development

During 2006/07 the Department developed guidelines 

for the Collie Region and Coal Industry Infrastructure 

Fund. The protocols are designed to ensure a high 

level of accountability through the Industry and 

Technology Development Act.

Key activities include: 

• Coal Exports

o The Western Australian Trade Offi ce in India 

prepared a report on potential coal markets. 

o The Coal Futures Group, two coal mining 

companies and the Bunbury Port Authority went 

on a trade mission to India in the week from 27 

May to 3 June. 

o A fi rst stage engineering study into the 

infrastructure requirements to allow coal exports 

from the Port of Bunbury has been completed. 

• Clean Coal Technology

o A contract has been signed with the Cooperative 

Research Centre for Coal in Sustainable 

Development for pilot scale gasifi cation testing 

of Collie Coal in 2007. The commitment from the 

Coal Futures Strategy is $300,000 out of a $1 

million study to be completed in late 2007.

o The Coal Futures Group commissioned the 

Cooperative Research Centre for Greenhouse 

Gas Technologies (CO2CRC) to report into 

the potential of Collie and the South West for 

geosequestration. This report was presented to 

Minister Logan in June 2007.

Inventor of the Year

During 2006/07, the Department coordinated the 

Inventor of the Year Award.  The award is the State’s 

most exciting and rewarding program for products 

and services at pre-commercialisation stages of 

development. The program aims to promote and 

enhance a culture of innovation and entrepreneurship 

in Western Australia. 

In 2006, 157 applications were received with Mr Roland 

Butcher, Managing Director of Live Technologies 

announced the overall winner. Mr Butcher received a 

prize package valued at more than $100,000 to help 

further his business.

The WA Inventor of the Year Award winners benefi t 

from a suite of business development support; product 

awareness; and interest from potential equity partners 

by participating in the program.

TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS 

FACILITATION SERVICES

Technology Parks

Technology Parks continue to play a vital role in 

positioning Western Australia in the global knowledge 

economy.

Technology Park Bentley is home to over 100 

organisations that are predominantly in the ICT sector.  

Industry; research organisations; education and 

training institutions; and business support services 

are all represented at Technology Park.

The Department initiated the Technology Precinct 

Masterplan in 2006/07, with contractors engaged to 

carry out the fi rst stage of works. The Technology 

Precinct project is a four-year strategic plan to 

promote a culture of innovation and entrepreneurship 

within the 314 hectare area surrounding Technology 

Park.

During 06/07 the Department progressed development 

of the Australian Marine Complex (AMC) Technology 

Precinct in Henderson, with construction commencing 

for the Central Services Facility (CSF). The AMC 

Technology Precinct is an economic development 

initiative to help foster innovation, enterprise and 

creativity within the marine, defence, oil and gas 

technology sectors.  

RECOMMENDATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS
The Department was a member of the Western 

Australian Government’s Biofuels Taskforce. 

Recommendations were made to Government for 

the development of the biofuels industry including 

assistance with licensing requirements, projects in 

regional areas and research.

WA industry interests were presented to the House 

of Representatives Economics Committee’s Inquiry 

into Australia’s services sector to ensure that WA’s 

interests are known and included when forming 

Australian Government policy.
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2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS

SERVICE 3: INVESTMENT SERVICES

RESOURCE SECTOR INVESTMENT 

ATTRACTION PROGRAM SERVICES
By providing a range of services and advice during 
2006/07 the Department has facilitated a range of 
investments in Western Australia.

During the year the Department:

• Provided advice and guidance to assist Primary 
Energy through the approvals process to establish 
a $350 million ethanol plant at Kwinana. Wheat will 
be used as the feedstock for the plant.  In addition 
to ethanol, the plant will produce approximately 
20m/watts of power for the local grid and ammonia 
for fertiliser production.

• Advised Grainol, an ethanol manufacturer, on 
approvals issues in regard to its selection of 
Kwinana as the site for its $400 million ethanol 
production facility.  Approvals are currently under 
assessment.

• Facilitated Interzone’s decision to select Perth 
as the location for an important computer games 
development operation.  Interzone will employ 
more than 200 people in Perth and will provide 
the cornerstone for the development of a niche 
industry in Western Australia.

• Facilitated the establishment of a steel piping 
manufacturing facility at Kwinana by Steelpipe that 
will produce steel piping for use in mining and civil 
construction.  Valued at $15 million, this facility will 
be the only specifi cations steel piping operation in 
Australia.

• Worked closely with Laugfs, a Sri Lankan LPG 
conversion company, to ensure that Perth was 
selected as the location of LPG conversion 
plants involving investment of $12 million and 
employment of 200 people.

• Liaised closely with a BP/Rio partnership to 
facilitate its selection of Kwinana as the preferred 
site for Hydrogen power generation plant. This is 
only the third site selected in the world for this 
initiative and will use coal as its input source. 

• Developed responses to a number of  
Commonwealth foreign investment leads 
generating a number of visits.

• Developed and distributed 2500 Marketing DVDs 
in 9 languages.

• Advised and facilitated the decision by Helix, a 
US developer of smaller oil fi elds, to relocate its 
regional headquarters to Perth.

• Developed and managed itineraries for over 
20 Chinese, Indian, US and European delegations 
and organisations to investigate investment 

opportunities.  

MAJOR RESOURCE PROJECT FACILITATION 

SERVICES
The Department develops, negotiates, administers and 

reviews the State Agreements that govern resource 

development in Western Australia.

It also attracts investment through pre-feasibility 

studies identifying industry development 

opportunities.

The Department facilitates approvals of new projects 

and project expansion, and streamlines the process 

approvals system for major projects.

During 2006/07 The Department provided a range 

of services to new resource project opportunities in 

Western Australia which are listed below by sector.

Liquid Natural Gas (LNG) and Gas to Liquid (GTL) 

Sectors

• Assisted the Gorgon Joint Venturers with 

submission of their fi nal environmental 

documentation and facilitated the project through 

the appeals process.

• Assisted the Pilbara LNG project in its site 

selection process and community consultation with 

key stakeholders in Onslow.

• Assisted Woodside’s Pluto project resolve heritage 

issues on the Burrup Peninsula.  Commenced 

bulk earthworks for its tank farm on Site B and 

submitted fi nal environmental documentation for 

the LNG plant on Site A. 

• Provided advice and assisted Inpex to initiate 

dialogue with stakeholders on the possible future 

use of the Maret Islands for LNG processing and 

the submission of their referral document to the 

Environmental Protection Authority. 

• Facilitated Woodside’s Browse Basin LNG project 

site selection and project approval processes. 

• Facilitated the Sasol Chevron’s GTL project site 

selection in the Pilbara and project approval 

processes. 

• Assisted Alinta secure project approvals for their 

DPNG Stage 5 expansion project. 

Iron Ore Sector

• Developed the  FMG Chichester State Agreement 

which was ratifi ed by Parliament. The Department 

also assisted the Department for Planning and 

Infrastructure develop the Pilbara Infrastructure 

State Agreement for the associated port and 

railway. 

• Facilitated the development of co-proponent 

project proposals for mining and infrastructure 

under the Mineralogy State Agreement at Cape 

Preston. 
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• Provided advice and assistance to several iron 

ore juniors in the Mid West to secure necessary 

approvals and progress their projects.  

• Provided input to Mid West strategic review 

process.  

During 2006/07 The Department assisted with the 

management of existing operations in a number of 

instances, listed below by sector:

Iron Ore

• Facilitated Agreement approvals, coordinated 

infrastructure requirements and worked with BHP 

Billiton Iron Ore and Rio Tinto Iron Ore to facilitate 

major expansion of annual production capacity 

by nearly 60 million tonnes per annum (Mt/a) to a 

combined total of approximately 350 Mt/a.

• Developed Variation Agreements to embody 

commitments to phase out iron ore royalty 

concessions in 12 State Agreements for both Rio 

Tinto/Robe River and BHP Billiton.

• Provided advice and assistance to iron ore juniors 

in the Pilbara and Great Southern to secure 

necessary approvals and to progress their projects. 

Alumina

• Worked with Worsley Alumina to satisfy 

environmental pre-conditions for approval of a 

major expansion through the development of a 

draft Biodiversity Investigation Scope of Work for 

consideration by the Minister for the Environment.

• Worked with Alcoa to develop a Deed of 

Undertaking with the State to implement ambient 

air quality monitoring, health surveys and a 

Supplementary Property Purchase Program 

(SPPP) in designated localities around the Wagerup 

alumina refi nery in association with the 2006 

environmental approval for an expansion to 4.7 

Mt/a.  This included appointment of, and liaison 

with, an Administrator to implement the SPPP and 

to establish an offi ce in Waroona for this task.

LNG

• Worked cooperatively with the North West Shelf 

Joint Venture during the construction phase of 

Train 5 and its interactions with the proposed 

Woodside Pluto LNG project.

Diamonds

• Negotiated variations to the State Agreement with 

Argyle Diamonds to refl ect changes previously 

agreed by Cabinet.  Facilitated transition to 

underground mining, and changes to the 

company’s diamond marketing arrangements.

Base Metals 

• Facilitated approvals under the Throssell Range 

State Agreement for new fi nancing arrangements 

for the Nifty Copper project in the East Pilbara.  

Worked with Moly Mines on the proposed 

development of its molybdenum project east of 

Marble Bar.  Secured approval for the assignment 

of the Poseidon Nickel Agreement to Niagara 

Mining, including associated variations to the 

Agreement.

Titanium Minerals and Zircon

• Assisted to secure necessary approvals for an 

expansion of the Cooljarloo mining area of Tiwest, 

and liaised with project proponents seeking 

approvals for the proposed new Coburn and 

Keysbrook mining operations in the Gascoyne 

and Peel regions.  

Water from Coal Mining

• Worked cooperatively through the relevant 

State Agreements with the Offi ce of Energy, 

the Department of Water and Water Corporation, 

as well as with the State’s existing and proposed 

coal-fi red electricity producers, to develop an 

appropriate regime for the use of high quality 

groundwater extracted ahead of coal mining 

operations in the Collie Basin.  
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POLICY DEVELOPMENT
During 2006/2007, The Department worked with other 

government agencies, industry and other stakeholders 

to develop policies for the responsible development 

of the resource and industry sectors in Western 

Australia.

The Department also provided input and comment on 

State and Commonwealth Government policies that 

may impact on responsible resource and industry 

development in Western Australia.

China & India Business Promotional Activities

• The Department continued to participate in regular 

technical and project development briefi ngs for 

the Chinese and Indian steel industry. Government 

representatives were briefed on potential 

investment and trade opportunities for iron ore 

and other steelmaking raw materials in Western 

Australia. This included visiting Chinese industry 

and delivering a presentation at the China Iron 

and Steelmaking Association Conference.  This 

conference is one of the foremost steelmaking raw 

materials conferences in China.

• The presentation of the fi ndings on the Joint 

China – Western Australian Iron Ore Processing 

Study was made at a special seminar in Beijing.  

The top ten iron and steelmakers in China 

were represented, as well as delegates from 

major Chinese trading houses and the Chinese 

Government. The study was jointly undertaken 

by the Department and the Central Chinese 

Government’s National Development and Reform 

Commission.

• The study reviewed the conditions and costs of 

mining and processing various forms of iron ore 

to molten iron product in Western Australia. This 

included the evaluation of various alternative 

ironmaking processes compared to market-priced 

iron ore imports feeding into traditional ironmaking 

processes in China. The study concluded that 

development of ironmaking facilities in China 

had signifi cant capital cost advantages and 

construction time savings compared with Western 

Australia. By providing industry ready land and 

other infrastructure, which was not incorporated in 

projected costs, China can demonstrate signifi cant 

cost savings.  In overall cost to produce  hot metal 

there were options considered, which are cost 

comparable between Western Australia and China.  

Strategic Review of the Mid West Ironstone Ranges

• The Department has been responsible for 

developing the prospectivity assessment of the 

Mid West and central Yilgarn region. This has  

identifi ed economic and social benefi ts, which 

could result from the realisation of a signifi cant 

iron ore industry in the Mid West region, centred 

on the Geraldton area, including fl ow on effects 

for regional economics, business and support and 

other industry development, as well as the overall 

social well-being of the area.

• The draft report has been prepared for Government 

to consider alongside the Department of 

Environment and Conservation’s biodiversity 

evaluation and recommendations that aim to 

increase the conservation estate within the 

ironstone ranges. 

MAJOR TRADE PROGRAM SERVICES
The Department and the Western Australian 

Government’s International Trade and Investment 

Offi ces work together to provide support for local 

businesses exploring export and market opportunities.  

The Western Australian Government has offi ces in 

China, Europe, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Japan, 

Malaysia, the Middle East, South Korea, Taiwan, 

Thailand and the United States.  

The Department’s International Market Development 

Division facilitates cross-government trade 

opportunities through coordination of trade missions, 

ministerial missions and VIP briefi ngs.  In 2006-07, 40 

inbound trade missions, 21 outbound trade missions, 

14 ministerial missions, and 80 VIP briefi ngs for 

Ambassadors, High Commissioners and delegations 

were coordinated. Key missions included:

China / Taiwan / Hong Kong

• A visit to China in May 2007 by Premier Carpenter 

to participate in the 20th Anniversary of the Sister 

State relationship with Zhejiang Province;

• A visit in April 2007 to China by Minister Quirk and 

the Hon. Frederick Riebeling to meet key Chinese 

central and provincial dignitaries to strengthen 

Western Australia’s trade and investment 

networks;

• A visit by Professor Barry Marshall to Taiwan in 

June 2007 to develop educational and scientifi c 

links with Western Australia; and

• The show-casing of twelve Western Australia 

companies at the China Mining Conference in 

Beijing in November 2006; and participation by 

eight companies in the Cosmoprof Asia - “Natural 

Health Fair 2006” exhibition, Hong Kong.
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Europe

• A delegation in 2006, led by the Deputy Premier, 

met with key global construction fi rms in Italy, 

Germany, France, and the UK where discussions 

were held with UK infrastructure ‘best practice’ 

regulators about Public Private Partnership 

markets;  

• In November 2006 Minister Logan visited Spain and 

Norway to meet leading ship building companies 

and discuss their interest in Australia’s amphibious 

ship project;  

• In April 2007 Minister Logan attended the 15th 

International Conference and Exhibition of 

Liquefi ed Natural Gas (LNG15) in Barcelona, Spain; 

and

• In October 2006, Minister MacTiernan participated 

at various ceremonies at the In-Unison 

TechniCultural Festival in Berlin, Germany.  

India / Middle East

• In February 2007 Premier Carpenter visited India to 

strengthen trade and investment links and broaden 

the State’s economic relationship with India;

• Twelve Western Australian mining services 

companies participated in the International Mining 

and Machinery Exhibition and Conference held in 

Kolkata, India; 

• Western Australian companies showcased their 

capabilities in the mining sector at the 2007 

Austmine Conference held in Perth in February 

which was attended by the Confederation of Indian 

industries, and 16 Western Australian companies 

from the building and construction sector visited 

the United Arab Emirates to meet potential 

business partners during the ‘Big 5’ show.

South East Asia

• The Western Australian Trade Offi ce in Jakarta 

assisted TerraVision Australia Pty Ltd, a Perth 

based Information and Communications 

Technology company win a contract to upgrade 

Indonesia’s fi sheries monitoring/management 

systems;  

• The Department facilitated Premier Carpenter’s 

visit to the Sandakan memorial for the ANZAC 

ceremony in April 2006; and

• In November 2006 the Department facilitated a 

Memorandum of Understanding formalising a 

Friendship City relationship between Rockingham 

City Council and Kota Kinabalu to foster greater 

economic cooperation in the area of marine and 

defence.

Japan / Korea 

• 2006 commemorated the Australia-Japan Year 

of Exchange and the 30th anniversary of the 

signing of the 1976 Basic Treaty of Friendship and 

Cooperation between Australia and Japan (NARA 

Treaty).  Activities organised by the Department 

included the Royal Show Japan Guest Nation 

Pavilion - a key forum for promoting commercial 

and cultural links between Western Australia and 

the guest country each year, an offi cial visit to 

Japan in June/July 2006 by Premier Carpenter, 

and sponsorship of a commemorative publication 

“Australia-Japan Friendship and Prosperity” 

commissioned by the Department of Foreign 

Affairs and Trade; and

• A Memorandum of Understanding was signed in 

July 2006 for mutual cooperation and partnership 

between Western Australia’s Technology Park at 

Bentley and Daedeok Innopolis (Korea’s largest 

industrial park). 

United States of America

• Minister Logan led two missions to the United 

States relating to Offshore Technology and 

Biotechnology including a networking dinner 

with 150 attendees from the Houston oil and gas 

sector, and an economic briefi ng co-sponsored 

by the Greater Houston Partnership for 75 local 

professionals.  Western Australia’s participation in 

the BioGenius Award, and a high level roundtable 

of bio-fuels jointly sponsored with the United 

States Department of Commerce and the State of 

Massachusetts was announced; and

• The Department organised Western Australia’s 

participation in the Commonwealth Government’s 

“G’day USA” program.  The event is aimed at 

increasing the State’s profi le and business 

opportunities in the United States.  As part of 

“G’Day USA”, the Department coordinated the 

New York Innovation Showcase - a collaboration of 

Australian States.  The event was attended by 150 

New York investment professionals.
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FACILITATING TRADE AND INVESTMENT 

OPPORTUNITIES
The Western Australian Government Overseas 

Network (WAGON) Conference held in April 2007 

provided an opportunity for local businesses to meet 

with the State Government’s Regional Directors to 

discuss offshore business opportunities for their 

products and services.

In June 2007, a Western Australian Economic Overview 

seminar provided networking opportunities for key 

stakeholders of the Japan Chamber of Commerce and 

Perth Industry members.

In partnership with the Australian American 

Chamber of Commerce in Houston a new science and 

technology promotional program was delivered.  The 

program included food, wine, arts, tourism events.

The Department consulted with private industry and 

State Government agencies to formulate a submission 

to the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade and 

ensure that WA’s interests were included in the study 

into Australia – Mexico Economic Relations.

WESTERN AUSTRALIA’S SISTER-STATE 

AGREEMENTS
Sister State Agreements with Hyogo (Japan), Zhejiang 

(China), Tuscany (Italy), and East Java (Indonesia) 

were enhanced through coordination of the following 

activities:

• The Governor of Hyogo Prefecture, Japan, His 

Excellency Mr Toshizo Ido, led a delegation of over 

100 participants to Western Australia for the 25th 

Anniversary of the Hyogo Sister-State relationship 

including a joint signing ceremony to re-affi rm the 

relationship;

• Twenty Western Australia University students were 

sponsored by the Department to participate in the 

biennial Hyogo “Floating University” program; 

• The Department co-hosted the Hyogo Business 

Seminar, supported the visit of Hyogo-based 

Piccolo Theatre Company to Perth, and awarded 

two one-year post-graduate scholarships to 

students from Hyogo as a 25th Anniversary gift to 

Hyogo Prefecture jointly sponsored by the Western 

Australian Government, Murdoch University and 

the University of Western Australia;

• In December 2006 and April 2007 delegations from 

the Department of Construction and Department 

of Health in Zhejiang Province visited Western 

Australia, two Department representatives spent 

three months in Zhejiang as part of the Public 

Servant Exchange Program, and 25 winners of the 

Zhejiang-Western Australian English Language 

Competition in October 2006 visited  Western 

Australia; and

• Solco Pty Ltd were contracted to provide solar 

powered water pumping facilities to two remote 

villages in eastern Java.  This pilot project may 

be expanded to other Indonesian provinces. 

Negotiations for re-signing of the sister-state 

agreement with East Java have commenced.
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SERVICE 4: GEOLOGICAL SERVICES

BENEFITS OF GEOLOGICAL SERVICES
Benefi ts the Western Australian community by 

encouraging exploration and hence the discovery 

of mineral and petroleum deposits to sustain the 

resources sector by replacing the large volume of 

resources currently being exploited. This is achieved 

by maintaining an up-to-date geological framework 

and archive of the State and its mineral and petroleum 

resources. The same geoscience and resource 

information is used to provide input into decision 

making by government and to assist the community 

to understand the links between the State’s geology, 

landscape, past climates, resources and its standard 

of living. Of particular importance is information for 

informed land use decisions by Government.

Products and services include the publication of maps, 

reports and datasets and the provision of access to 

a developing archive of geoscientifi c and resource 

exploration documents, samples and information.

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES ASSOCIATED WITH 

GEOLOGICAL SERVICES
The Geological Survey Division undertakes geoscience 

mapping of the surface and subsurface of Western 

Australia in order to enhance and promote its mineral 

and petroleum potential to new and existing investors. 

Particular emphasis is placed on providing new pre-

competitive geoscience information on greenfi elds 

areas where larger discoveries may be made. A 

variety of techniques is used to gather new geoscience 

information including fi eld-based surveys, airborne 

geophysical surveys, previous geoscience studies, and 

company exploration programs.

Exploration information and samples gathered by 

mineral and petroleum tenement holders are archived 

and made available to the public after fi ve years via 

user-friendly online systems and the Department’s 

core library facilities at Perth and Kalgoorlie.

Using all the above information, the division also 

provides geoscience advice for land-use planning, 

exploration assessment, and policy formulation.

MAJOR ACHIEVEMENTS FOR 2006/07
In 2006/07, the Department’s production of high 

quality geoscience information continued with 

publication of 28 reports1, 27 geoscience maps and 

geophysical images2, and 25 digital datasets. It 

continued to add geoscientifi c information to online 

information delivery systems.

Three million dollars per annum is targeted at 

doubling the amount of high-tech geophysical surveys 

in Western Australia. A highlight of the year was 

the release of nearly 1 million line-km of airborne 

geophysical data, along with and gravity data from a 

ground survey in the Murchison region. 

In 2006/07, the last year of the three years of initiative 

funding aimed at releasing 21 000 legacy “sunset 

Clause” (Mining Regulation 96(4)) mineral exploration 

reports, the automatic process to upload the fi nal 12 

000 reports commenced. Release of these reports 

represents a huge increase in the amount of pre-

competitive geoscience information available on 

Western Australia.

During 2006–07, the Department made 1094 

resource and exploration potential assessments of 

proposals involving a change in land-use for Crown 

land. A particular focus of 2006–07 activities was a 

proposal that 54 pastoral leases purchased by DEC 

be converted into conservation reserves. Almost all 

of these former pastoral leases contain active Mining 

Act tenements (1350 tenements in total), 13 have 

resources classifi ed using the JORC3 Code, and 12 

contain advanced exploration projects. The geoscience 

and resource information was used to inform policy 

advice within government with the objective of 

achieving a balance between resource-led economic 

development and biodiversity conservation.

The extent of geoscience mapping and resource 

studies is shown in maps 1 and 2 on following pages. 

Regional fi eld-based geoscience mapping continued 

in the Tanami, Musgrave, East Yilgarn, Murchison, 

Gascoyne (and Gascoyne hinterland) regions, and 

petroleum geoscience work focussed on the Canning 

Basin. Resource mapping continued in the Murchison 

and was completed in the Gascoyne area.

1  This total included 12 Records and 16 miscellaneous publications
2  This total included 10 1:100 000 and 1 1:250 000 geological maps, 

 and 15 miscellaneous maps and images
3  Joint Ore Reserves Committee



DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07  PAGE 32

SD 52

SE 52

SF 52

SH 52

SI 51

SF 51

SE 51

SF 50

SH 50

SI 50

SF 49

SG 49 SG 52

RUDALL

WILUNA

ASHTON

PENDER YAMPI CHARNLEY

BROOME DERBY

LAGRANGE NOONKANBAH

MANDORA MUNRO CROSSLAND

LISSADELL

LANSDOWNE

BILLILUNA

ROEBOURNE

YARRALOOLA

WYLOO

NEWMAN

YARRIE ANKETELL DUMMER

NULLAGINE SAHARA PERCIVAL

TABLETOP URAL

ROBERTSON GUNANYA RUNTON MORRIS

CORNISH LUCAS

HELENA STANSMORE

WILSON WEBB

RYAN MACDONALD

COLLIER

SANDSTONE

BULLEN TRAINOR MADLEY WARRI

NABBERU HERBERT BROWNE

KINGSTON ROBERT YOWALGA

DUKETON THROSSELL WESTWOOD

COBB RAWLINSON

BENTLEY SCOTT

TALBOT COOPER

LENNIS WAIGEN

YALGOO KIRKALOCKA YOUANMI

PERENJORI NINGHAN

MOORA BENCUBBIN JACKSON

PERTH

LEONORA LAVERTON RASON NEALE

MENZIES EDJUDINA MINIGWAL PLUMRIDGE

KALGOORLIE KURNALPI CUNDEELEE SEEMORE

BOORABBIN NARETHA

VERNON WANNA

JUBILEE MASON

LOONGANA FORREST

PINJARRA CORRIGIN HYDEN

COLLIE NEWDEGATE

NORSEMAN CULVER

BREMER BAY

PEAK HILL

GLENGARRYBELELE

MURGOO CUE

EDMUND

QUOBBA

WOORAMEL GLENBURGH

YARINGA BYRO

ZANTHUS

BALLADONIA

DRYSDALE-
LONDONDERRY

MEDUSA
BANKS

MONTAGUE
SOUND

CAMDEN SOUND-
PRINCE REGENT

15,16

CAMBRIDGE
GULF

MOUNT
ELIZABETH

MOUNT
ANDERSON

MOUNT
RAMSAY

GORDON
DOWNS

MOUNT
BANNERMAN

McLARTY
HILLS

LENNARD
RIVER DIXON

RANGE

JOANNA
SPRING

PORT
HEDLAND-
BEDOUT IS

PATERSON
RANGE

DAMPIER-
BARROW ISLAND

ONSLOW-
JURABI POINT

YANREY-
NINGALOO

WINNING POOL-
MINILYA

SHARK
BAY-
EDEL

8,12

AJANA-
ZUYTDORP

GERALDTON-
HOUTMAN
ABROLHOS

DONGARA-
HILL RIVER

BUSSELTON-
AUGUSTA

5,9

PEMBERTON-
IRWIN INLET

MOUNT
BARKER

10,14

ESPERANCE-
MONDRAIN

ISLAND

6,10

RAVENS-
THORPE

LAKE
JOHNSTON

SOUTHERN
CROSS

WIDGIE-
MOOLTHA

KELLER-
BERRIN

DUMBLE-
YUNG

MADURA-
BURNABBIE

MALCOLM-
CAPE ARID

7,11

EUCLA-
NOONAERA

14,213,1

1

9

13 14

10

6

2 3

7

16

12

8

4

5

11

15

1

5

2 43

10

6

21

5

9

2 3 4

6 7 8

12

14 1615

2 3 4

6 7 8

10 11 12

4

8

12

15 16

3

7

11

13 14

1 2

5 6

9 10 9

1 2 3 4

5 6 7 8

10 11 12

13 14 15 16

1 2

5 6

9 10

13 14

4

3 4

5 6 7 8

10 11 12

161514

10

1 2 3 4

5 6 7 8

9 11 12

13 14 15 16

1 2

5 6

9 10

13 14

1 2

5 6

9 10

13 14

2 3 4

6 7 8

10 11 12

13 14 15 16

12 9 10

13 14

MOUNT
BRUCE

TUREE
CREEK

MOUNT
EGERTON

MOUNT
PHILLIPS

KENNEDY
RANGE

MARBLE
BAR

ROY
HILL

BALFOUR
DOWNS

SIR
SAMUEL

ROBINSON
RANGE

1, 2

9, 12

13, 16

4, 1

5, 9

11, 15

BARLEE

STANLEY

PYRAMID

SG 50 SG 51

SH 51

1:100 000 Geology

Aeromagnetic and radiometric surveys

Previously published

In progress

Published 2006/07

Published 2006/07

32∞

28∞

24∞

20∞

16∞

126∞120∞114∞SHDH19C 07.08.07

Gravity survey

Published 2006/07

MAP 1:  GEOSCIENCE MAPPING



DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07  PAGE 33

SHDH20D 07.08.07

In progress

Mineral prospectivity

CANNING

PATERSON

Previously published

Published 2006/07

Basin studies

In progress

Previously published

EARAHEEDY

ARUNTAç
MUSGRAVE

EAST
PILBARA

SOUTH
WEST

NORTH
KIMBERLEY

WEST
KIMBERLEY

EAST
KIMBERLEY

NE
GOLDFIELDS

Officer
Basin

Canning
Basin

BANGEMALL

GASCOYNE

WEST
HAMERSLEY

NORTH
MURCHISON

WEST
PILBARA

S Carnarvon
Basin

N Carnarvon
Basin

N Perth
Basin

M
ID

 W
E

S
T

 C
O

A
S

T

Bonaparte
Basin

PEAK
HILL

MAP 2:  MINERAL PROSPECTIVITY PUBLICATIONS



DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07  PAGE 34

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS

SERVICE 5: SCIENCE AND INNOVATION, PROMOTION 

AND SUPPORT SERVICES

This service provides support to the 

Premier’s Science and Innovation 

Council, manages Science 

and Innovation Programs and 

administers Research Capability 

and Infrastructure Grants. 

SUPPORT PROVIDED TO THE SCIENCE 

COUNCIL, SCIENCE POLICY DEVELOPMENT 

AND ADVICE

Science and Innovation Council/Chief Scientist 

In December 2006, Professor Lyn Beazley was 

appointed Chief Scientist of Western Australia. 

Professor Beazley brings extensive experience to the 

role and has been appointed to act as an ambassador 

and advocate between the science community, 

industry and Government.  

In April 2007 the Department facilitated the formation 

of the Premier’s Science and Innovation Council. 

The Council is chaired by Western Australia’s Chief 

Scientist, Professor Lyn Beazley. Its members include 

eminent professionals across a broad range of sectors 

including health, resources, environment, biology and 

education.

The Council is the Government’s peak advisory body 

on the strategic direction of science initiatives for the 

State, ensuring maximum benefi ts to the Western 

Australian community and industry. The creation of the 

Council will also increase the profi le and recognition 

of the contribution of science and innovation to WA. 

The Council will play a crucial role in positioning 

science and innovation as one of the key drivers of the 

State’s economy. 

The Department provides secretariat support to the 

Premier’s Science and Innovation Council, which 

meets approximately four times per year. The Council 

will establish a number of working groups involving 

subsets of Council members and external members 

as required. The working groups undertake detailed 

analysis and development work and assess funding 

proposals. The full Premier’s Science and Innovation 

Council considers working group recommendations 

along with other business at its quarterly meetings.

Council decisions regarding expenditure or policy 

direction are formed into recommendations and 

provided to the Minister for Innovation; Science for 

fi nal decision.

The Council had its fi rst meeting on 27 June 2007.

SCIENCE AND INNOVATION PROGRAM AND 

PROJECT MANAGEMENT

Science and Innovation Studentship Awards

The Science and Innovation Studentship Awards (SISA) 

were introduced in 2004 to provide an opportunity for 

research students to work on a project with a Western 

Australian private sector organisation of their choice 

for a period of 10 weeks over the summer break.

The Awards promotes research interaction 

between industry and academia, with a focus on 

issues essential to the long-term development 

and modernisation of Western Australian industry. 

The Studentship seeks to encourage creativity and 

innovation in science students/graduates, allowing 

participants to broaden their professional experience 

and gain valuable skills and experience in developing 

and applying their own ideas.

In 2006, the Department of Industry and Resources 

awarded 18 Studentships through the program, valued 

at $7000 each.

Premier’s Science Awards

The Premier’s Science Awards publicly celebrate, 

encourage and reward the best of Western 

Australian scientists, science teachers and science 

communicators. The Awards are a valuable means 

of recognising excellence in science.  They create a 

sense of community pride in science education and 

research in addition to raising the profi le of science 

and technology within the wider community.

During 2006/07, the Department awarded prizes 

totalling $35,000. The categories included the 

Premier’s Prize for Achievement in Science valued 

at $10,000.  

A further fi ve categories with prizes of $5000 each are:

• Premier’s Prize for Early Career Achievement in 

Science; 

• Premier’s Prize for Excellence in Science Teaching: 

Tertiary;

• Premier’s Prize for Excellence in Science Teaching: 

Secondary;

• Premier’s Prize for Excellence in Science Teaching: 

Primary; and  

• Premier’s Prize for Excellence in Science 

Communication.
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Science and Engineering Challenge 2006

The Science and Engineering Challenge is a 

competition designed to actively involve students 

in science and technology-based activities. The 

Challenge aims to inspire students to study science 

and mathematics in the upper school years and to 

study science and engineering at a tertiary level. 

Activities promote innovative thinking, careful analysis, 

planning of science and engineering projects and 

cooperative teamwork. 

The inaugural hosting of the Science and Engineering 

Challenge in Western Australia took place in 

November 2006. The Department was the major 

sponsor of the event, providing $26,950 in sponsorship 

and a range of volunteer services. 

Peer Tutoring Program

During 2006/07 the Department supported the Peer 

Tutoring Program. The Program involves science 

tutoring to secondary students undertaken by 

undergraduate science students in at least their 

second year of study. 

The program seeks to address the declining number 

of students studying science, to enhance the support 

of science teachers and to promote a greater 

understanding of science and science communication 

by undergraduates.

The Department granted each of WA’s four universities 

$50,000 per annum for four years to assist in the 

employment of a coordinator to administer the 

program.

RESEARCH CAPABILITY AND 

INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT ADMINISTRATION 

Centres of Excellence 

The Department provided new funding in 2006/07 

for seven Centres of Excellence through the Centres 

of Excellence in Science and Innovation program. 

These included an Australian Research Council (ARC) 

Centre of Excellence, two ARC Federation Fellows, 

and one Cooperative Research Centre (CRC). In-

principle funding commitments were provided for 

Western Australian applications to the 10th Round 

of the Commonwealth Cooperative Research Centre 

program through the Centres of Excellence program, 

with a particular emphasis on local headquartering. 

The following Centres of Excellence have been funded 

by the Department in 2006/07;

• Nanoscale Characterisation Centre – a Centre of 

Excellence (COE) in Science and Innovation grant of 

$2,176,000 granted in July 2006.

• John de Laeter COE in Mass Spectrometry – a COE 

grant of $2,060,000 granted in July 2006.

• Centre for High Defi nition Geophysics – a COE 

grant of $2,299,000 granted in August 2006.

• Centre of Excellence for Plant Metabolomics – a 

COE grant of $1,500,000 granted in September 

2006.

• COE for Plant Energy Biology – a COE grant of 

$1,250,000 granted in October 2006.

• Parker Cooperative Research Centre for Integrated 

Hydrometallurgy Solutions – a COE grant of 

$2,072,000 granted in April 2007.

• Centre for Offshore Foundation Systems – a COE 

grant of $1,500,000 granted in April 2007.

IVEC

The Department fi nalised a new funding arrangement 

with iVEC in 2006/07 focusing on greater industry 

development outcomes. Funding of $7.8 million 

over three years from 2007/08 to 2009/10 has been 

allocated. This support aims to grow supercomputing 

and visualisation capability in Western Australia and 

provide a suitable vehicle to promote and encourage 

the uptake of open source solutions by the broader 

community. 

Western Australian Major Research Facilities Grants

The Department negotiated State Funding Agreements 

for two WA Major Research Facilities in 2006/07, the 

WA Marine Science Institution (WAMSI) and the Centre 

for Genomic Medicine.

WAMSI  was awarded $21 million over fi ve years to 

conduct a comprehensive research program involving 

a wide range of research partners including the 

CSIRO, Bureau of Meteorology, Australian Institute 

of Marine Science, the WA Global Ocean Observing 

System Inc., the four WA public universities and four 

State Government agencies. Outcomes from the 

research will assist decision making in conservation, 

development of the marine environment and 

understanding of the impact of the Indian Ocean on 

climate change in Western Australia. 

The Centre for Genomic Medicine was awarded 

$4.5 million by the Department over four years for 

its ‘diabesity’ research program investigating the 

relationship between diabetes and obesity. The 

program will also review the effectiveness of certain 

food types in reducing obesity.

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS

SERVICE 5: SCIENCE AND INNOVATION, 

PROMOTION AND SUPPORT SERVICES
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2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS

SERVICE 6: SCIENTIFIC SERVICES

EMERGENCY AND CRISIS RESPONSE 

SERVICES
Two projects which will result in signifi cant 

improvements to the State/Commonwealth 

Governments ability to respond to a chemical related 

CBR (Chemical Biological Radiological) incident were 

funded by the National Science Security &Technology 

division of Prime Minister & Cabinet and Emergency 

Management Australia (EMA) were funded.

These are: 

• Vulnerability of indoor air to airborne threats 

released inside a building

• Protect-in-Place Strategies in the event of a 

chemical release.

The Chemistry Centre worked closely with the 

Esperance Shire, Department of Conservation and 

Environment, Health Department and the Department 

of Agriculture and Food to determine the source 

and extent of lead contamination in Esperance.  The 

assistance provided to these agencies and the general 

public was critical to an understanding, and potential 

remediation of the issue.  The laboratory analysed 

over 2000 samples ranging from rainwater tank 

samples, various biota, mineral ores, swabs, soils 

and sediments.  In addition to providing timely and 

accurate analytical results Chemistry Centre staff 

also attended public Open Days in Esperance and 

conducted independent sampling in the town.

The Chemistry Centre is providing key services to 

investigations of other Ports throughout the state.

SCIENTIFIC AND RESEARCH SUPPORT

CRC CARE (Contamination Assessment for 

Remediation of Environments)

Signifi cant progress pertinent to stack emissions 

resulting from Alumina refi ning was made against the 

following projects:

• Sampling and Analytical Methodologies for 

Characterisation of Organometallic Compounds in 

Alumina Refi nery Emissions.

• Adsorbed Organic Species on Respirable Alumina 

Particles.

Seafood CRC (Cooperative Research Centre)

This CRC was funded by the Commonwealth. Western 

Australian partners include: Department of Fisheries, 

Chemistry Centre WA, and Curtin University and the 

Western Australian Fishing Industry Council. The 

CRC will contribute strongly to the profi tability of WA 

seafood exports.

Chemistry Centre WA provides a 

range of scientifi c services that 

benefi t the Western Australian 

community through the provision of 

high quality, independent chemical 

information, advice and analytical 

services to government agencies, 

industry and research groups.

Products and services include:

• Scientifi c and research support 

in the areas of public and 

occupational health, conservation 

and the environment, industrial 

development, food and agriculture.

• Emergency and crisis response 

services to government agencies 

and industry for chemical spills 

and related incidents and crisis 

situations.

• Contributing to the development 

of national chemical conformance 

standards and guidelines.

• Forensic scientifi c services 

support to the Police Service, 

State Coroner and the racing 

industry.
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FORENSIC SCIENCE SERVICES

Forensic Science Laboratory

The Forensic Science Laboratory (FSL) received 

approximately 5,000 cases involving some 20,000 

items, encompassing the areas of toxicology, illicit 

drugs, physical evidence and racing chemistry.

Forensic Chemistry Service to the WA Police

The Department provided comprehensive forensic 

chemistry services to the WA Police Service with more 

than 2100 cases investigated in 2006/07.

Provision of scientifi c investigative services for 

clandestine drug laboratories continued to be a major 

activity.  Signifi cant  investment was made in portable 

infra-red and Raman spectrometers  that enable ‘on-

site’ analysis of suspect materials. 

Participation in national and international drug 

profi ling programs continued with further 

development of  the drug profi ling database 

management software that has been supplied to a 

consortium of European police forces.

The Chemistry Centre became a core partner in the 

Centre for Australian Forensic Soil Science.  A network 

of soil and forensic scientists that combines research, 

training and services in soil forensics to fi ght crime, 

terrorism and environmental pollution. 

The Centre is a partnership between Chemistry 

Centre Western Australia, CSIRO, Forensic Science 

South Australia , The University of Adelaide, Flinders 

University , The National Institute of Forensic Science 

(NIFS) and The University of South Australia (Ian Wark 

Research Institute)  (Core Partners). The Centre for 

Australian Forensic Soil Science is administered by 

CSIRO, Land and Water in Adelaide, South Australia.

State Coroner

Analytical toxicology services were supplied to the 

State Coroner for 1234 investigations involving sudden 

or unexplained deaths in 2006/07, with approximately 

15 per cent involving Coroner’s Act objections and 

requiring 24-hour turn-around.

Doping Control in Sport

The tender to supply Racing and Wagering Western 

Australia (RWWA) with analytical services directed at

pre-race and post-race testing for doping agents 

continued in 2006/07. The number of samples 

screened for drugs were 4147 with a further 3616 

blood samples tested for TCO
2
 , (plasma total carbon 

dioxide).

2.2 REPORT ON OPERATIONS

SERVICE 6: SCIENTIFIC SERVICES
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2.3 RESOURCE AGREEMENT TARGETS

2007 2007

Target Actual Variation

($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Total Cost of Services 198 417 169 772 (28 645) 

Actual total cost of service was lower than estimate mainly due to 

repositioning of $32 million grant funding for Innovate WA, Centres of 

Excellence, Radio Astronomy and Science Initiatives to future years. This 

is partly offset by an increase in liabilities assumed by the Treasurer of $5 

million as a result of changes in methodology adopted by the Government 

Employees Superannuation Board.

Net Cost of Services   177 965   143 446 (34 519) 

Actual net cost of service was lower than estimate mainly due to 

repositioning of $32 million grant funding for Innovate WA, Centres 

of Excellence, Radio Astronomy and Science initiatives to future 

years. Additionally higher than estimated revenue was received for 

Commonwealth funding for Aboriginal Economic Development and the 

Australia / China Natural Gas Technology Partnership Fund approved post 

budget.

Total Equity   96 680   112 147   15 467 

The increase in equity compared to the 2006-07 estimate is due 

to the following:

Increase in accumulated surplus for the year due to :

• Higher than budget revenue collections;

• Lower than budget expenditure, mainly on general science 

   grants, compared to appropriation funds drawn down.

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held (1 642)   8 766   10 408 

The net increase in cash held is higher than estimate mainly due to higher 

than estimated revenue collected together with higher than estimated 

surplus from operating activities for the year.

Approved Full Time Equivalent (FTE) staff level    885    912    27 

The approved FTE limit for the Department was increased to 932 as part of 

the mid year review.



3.0 SIGNIFICANT ISSUES AND TRENDS

Driven by exceptional demand 

for our commodities, Western 

Australia’s economy continued 

to surge ahead in the 2006/07 

fi nancial year with total trade 

exceeding $82 billion. In the 

2006/07 fi nancial year, Western 

Australia generated $60.5 billion 

in total exports or an impressive 

36.1 per cent of Australia’s total 

exports.

With plentiful reserves of energy, 

metals and minerals resources 

Western Australia is well 

positioned to remain the nation’s 

number one export state.



DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07  PAGE 40

06
/07

WORLD ECONOMIC GROWTH
World economic growth has continued strongly in 2007 

with the International Monetary Fund (IMF) raising 

their forecast growth rate for 2007 from 4.9per cent to 

5.2per cent in July 2007. Emerging economies have led 

the way, with 11.5per cent growth in China in the fi rst 

half of 2007, together with a strong performance in 

India and Russia. 

The strength of continued demand from these 

developing industrial economies has led many 

industry commentators to suggest that rather than 

experiencing a boom/bust scenario, the world 

economy is transitioning to a substantially higher 

level of production driven by demand.

Despite the strong economic growth and price 

pressures from increased energy and food prices, 

world infl ation has remained moderate at around 

4per cent. Higher energy prices have been driven by 

lost production due to a series of extreme weather 

events followed by production cuts from OPEC and 

strong global demand.

Food prices rose by 10 per cent in 2006 driven by the 

surging price of corn, wheat and soy crops. Global 

wheat stocks are at the lowest level for 26 years and 

supply shortages have been compounded by the 

diversion of crops for biofuel use. 

The IMF has assessed a slight increase in the overall 

risk to economic growth. They note in particular 

infl ationary pressures caused by supply-side 

constraints, and a rise in fi nancial market risk due to 

decreased credit quality in some sectors such as the 

US sub-prime housing market. 

THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN RESOURCES 

SECTOR
The Western Australian resources sector posted 

another record year, increasing from $39.5 billion in 

2005 to $48.4 billion in 2006. Petroleum ($15.6 billion) 

and iron ore ($14.6 billion) were the main contributors, 

coupled with strong contributions from nickel ($5.6 

billion), alumina ($4.6 billion) and gold ($4.2 billion).

Prices were the primary contributor to increased 

resource sector revenues in 2006. Continued strong 

world demand for minerals combined with export 

capacity restraints and supply disruptions has resulted 

in diminishing world stocks and upward pressure on 

prices. Several minerals including aluminium, zinc, 

copper, nickel and oil experienced a spike in spot 

prices in 2006 before retreating from the record highs, 

but have fl uctuated around historically high levels 

since. 

Capital investment in infrastructure has been the 

major driver in the Western Australian economy 

recently, having doubled from $9.1 billion in 2004 

to $18.3 billion in 2006. 

This commitment has facilitated major investments 

into resource projects such as the North West Shelf 5th 

LNG train, Boddington Gold Mine, Ravensthorpe Nickel 

Mine and Pilbara iron ore investments and should lead 

to increased output volumes in coming years.

With the Chinese Government supporting foreign 

investment, Africa, Latin America, SE Asia, the Middle 

East and Australia are experiencing a high level of 

interest by Chinese companies looking for exploration 

and mining investment opportunities. In order to 

secure long term commodity supplies, Japan, led 

by Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation 

(JOGMEC) is now also becoming a more aggressive 

overseas investor.
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THE WA PETROLEUM INDUSTRY
The WA petroleum industry continues to be the major 

contributor for sales, exports and contribution to the 

State’s economic strength. Taking into account the 

potential investment value of upstream petroleum 

projects either underway or planned for the State over 

the next few years, the value of these projects climbs 

to around $50 billion. Assuming the proposed projects 

go ahead as planned, around 12,000 additional 

construction and 1500 full-time jobs will be created.

The rise in global demand for natural gas has seen 

increased supply pressures for LNG from Western 

Australia. As a consequence, WA has been faced with 

a signifi cant imbalance in domestic gas supply. Issues 

include growing demand for gas, at a time when most 

of the existing producers have fully contracted all 

their developed reserves. Over the past year, the State 

Government was instrumental in raising awareness of 

the current gas supply situation through its chairing of 

the Joint Working Group on Natural Gas Supply (JWG), 

which reports to the Ministerial Councils on Minerals 

and Petroleum Resources and Energy. In leading the 

JWG, The Department has been working in close 

consultation with all Australian governments and 

industry to identify potential policy options to enhance 

Australia’s position as a world leader in LNG exports 

while ensuring security of supply for domestic users.

Western Australia is pursuing the policy of refl ecting 

Commonwealth legislation in its own Acts to 

ensure consistency with the administration of 

safety, environment, well operations and resource 

management activities. Western Australia has always 

followed the common petroleum mining code across 

all State petroleum legislation. This recognises the 

importance of timely approvals processes for complex 

projects where the petroleum industry must comply 

with an increasing number of social, environmental 

and economic expectations and competing land uses.

EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE 
Western Australia’s mineral and petroleum 

exploration expenditure reached a record level of 

$1.6 billion in 2006. 

Western Australia attracted 56 per cent of Australia’s 

petroleum exploration expenditure in 2006, with 

exploration expenditure of $942 million, signifi cantly 

up from $592 million in 2005 calendar year. Forty-

three wildcat wells were drilled during 2006/07, 

of which six were signifi cant discoveries, yielding 

a success rate of 14 per cent. Planned onshore 

petroleum exploration expenditure in WA to the end 

of 2011 indicates the Perth and Canning basins will 

receive increased investment over the next fi ve years 

as drilling commitments fall due.

WA has seen marked rises, in exploration expenditure, 

compared to previous years.

Despite the record level of exploration in WA our 

share of world non-ferrous mineral exploration 

expenditure continued to decline to just under 5per 

cent in 2006. This refl ects the decline in Australia’s 

total expenditure from about 23per cent of world 

expenditure in 1993 to about 12per cent in 2006. 

Australian Bureau of Statistics surveys of mineral 

exploration expenditure in 2007 reveal little evidence 

for a turn-around in this trend in 2007/08.

WA faces competition for exploration investment 

from overseas jurisdictions that now have more pre-

competitive geoscience information, and attractive 

mining and fi scal policy settings available. Domestic 

rivals competing on the basis of new, freely available 

pre-competitive geoscience datasets and drilling 

subsidies for industry are also a threat.

SKILL SHORTAGES
Increased activity in the resources sector has resulted 

in a signifi cantly greater volume of mining and 

petroleum exploration and development applications 

being submitted to the Department for processing 

has resulted in an increased workload. The heavy 

schedule of international activity, particularly relating 

to China, is compounded by the continued loss of 

experienced departmental staff to industry, placing 

additional pressure on the delivery of regulatory and 

development services. There is every indication that 

this trend will continue in 2007–08.

Skill shortages are increasingly impacting on the WA 

economy, constraining economic growth, production 

and exports. A Grant Thornton survey in the March 

quarter 2007 reported that 90 per cent of WA 

businesses said they were constrained by a lack of 

workers, compared to 63 per cent in the September 

quarter 2005 and 44 per cent a year earlier. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
Environmental groups have raised concerns over 

possible ad hoc development of the Kimberley coast 

for proposed LNG export projects, favouring instead 

a common user “hub” for the processing and export 

of gas.

The National Heritage Listing of land previously set 

aside for gas processing on the Burrup Peninsula 

and export facilities on West Intercourse Island is 

expected to impact on their appeal to industry and 

the viability of future investment on the Burrup and 

at the Maitland Estate as processing and export 

hubs. The Department is also dealing with a range of 

other policy matters where the State’s economic and 

heritage interests coincide, including Barrow Island, 

Cape Range, Mitchell Plateau and the Great Western 

Woodlands.

During 2006–07, the Department assessed the 

resource and exploration potential of land parcels 

proposed by the Department of Environment and 

Conservation (DEC) for incorporation into various 

forms of conservation reserves. The geoscience and 

resource information within these assessments was 

used to inform policy advice within government with 

the objective of achieving a balance between resource 

development and biodiversity conservation. A particular 

focus of 2006–07 activities was a proposal that 54 

pastoral leases purchased by DEC be converted into 
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conservation reserves. Almost all of these former 

pastoral leases contain active Mining Act tenements 

(1350 tenements in total), 13 have resources classifi ed 

using the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) 

Code, and 12 contain advanced exploration projects. 

In 2007–08 Geo-Survey WA will continue to work with 

DEC offi cials in an attempt to facilitate future mining of 

resources within these former pastoral leases under 

stringent environmental conditions.

The Department has been actively engaged in whole 

of Government initiatives to progress climate change 

policy in Western Australia and will continue this 

engagement well into the future. A particularly 

relevant area in 2007/2008 will be the development 

by the Department of a Renewable Energy Industry 

Development Strategy.

The Department has been closely involved in the 

extensive water planning and management reforms 

by the State Government to refl ect the signifi cant 

policy and legislative changes proposed as a result 

of the State Water Plan, State Water Blueprint and 

implementation of the National Water Initiative. The 

Department has worked with all stakeholders as 

reforms have progressed, and is an active member of 

the State Water Council and Department of Water’s 

Inter-Departmental Committee that will assist in 

preparing the new water services and resources 

legislation in 2007-08. 

The Department’s involvement is intended to ensure 

that the reforms recognise that economic development 

in the minerals and mineral processing sectors is 

heavily reliant upon secure access to water. 

INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
International demand for mineral and petroleum 

commodities has driven demand for land and 

infrastructure to support new projects and expansions 

throughout the State. 

A series of mine, rail and port capacity expansions, 

particularly in the Pilbara, are presently under 

construction with unprecedented export increases 

planned. These increases have been identifi ed in the 

Pilbara Ports Study, together with the need for an 

additional major port. In the Mid West, several groups 

are proposing the construction of a deepwater port at 

Oakajee, and associated rail system, to support the 

emerging iron ore industry. 

Major oil and gas projects have also been announced 

for the Pilbara region with similar projects in the 

Browse Basin raising the possibility of onshore 

development in the West Kimberley region. The 

Government has responded by establishing a Northern 

Development Taskforce that is planning development 

to minimises the potential for adverse environmental 

and heritage impacts while ensure appropriate 

benefi ts for local communities. 

National Heritage Listing of land previously set aside 

for gas processing on the Burrup Peninsula and export 

facilities on West Intercourse Island has reduced their 

appeal to industry for future investment as processing 

and export hubs. The Government is reviewing the 

implications of this listing in the expectation that 

other processing sites and port facilities along the 

coast will now require further expansion to facilitate 

development.

In addition to industrial infrastructure associated 

with mining and petroleum developments, the 

Government is collaborating with Industry to support 

the provision of social infrastructure in affected 

towns. The establishment of the Pilbara Industry’s 

Community Council is an example of this collaboration 

with the potential for broader application to address 

social infrastructure needs, such as the release of 

residential land, the provision of electricity, potable 

water, schools and childcare facilities.

The availability of heavy and general industrial 

land, particularly near to Perth, remains a potential 

impediment to development. This availability is 

projected to deteriorate, so strategies are being 

implemented to ensure the provision of appropriate 

project ready industrial land.

INVESTMENT FACILITATION 
Strong international demand for mineral and 

petroleum commodities is placing pressure on 

investment facilitation services provided for major 

projects. Services provided by the Department to 

attract investment are under increasing pressure to 

prioritise opportunities according to the needs of an 

economy operating near capacity for inputs such as 

skilled labour and competitively prices energy.

Major project facilitation services are also 

experiencing unprecedented demand due to the 

large number of new and expansion projects being 

pursued across the State. Many of these projects 

are the subject of State Agreements that need to be 

developed or re-negotiated to accommodate issues 

such as capacity expansions, royalties, environmental 

regulation, local government rates and social benefi ts. 

Service delivery for investment facilitation is being 

maintained amid heightened workload pressures 

and the loss of selected key staff to major project 

proponents with greater prioritisation of services likely 

to be required in the future. 

INTERNATIONAL MARKET DEVELOPMENT
The WA Government maintains offi ces in China, 

Europe, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, 

the Middle East, South Korea, Taiwan Thailand and 

the United States. These offi ces promote Western 

Australia as an investment destination and support 

trade activities for WA businesses. They are 

experiencing a very heavy schedule of international 

activity that refl ects the investment attractiveness of 

Western Australia and the strong trade performance 

of the economy. This trend is expected to continue well 

into the future, driven primarily by strong growth in 

commodities demand from China and the Asia Pacifi c 

region.
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INDIGENOUS EMPLOYMENT
The strength in the resources sector has led 

to unprecedented opportunities for improving 

Indigenous employment and enterprise. Native 

Title agreements between industry and Indigenous 

communities are also increasingly leading to the 

potential for sustainable economic opportunities. 

Participation between the government, industry and 

Indigenous communities in the Pilbara Regional 

Partnership Agreements (RPAs), in particular, has led 

to the development of successful “work readiness” 

programs. Further RPAs, building on this success, are 

being progressively implemented across the State.

The Bilateral Agreement on Indigenous Affairs 

2006-2010 between the Australian Government and 

the State was signed in July 2006. Funding for the 

implementation of priority action plans under the 

Indigenous Economic Development Framework of the 

Bilateral Agreement has yet to be formalised.

INNOVATION
An increased Government and industry focus on 

encouraging innovation in the State’s industries 

is contributing to economic growth. Enhancing 

competitive advantage through innovation during a 

time of high economic growth is being encouraged 

by initiatives such as sponsorship of the Western 

Australian Inventor of the Year Award. This program 

prioritises the State’s innovative capacity across a 

range of industry and research sectors including 

Information Communications Technology (ICT), 

biotechnology, engineering, environment and health 

services.

Australia’s bid for the International Square Kilometre 

Array (SKA), a world class radio astronomy project, 

presents an outstanding opportunity to WA’s Science 

community and ICT industry. CSIRO have already 

committed to establishing a SKA pathfi nder facility 

in the State’s Mid West. The Western Australian 

Government is working closely with the Australian 

Government to lay the groundwork for the full 

international SKA project, with a decision on the fi nal 

site expected in 2011.

Further investment in the Australian Marine Complex 

confi rms the AMC’s international reputation as a 

technologically advanced integrated marine industrial 

complex. On top of the State Government’s current 

$174.3 million infrastructure upgrade, due for 

completion in 2009, ASC Pty Ltd has committed to 

building a submarine repair and maintenance facility, 

worth approximately $35 million, utilising the fl oating 

dock and transfer system to retrieve and launch 

Royal Australian Navy Collins Class submarines. 

These developments cement the future of Australian 

shipbuilding and maintenance fi rmly in Western 

Australia and place the AMC in a position to compete 

for contracts on the world stage.

The State’s super-yacht industry has tripled over 

the past decade and competition for facilities to 

accommodate them has intensifi ed, resulting in 

opportunities for new cruising destinations around 

the globe. The strength of the industry in WA will be 

further enhanced with funding of a proposed super-

yacht cluster facility at the Australian Marine Complex.

Support for major research facilities is critical to the 

future of the Western Australian economy. The WA 

Government has supported the Western Australian 

Marine Science Institution with $21 million over fi ve 

years to conduct a major research program which will 

assist decision making in conservation, development 

of the marine environment and understanding of the 

impact of climate change on the Indian Ocean for the 

future of Western Australia. 

The WA Government has also provided funding of 

$9.95 million to the Western Australian Institute 

for Medical Research (WAIMR) to support the 

establishment of an early stage clinical trials facility 

at Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital in Nedlands. This 

project will provide critical infrastructure for Western 

Australia’s local biotechnology sector and attract 

international and national companies to invest in WA. 

It will also leverage local expertise, providing the 

foundation to attract and retain medical talent for the 

benefi t of the Western Australian community.



4.0  DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE



INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION

To the Parliament of Western Australia

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

I have audited the accounts, fi nancial statements, controls and key performance indicators of the Department of Industry 
and Resources.

The fi nancial statements comprise the Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2007, and the Income Statement, Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, and Summary of Consolidated 
Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, a summary of signifi cant accounting policies 
and other explanatory Notes.

The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and effi ciency.

Director Generalʼs Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and the Treasurerʼs Instructions, and the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing and 
maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements and key 
performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and complying 
with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law.

Summary of my Role
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the fi nancial statements, 
controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This was done by testing selected samples of the audit 
evidence. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 
opinion. Further information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. Refer “http://www.audit.
wa.gov.au/pubs/Audit-Practice-Statement.pdf”.

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the fi nancial statements and key performance 
indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises that an audit does not examine all evidence and 
every transaction. However, my audit procedures should identify errors or omissions signifi cant enough to adversely 
affect the decisions of users of the fi nancial statements and key performance indicators.

Audit Opinion
In my opinion,

(i)  the fi nancial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the fi nancial position of the Department 
of Industry and Resources at 30 June 2007 and its fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the year ended on 
that date. They are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Treasurerʼs Instructions;

(ii)  the controls exercised by the Department provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions; and

(iii) the key performance indicators of the Department are relevant and appropriate to help users assess the 
Departmentʼs performance and fairly represent the indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2007.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
19 September 2007
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DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

The accompanying fi nancial statements of the Department of Industry and 

Resources have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 

Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present 

fairly the fi nancial transactions for the fi nancial year ending 30 June 2007 

and the fi nancial position as at 30 June 2007.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would 

render any particulars included in the fi nancial statements misleading or 

inaccurate.

Peter Della Mora     Jim Limerick

Chief Finance Offi cer    Accountable Offi cer



Restated

Note 2007 2006
    ($'000) ($'000)
COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 7 75 261       68 113        
Supplies and services 8 35 599       38 995        
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 9 3 325          3 347          
Finance costs 10  337             422            
Accommodation expenses 11 7 013          5 809          
Grants and subsidies 12 40 534       18 447        
Capital user charge 13 7 308          6 384          
Other expenses 14  91               146            
Cost of goods sold 16 -             1 088          
Inventory write-down to net realisable value 16 -              403            
Loss on disposal of non current assets 18 -              77               
Total cost of services 169 468     143 231      

Income
Revenue 
User charges and fees 15 22 160       20 203        
Sales 16 -             1 368          
Other revenue 17 4 812          2 047          
Total revenue 26 972       23 618        

Gains
Gain on disposal of non current assets 18  188            -              
Total Gains  188            -              

Total income other than income from State Government 27 160       23 618        

NET COST OF SERVICES 142 308     119 613      

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 19
Service Appropriation 146 923     109 096      
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 6 044          1 651          
Assets assumed -             1 844          
Resources received free of charge 1 801          1 562          
Total Income from State Government 154 768     114 153      

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 12 460       ( 5 460)

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses By Service' at page 51-52

 The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Restated
Note 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 38 22 183        14 963       
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20 1 588           297           
Inventories 21  71               72             
Receivables 23 3 606          4 686         
Amounts receivable for services 24 1 851          1 851         
Other current assets 25 1 079          1 106         
Non current assets classified as held for sale 22 10 307        -            

Total Current Assets 40 685        22 975       

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20  504             250           
Receivables 23 13 009        12 325       
Amounts receivable for services 24 8 161          7 391         
Property, plant, equipment and vehicles 26 80 382        78 283       
Intangible assets 27  36               127           

Total Non-Current Assets 102 092      98 376       

TOTAL ASSETS 142 777      121 351     

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 31 3 938          5 856         
Borrowings 32 4 811          1 366         
Other current liabilities 33 1 999          1 674         
Revenue received in advance 34  750             524           
Amounts due to the Treasurer 35 -             1 200         
Provisions 36 11 798        11 172       

Total current liabilities 23 296        21 792       

Non Current Liabilities
Borrowings 32  163            4 203         
Provisions 36 5 119          5 109         
Total Non-Current Liabilities 5 282          9 312         

TOTAL LIABILITIES 28 578        31 104       

Net Assets 114 199      90 247       

EQUITY 37
Contributed equity 60 864        58 908       
Reserves 54 074        44 538       
Accumulated deficiency (  739) ( 13 199)

Total Equity 114 199      90 247       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 142 777      121 351     

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 30 JUNE  2007

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Restated
Note 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000)

Balance of equity at start of period 90 247    88 585    

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 37
Balance at start of period 58 908    49 469    
Capital contribution 1 945      6 770      
Other contributions by owners  11          9 334      
Distributions to owners -          ( 6 665)
Balance at end of period 60 864    58 908    

RESERVES 37
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of period 44 538    39 794    
Gains from asset revaluation 9 536      4 744      
Balance at end of period 54 074    44 538    

ACCUMULATED DEFICIENCY 37
Balance at start of period ( 13 199) (  678)
Net adjustment on adoption of AIFRS -          ( 7 061)

Restated balance at start of period ( 13 199) ( 7 739)

Surplus/(deficit) for the period (2006 as restated) 12 460    ( 5 460)

Balance at end of period (  739) ( 13 199)

Balance of equity at end of period 114 199  90 247    

Total income and expense for the period (a) 21 996    (  716)

(a) The aggregate net amount attributable to each category of equity is: 2007 
surplus of $12,460k plus gains of $9,536k (2006 deficit of $5,460k plus gains 
of $4,744k).

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 2007 2006
($'000) ($'000)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 144 302      105 960       
Capital contributions 1 945          6 770           
Holding account drawdowns 1 851          1 501           
Cash transfer from other State Government agencies -              9 097           

Net cash provided by State Government 148 098      123 328       

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits ( 69 399) ( 64 493)
Supplies and services ( 34 832) ( 35 417)
Accommodation ( 6 794) ( 5 809)
Grants and subsidies ( 40 534) ( 23 027)
Capital user charge ( 7 308) ( 6 384)

Finance costs (a) (  341) (  669)
Other payments (  48) (  140)
GST payments on purchases ( 9 296) ( 6 266)

Receipts
Sale of goods and services -              1 368           
User charges and fees 23 629        19 261         
GST receipts on sales 1 687          1 593           
GST receipts from taxation authority 7 475          4 409           
Other receipts 3 979          2 115           

Net cash used in operating activities 38 ( 131 782) ( 113 459)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets ( 6 261) ( 3 713)
Proceeds from sale of non current assets  355             30               
Loans advanced -              (  275)
Proceeds from lendings  150            -               

Net cash used in investing activities (5 756) (3 958)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of borrowings ( 1 795) (  487)

Net cash provided / (used in) by financing activities (1 795) ( 487)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8 765          5 424           
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 15 510        10 086         
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 38 24 275        15 510         

(a) Finance costs are equivalent to borrowing costs in the Cash Flow Statement. Any unwinding of
discounts are included in the Income Statement but are not cash flows.

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Restated Restated Restated Restated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
COST OF SERVICES

Expenses 

Employee benefits expenses 31 892      28 733      10 620      8 715        10 579      10 558      12 915      12 108      

Supplies and services 10 814      12 197      5 520        6 785        7 387        7 590        7 609        8 964        

Depreciation and amortisation expense 1 185        1 369         311           284           427           455           516           509          

Finance costs  44             68             293           354          -            -            -            -            

Accommodation expenses 2 300        1 864        1 681        1 475        1 429        1 108         940           729          

Grants and subsidies 3 901        4 144        3 293        4 164         881          1 504         9               47            

Capital user charge 3 694        2 467         643          1 189        2 007        1 633         749           886          

Other expenses  31             66             6               16             28             31             7               20            

Cost of goods sold -            -            -            1 088        -            -            -            -            

Inventory write-down to net realisable value -            -            -            -            -            -            -             403          

Loss on disposal of non current assets -             22            -             20            -             9              -             11            

Total cost of services 53 861      50 931      22 366      24 091      22 739      22 888      22 744      23 677      

Income

Revenue

User fees & charges 13 385      12 891       965           465           168           293           88             64            

Sales -            -            -            1 272        -            -            -             96            

Other revenue 2 194         903          1 270         526          1 249         615           99             3              

Total revenue 15 579      13 794      2 235        2 263        1 417         908           187           163          

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets  54            -             49            -             21            -             28            -            

Total gains  54            -             49            -             21            -             28            -            

Total income other than income from State Government 15 633      13 794      2 284        2 263        1 438         908           214           163          

NET COST OF SERVICES 38 228 37 137 20 082 21 827 21 301 21 980 22 530 23 514

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 39 110      37 621      19 702      18 746      23 111      20 825      21 350      20 511      

Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 2 839         678           878           209           710           170          1 319         315          

Assets assumed -            -            -            -            -            -            -            1 844        

Resources received free of charge  521           452           470           408           204           177           266           230          

Total income from State Government 42 470      38 751      21 050      19 363      24 025      21 172      22 935      22 900      

Surplus/(deficit) for the period 4 242 1 614  968 (2 465) 2 724 ( 808)  405 ( 613)

Resource Services GeologicalIndustry Development 
Services

Investment

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Restated Restated Restated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
COST OF SERVICES

Expenses 

Employee benefits expenses 2 297               1 380               6 959               6 620               75 261             68 113             

Supplies and services 1 380                473                 2 890               2 986               35 599             38 995             

Depreciation and amortisation expense  73                    78                    813                  650                 3 325               3 347               

Finance costs -                   -                   -                   -                    337                  422                 

Accommodation expenses  192                  128                  471                  507                 7 013               5 809               

Grants and subsidies 32 375             8 455                75                    132                 40 534             18 447             

Capital user charge -                   -                    215                  209                 7 308               6 384               

Other expenses -                    4                      19                    8                      91                    146                 

Cost of goods sold -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1 088               

Inventory write-down to net realisable value -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    403                 

Loss on disposal of non current assets -                    15                   -                   -                   -                    77                   

Total cost of services 36 317 10 533 11 441 11 112 169 468 143 231

Income

Revenue

User fees & charges  19                    18                   7 535               6 471               22 160             20 203             

Sales -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1 368               

Other revenue -                   -                   -                   -                   4 812               2 047               

Total revenue  19  18 7 535 6 471 26 972 23 618

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets  36                   -                   -                   -                    188                 -                   

Total gains  36 -                   -                   -                    188 -                   

Total income other than income from State Government  55  18 7 535 6 471 27 160 23 618

NET COST OF SERVICES 36 262 10 515 3 906 4 640 142 308 119 613

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 39 207 8 487               4 443 2 906               146 923           109 096           

Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer  201  48                    97  231                 6 044               1 651               

Assets assumed -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1 844               

Resources received free of charge  340                  295                 -                   -                   1 801               1 562               

Total income from State Government 39 748             8 830               4 540               3 137               154 768           114 153           

Surplus/(deficit) for the period 3 486 (1 685)  634 (1 503) 12 460 (5 460)

Scientific Services TOTALScience and Innovation 
Promotion and Support

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2007 2007 2007 2006
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

DELIVERY OF SERVICES

Item 6 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 175 879 146 888 (28 991) 146 888 114 000 32 888

Section 25 transfer of service appropriation

- Resources Safety to DOCEP -                   -                   -                   -                   (12 849) 12 849

- Film Production Fund to Screen West -                   -                   -                   -                   (1 100) 1 100

- Office of Science from DPC -                   -                   -                   -                   8 488 (8 488)

- Project Approvals Co-Ordination Unit to DPC -                   ( 601) ( 601) ( 601) -                   ( 601)

Amount authorised by Other Statutes

- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  560  560 -                    560  544  16

- Salary & Allowances Tribunal Determinations -                    76  76  76  13  63

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 176 439 146 923 (29 516) 146 923 109 096 37 827

CAPITAL

Item 125 Capital Contribution 5 584 1 945 (3 639) 1 945 6 770 (4 825)

ADMINISTERED TRANSACTIONS

Item 7 Administered grants,subsidies and other transfer payments 49 120 57 228 8 108 57 228 41 677 15 551

Amount authorised by other statutes

 - Petroleum Submerged Lands Act 1982 21 498 14 573 (6 925) 14 573 18 497 (3 924)

Item 126 Administered capital appropriations 1 000 1 000 -                   1 000 2 100 (1 100)

Total administered transactions 71 618 72 801 1 183 72 801 62 274 10 527

GRAND TOTAL 253 641 221 669 (31 972) 221 669 178 140 43 529

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
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2007 2007 2007 2006
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Details of Expenditure by Service

Resource Services 51 942 53 861 1 919 53 861 50 931 2 930

Industry Development Services 19 318 22 366 3 048 22 366 24 091 (1 725)

Investment Services 24 197 22 739 (1 458) 22 739 22 888 ( 149)

Geological Services 22 080 22 744  664 22 744 23 677 ( 933)

Science and Innovation Promotion and Support 71 341 36 317 (35 024) 36 317 10 533 25 784

Scientific Services 9 539 11 441 1 902 11 441 11 112  329

Total Cost of Services 198 417 169 468 (28 949) 169 468 143 231 26 237

Less total income 20 452 27 160 6 708 27 160 23 618 3 542

Net Cost of Services 177 965 142 308 (35 657) 142 308 119 613 22 695

Adjustment for movement in cash balances and other accrual items (i) (1 526) 4 615 6 141 4 615 (10 517) 15 132

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 176 439           146 923           (29 516) 146 923 109 096           37 827

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 6 885 6 261 ( 624) 6 261 3 713 2 548

Loans advanced -                   -                   -                   -                    275 ( 275)

Repayment of borrowings  550  595  45  595  487  108

Adjustment for movement in cash balances and other funding sources (i) (1 851) (4 911) (3 060) (4 911) 2 295 (7 206)

Capital Contribution (appropriation) 5 584               1 945               (3 639) 1 945 6 770 (4 825)

(i)  Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation

Note 45 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2007 and between the actual results for 2006 and 2007.
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2007 2007 2007 2006
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

DETAILS OF INCOME ESTIMATES

Income disclosed as Administered Income
Territorial

Royalties: Petroleum - Commonwealth 720 500 656 833 (63 667) 656 833 609 803 47 030

Petroleum - State 81 999 53 682 (28 317) 53 682 71 422 (17 740)

Iron Ore 1 000 000 868 292 (131 708) 868 292 721 808 146 484

Alumina 63 500 25 678 (37 822) 25 678 43 500 (17 822)

Diamonds 57 500 84 189 26 689 84 189 69 960 14 229

Mineral sands 24 500 31 562 7 062 31 562 29 300 2 262

Nickel 99 500 206 525 107 025 206 525 93 029 113 496

Gold 125 000 104 586 (20 414) 104 586 91 623 12 963

Other 75 500 109 674 34 174 109 674 83 905 25 769

Lease rentals 42 500 63 065 20 565 63 065 63 455 ( 390)

Total Territorial 2 290 499        2 204 086        (86 413) 2 204 086        1 877 805        326 281
Regulatory Fees

Regulatory Fees -                   9 798 9 798 9 798 14 695 (4 897)

-                   9 798               9 798               9 798 14 695 (4 897)
Law courts

Fines Infringement penalties: -                   -                   -                   

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Other

Grants and Subsidies 7 600  500 (7 100)  500 -                    500

Appropriations 70 618 71 801 1 183 71 801 60 174 11 627

Other Revenue  140 2 439 2 299 2 439  642 1 797

GRAND TOTAL 2 368 857        2 288 624        (80 233) 2 288 624        1 953 316         335 308          

Note 45 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2007 and between the actual results for 2006 and 2007.
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1

2 Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

General

Early adoption of standards

3

(a)

The AASB has decided to maintain statements of accounting concepts (SAC 1 and SAC 2) and has continued to
revise and maintain accounting standards and the interpretations that are of particular relevance to the Australian
environment, especially those that deal more specifically with not-for-profit entity issues and/or do not have an
equivalent IASB Standard or Interpretation.

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriation. A net appropriation agreement between the
Treasurer and the Accountable Officer is in place to allow the Department to retain its operating revenue. Details of
expenditure and revenues retained as per the agreement are disclosed in the Summary of Consolidated Fund
Appropriations and Revenue Estimates.

The Department's mission is to advance the responsible development of industry and resources for the benefit of 
Western Australians.

The financial statements encompass all funds through which the Department controls resources to carry on its
functions.

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation
unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 �Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other
Pronouncements�. No Standards and Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are not yet effective
have been early adopted by the Department for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2007.

In the process of reporting on the Department as a single entity, all intra-entity transactions and balances have been
eliminated.

The Department�s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2007 have been prepared in accordance with
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), which comprise a Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the Framework) and Australian Accounting Standards
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations).

In preparing these financial statements the Department has adopted, where relevant to its operations, new and
revised Standards and Interpretations from their operative dates as issued by the AASB and formerly the Urgent
Issues Group (UIG).

The Australian Accounting Interpretations are adopted through AASB 1048 �Interpretation and Application of
Standards� and are classified into those corresponding to IASB Interpretations and those only applicable in Australia.

Summary of significant accounting policies

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Departmental mission and funding

The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statement of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer's instructions. Several
of these are modified by the Treasurer's Instructions to vary the application, disclosure, format and wording.  

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer's Instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation
of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. 

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

General statement
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DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Sale of goods

Rendering of services

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major
business activities as follows:

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership control transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

The reporting entity comprises the department and the related bodies listed at note 47 'Related Bodies'.

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Department�s accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed, where applicable, at
note 4 'Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies'.

Reporting Entity

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($'000).

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed at note 5 'Key sources of estimation uncertainty'.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS29 'Financial
Reporting by Government Departments' on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention,
modified by the revaluation of land and buildings which has been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 

UIG interpretation 1038 'Contribution by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities' requires transfers in
the nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (owners) as contributions by owners (at the
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions
(appropriations) have been designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer's instruction (TI) 955 'Contributions
by Owners to Wholly Owned 'Public Sector Entities' and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

Contributed Equity

Repayable Capital appropriations are recognised as liabilities. Refer to Note 19 'Income from State Government' for
further commentary on the application of TI 955.

Transfers of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.  See note 37 'Equity'.

The Department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government which are not
controlled by, nor integral to the function of the Department. These administered balances and transactions are not
recognised in the principal financial statements of the Department but schedules are prepared using the same basis
as the financial statements and are presented at note 51 'Administered expenses and income' and note 52
'Administered assets and liabilities'.

Income

Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of the
transaction.

57                   



DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Interest

Service Appropriation

Net Appropriation Determination

Grants and Other Contributions

Gains

(f)

(g)

(h)

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

Loans converted to grants

Property, Plant and Equipment

Translation of foreign currency transactions

The Department's range of assistance to industry includes loans, which are incrementally convertible to grants at
prescribed intervals upon the recipients meeting performance milestones. The loans are recognised as loans
receivable and an offsetting provision is made for the conversion of the loans to grants at the time of assistance.

Details of the retained revenues are disclosed in the Summary of Income and Expenses by Service.

Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. This includes gains arising on the
disposal of non current assets.

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that they be

expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the

balance sheet date, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged conditions are disclosed in the

notes.

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Department gains control of the
appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited into
the Department's bank account or credited to the holding account held at the Department of Treasury and Finance.
See note 19 'Income from State Government' for further details.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at fair value. Contributions of
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not
donated.

� Proceeds from user fees and charges;  The majority of revenue earned is from licences.

� Other departmental revenue, including grants and property revenue.

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate applicable on the date the transactions occur.
Exchange gains and losses are brought to account in determining the result for the year.

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more except for computer equipment costing $1,000 or
more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets are expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.
Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 and computer equipment less than $1,000 are
immediately expensed directly to the Income Statement (other than where items form part of a group of similar items
which are significant in total).

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the
contributions. Control is normally obtained upon their receipt.  

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the
control of the Department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2006-07 Budget Statements, The
Department retained $26.972 million in 2007 ($23.618 million in 2006) from the following:

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. (The effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset, is used where applicable).
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DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Initial recognition and measurement

Depreciation 

Buildings 50 Straight line

Furniture 5 Straight line

Office equipment 5 Straight line

Computer Desktop Laptops 3 Straight line 

Computer Servers 5 Straight line 

Computer software (a) 3-5 Straight line

Scientific Equipment 7 Straight line

Motor vehicles 3-5 Straight line

Plant and equipment 5-25 Straight line

(i) Intangible Assets

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

Where market evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing
use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use
assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the
asset, ie. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is dependent on using the depreciated
replacement cost, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the
net amount restated to the revalued amount.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use
basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the
evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefit.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which

are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by the Western Australian Land Information
Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not
differ materially from the asset's fair value at the balance sheet date.

Where market evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market
buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to
recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the
asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

Acquisitions of intangible assets over $1,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $1,000 or
more are capitalised and recognised at cost. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful
life. Costs incurred below this threshold is immediately expensed directly into the Income Statement. 

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is their fair
value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

After recognition as an asset, the Department uses the revaluation model for the measurement of land and buildings
and the cost model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less
accumulated depreciation on buildings and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and
equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Software 3 to 5 years

(j)

(k)

(l)

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is 
not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $1,000 is 
expensed in the year of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit
(estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets
controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each
class of intangible asset are:

Computer Software

The Department has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for the rent of office buildings where
the lessor effectively retains all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the items held under the operating
leases. Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to the Income Statement over the lease term as this is
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

Leases 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell and are presented separately in the Balance Sheet. Assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated or amortised.  

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset�s depreciation is materially understated,
where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of
assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption
or expiration of asset�s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

See note 28 �Impairment of assets� for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.

All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

See note 3(r) �Receivables� and note 23 �Receivables� for impairment of receivables.

Impairment of Assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at each balance
sheet date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable
amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset�s fair value less costs to sell and
depreciated replacement cost.

Non-Current Assets (or Disposal Groups) Classified as Held for Sale

Except for land held by the Minister and managed by the Department under the Industry Technology Development
Act, all land holdings of the Department are classified as Crown land. The Department for Planning and
Infrastructure (DPI) is the only agency with the power to sell that land. The Department will transfer the Crown land
to DPI when the land becomes available for sale.

Proprietary computer software is not capitalised as it is not owned by the Department. The Department merely pays
for a licence to use it. However, in-house developed software is capitalised and hence depreciated over a period of
three to five years (depending on the assessed useful life) once full costs have been determined.
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(m)

(n)

(o)

(p) Provisions

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date on national government
bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.

When assessing expected future payments, consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the long service leave
liability also considers the experience of employee departures and periods of service.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount. The Department only recognises a provision where there is
a present legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits is probable and can be measured reliably. Provisions are reviewed at each balance
sheet date.  See note 36 �Provisions�.

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave

The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the balance
sheet date is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the end of the balance
sheet date is measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave
liabilities are in respect of services provided by employees up to the balance sheet date.

See also note 19 �Income from State Government� and note 24 �Amounts receivable for services�.

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes restricted cash and cash
equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes
in value. Also includes non current cash refer note 20 (d).

The Department receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non-
cash cost of services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable)
that is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items such as leave entitlements and
asset replacement.

Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)

(i)  Provisions - Employee Benefits

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers the following superannuation schemes:

Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new members
or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new members.
The Department has no liabilities for superannuation charges under the Pension or the GSS Schemes as the liability
has been assumed by the Treasurer.  

       �  Loans and receivables (cash, cash equivalents and receivables); and

       �  Non trading financial liabilities (borrowings, payables, Treasurers Advance).

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction 
cost or face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial Instruments

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

The Department has two categories of financial instruments:
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(q)

(r)

Superannuation Expense

Receivables 

The GSS Scheme is a defined scheme for the purpose of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However,
apart from the transfer benefit, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent
contributions (defined contributions) made by the agency to GESB extinguishes the agency's obligation to the related
superannuation liability.

The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this does not constitute part of the
cost of services provided in the current year.

Defined benefit plans - in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements (i.e. current service cost and,
actuarial gains and losses) in the liabilities in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS transfer benefits are
recognised as expenses in the Income Statement. As these liabilities are assumed by the Treasurer (refer
note 3(p)(i)), a revenue titled �Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer� equivalent to the expense is recognised under
Income from State Government in the Income Statement.  See note 19 �Income from State Government�.

Defined contribution plans - in order to reflect the Department's true cost of services, the Department is funded for
the equivalent of employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme (excluding transfer benefits). These
contributions were paid to the GESB during the year and placed in a trust account administered by the GESB on
behalf of the Treasurer. The GESB subsequently paid these employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme
to the Consolidated Account.

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice less an allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e.
impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as
uncollectible are written off. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is
objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair
value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. See note 3(m) �Financial Instruments' and note 23 �Receivables�.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who are not members of either the Pension or the GSS
Schemes became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees
commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both
of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf
of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government�s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act
1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS
Schemes.

The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the Income Statement:

(a)  Defined benefit plans - Change in the unfunded employer�s liability (i.e. current service cost and, actuarial gains
or losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of current employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and
current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme;
and

(b)   Defined contribution plans - Employer contributions paid to the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS),
and the equivalent of employer contributions to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS).

Employment on-costs, including workers� compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-
costs are included as part of 'Other Expenses' and are not included as part of the Department�s �Employee benefits
expense�. The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'. See note 14 'Other Expenses' and
note 36 'Provisions'.

(ii)  Provisions - Other

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by the
Treasurer for the employer share.

Employment On-Costs 
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(s)

(t)

(u)

(v)

(w)

(x)

(y)

4

5

Rounding

Amounts Due to the Treasurer

Payables

Inventories 

Resources received free of charge or for nominal value

Comparative figures

Accrued salaries

The key estimates and assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year include:

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer note 20 'Restricted cash') consists of amounts paid annually into a
suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh
year when 27 pay days occur in that year instead of the normal 26.  No interest is received on this account.  

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified so as to be comparable with the figures presented in the
current financial year.  

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the Department becomes obliged to make future
payments as a result of a purchase of goods or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as they are
generally settled within thirty days.

Accrued salaries (refer note 33) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year as the
end of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year.  Accrued salaries 
are settled within a few days of the financial year end. The Department considers the carrying amount approximates
net fair value.

Impairment of Intangible assets

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policy

There were no judgements made in the process of applying accounting policies that could have a significant effect
for the 2006/07 financial year.

The Department assesses impairment of intangible assets at each balance sheet date. Where there is an indication
of impairment (such as falling replacement costs), the recoverable amount (depreciated replacement cost) of the
intangible asset is estimated.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are valued at
net realisable value.

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the
nearest dollar.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most
appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first in first out basis.

Resources received free of charge or for nominal value which can be reliably measured are recognised as income
and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value.

The amount due to the Treasurer is in respect of a Treasurer's Advance. Initial recognition and measurement, and
subsequent measurement is at the amount repayable. Although there is no interest charged the amount repayable
is equivalent to fair value as the period of the borrowing is less than 12 months and therefore discounting is not
material.  See note 35 �Amounts due to the Treasurer�.
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6

1

2

3

2005-1 

2005-5

2006-1

2006-3 

2006-4

2007-2 

UIG 5 

UIG 6 

UIG 7 

UIG 8

�Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 134]�

�Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from

AASB Interpretation 12 [AASB 1, AASB 117, AASB 118, AASB 120,
AASB 121, AASB 127, AASB 131 & AASB 139]� � paragraph 9

�Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and

Environmental Rehabilitation Funds�

�Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market � Waste

Electrical and Electronic Equipment�

The following Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are not applicable to the Department as they have
no impact or do not apply to not-for-profit entities:

AASB 2005-9 �Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 4, AASB 1023, AASB 139 & AASB 132]�
(Financial guarantee contracts). The amendment deals with the treatment of financial guarantee contracts, credit
insurance contracts, letters of credit or credit derivative default contracts as either an �insurance contract� under
AASB 4 �Insurance Contracts� or as a �financial guarantee contract� under AASB 139 �Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement�. The Department does not currently undertake these types of transactions, resulting
in no financial impact in applying the Standard. 

and Interpretations

UIG Interpretation 9 �Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives�. This Interpretation requires an embedded derivative
that has been combined with a non-derivative to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a
derivative in certain circumstances. At balance sheet date, the Department has not entered into any contracts as
specified in the Interpretation resulting in no impact in applying the Interpretation.

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting
Interpretations effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2006:

     Estimating useful life of key assets.

UIG Interpretation 4 �Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease� as issued in June 2005. This
Interpretation deals with arrangements that comprise a transaction or a series of linked transactions that may not
involve a legal form of a lease but by their nature are deemed to be leases for the purposes of applying AASB 117
�Leases�. At balance sheet date, the Department has not entered into any arrangements as specified in the
Interpretation, resulting in no impact in applying the Interpretation.

The following are other sources of estimation of uncertainty:

     Discount rates used in estimating provisions.

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

AASB Standards

�Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 Financial

Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies�

�Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard� (AASB 139 - Cash flow hedge
accounting of forecast intragroup transactions)

'Scope of AASB 2'

�Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1 & AASB 139)�

�Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 121]�

�Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1045]�
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

1

2

3

   - AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

   - AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements
   - AASB 107 Cash Flow Statements
   - AASB 111 Construction Contracts
   - AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment
   - AASB 138 Intangible Assets
   - Interpretation 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities
   - Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements

4

5

AASB 101 �Presentation of Financial Statements�. This Standard was revised and issued in October 2006 so that
AASB 101 has the same requirements as IAS 1 �Presentation of Financial Statements� (as issued by the IASB) in
respect of for-profit entities. The Department is a not-for-profit entity and consequently does not expect any financial
impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

AASB 2005-10 �Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117,
AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023, & AASB 1038)�. The amendments are as a result of the issue
of AASB 7 �Financial Instruments: Disclosures�, which amends the financial instrument disclosure requirements in
these standards. The Department does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The
Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

AASB 7 �Financial Instruments: Disclosures� (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10 �Amendments

to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1,
AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]�). This Standard requires new disclosures in relation to financial instruments.
The Standard is considered to result in increased disclosures, both quantitative and qualitative of the Department�s
exposure to risks, enhanced disclosure regarding components of the Department�s financial position and
performance, and possible changes to the way of presenting certain items in the financial statements. The
Department does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be
applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation
unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 �Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other
Pronouncements�. Consequently, the Department has not applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and
Australian Accounting Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. These will be applied from their
application date: 

AASB 2007-6 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 123 [AASB 1, AASB 101,
AASB 107, AASB 111, AASB 116 & AASB 138 and Interpretations 1 & 12]'. The revision of AASB 123 necessitates
consequential amendments the following pronouncements:

The amendments principally remove references to expensing borrowing costs on qualifying assets, as AASB 123
was revised to require such borrowing costs to be capitalised. The Authority does not expect any financial impact
when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2009.

AASB Interpretation 4 �Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease [revised]�. This Interpretation was
revised and issued in February 2007 to specify that if a public-to-private service concession arrangement meets the
scope requirements of AASB Interpretation 12 �Service Concession Arrangements� as issued in February 2007, it
would not be within the scope of Interpretation 4. At balance sheet date, the Department has not entered into any
arrangements as specified in the Interpretation or within the scope of Interpretation 12, resulting in no impact when
the Interpretation is first applied. The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2008.
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6

7

AASB

AASB 8

AASB 1049 

AASB 2007-1 

AASB 2007-2 

AASB 2007-3 

AASB 2007-7

Interpretation 10 

Interpretation 11 

The following amendments and Interpretations are not applicable to the Department as they will have no impact or do
not apply to not-for-profit entities:

Standards and

�Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation
12 [AASB 1, AASB 117, AASB 118, AASB 120, AASB 121, AASB 127, AASB 131
& AASB 139]� � paragraphs 1 to 8 

�Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8 [AASB 5,
AASB 6, AASB 102, AASB 107, AASB 119, AASB 127, AASB 134, AASB 136,
AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]� 

Interpretations

�AASB 2 � Group and Treasury Share Transactions�

�Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation
11 [AASB 2]�

�Operating Segments�

�Financial Reporting of General Government Sectors by Governments�

�Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment'

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards following the issuance, in
April 2007, of AASB 2007-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from ED 151 and Other Amendments [AASB 1, AASB 2, AASB 4, AASB 5,

AASB 107 & AASB 128]'

AASB Interpretation 129 �Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures [revised]�. This Interpretation was revised
and issued in February 2007 to be consistent with the requirements in AASB Interpretation 12 �Service Concession
Arrangements� as issued in February 2007. Specific disclosures about service concession arrangements entered
into are required in the notes accompanying the financial statements, whether as a grantor or an operator. At
balance sheet date, the Department has not entered into any public-to-private service concession arrangements
resulting in no impact when the Interpretation is first applied. The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. 

AASB Interpretation 12 �Service Concession Arrangements�. This Interpretation was issued in February 2007 and
gives guidance on the accounting by operators (usually a private sector entity) for public-to-private service
concession arrangements. It does not address the accounting by grantors (usually a public sector entity). It is
currently unclear as to the application of the Interpretation to the Department if and when public-to-private service
concession arrangements are entered into in the future. At balance sheet date, the Department has not entered into
any public-to-private service concession arrangements resulting in no impact when the Interpretation is first applied.
The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008.
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2007 2006

($'000) ($'000)

7 Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries (a)  54 888          53 786         

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)  5 944            5 562           

Superannuation - defined benefit plans (c) (d)  6 044            1 651           

Long service leave (e)  2 310            2 198           

Annual leave (e)  6 075            4 916           
 75 261          68 113         

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

8 Supplies and services
Consultants and contractors  18 538          20 362         
Advertising and promotion  1 912            2 227           
Travel  2 061            2 270           
Communication  1 353            1 495           
Consumables  3 598            4 278           
Maintenance  1 893            1 380           
Lease Payments   96                97              
Insurance   193               272             
Printing   578               961             
Other staff costs  2 187            2 069           
Other  3 190            3 584           

 35 599          38 995         

9 Depreciation and Amortisation 
Depreciation
Buildings   704               846             
Furniture, plant and equipment   184               171             
Computer hardware and software  1 644            1 616           
Scientific equipment   651               510             
Motor vehicles   51                55              

Total Depreciation 3 234            3 198            

Amortisation
Intangible Software   91                149             

Total Amortisation  91                149              

Total Depreciation and Amortisation  3 325            3 347           

10 Finance costs
Interest paid   337               422             

  337               422             

11 Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals  2 857            1 862           
Repairs and maintenance   837              1 035           
Other accommodation expenses  3 319            2 912           

 7 013            5 809           

Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme and Gold State (pre transfer benefit).

An equivalent notional income is also recognised (see note 19 'income from State
government').

Includes a superannuation component.

Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 14 'Other
Expenses'. The employment on-costs liability is included at note 36 'Provisions'.

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax
component.
Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (contributions paid).
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2007 2006

($'000) ($'000)

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

12 Grants and subsidies
Industry Development Incentives  5 622            6 127           
Regional Development Commission Aboriginal Economic Development Program -                 560             
Aboriginal Enterprise Development Schemes -                 809             
ASI Groyne Buyback Agreement Rental Subsidy   539               519             
Resource Projects   117               147             
Indigenous Economic Development Strategy 1 168            -               
Indigenous Economic Support Scheme 1 116            -               
Project Approvals   518               899             
Goldfields Lateral Gas Pipeline land acquisition program -                 386             
Office of Science & Innovation - Grant Programs  30 864          8 457           
Other   590               543             

 40 534          18 447         

13 Capital user charge
Capital user charge  7 308            6 384           

 7 308            6 384           

14 Other expenses 
Movement in Provision for doubtful debts  66               (  6)
Net loss on currency exchange   19                25              

Employment on-costs (a)   6                  127             
  91                146             

(a)

15 User charges and fees 
Petroleum  6 161            5 833           
Prospecting, exploration and other mining  6 915            6 194           
Chemistry Centre - Private sector  4 162            3 232           
Chemistry Centre - Government sector  3 371            3 217           
Administration  1 551            1 727           

 22 160          20 203         

16 Sale of goods (gross)
Publications -                 95              
Land -                1 273           

-                1 368           

Trading profit

Publications
Sales (gross) -                 95              
Cost of Sales:

Opening inventory -                 391             
Purchases -                 12              
Inventory written down to net realisable value -               (  403)

-               -               
Closing inventory -               -               

Cost of Goods Sold -               -               
Trading profit - publications -                95               

The charge was a levy applied by government for the use of its capital. In 2006-07, the final
year in which the charge was levied, a single payment was made equal to the appropriation for
2006-07 less any adjustment relating to 2005-06.

Includes workers� compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs
liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at
note 36 �Provisions�. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave
are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.
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Land inventory
Sales (gross) -                1 273           
Cost of sales:

Opening inventory -                2 760           
Reclassification -               ( 1 672)

-                1 088           
Closing inventory -               -               

Cost of Goods sold -               1 088            
Trading profit - Land Inventory -                185              

Total Trading profit -                 280             

17 Other revenues 
Grants received  2 598             200             
Property revenue  1 281            1 083           
Interest -                 122             
Loan discount unwound   834             -               
Miscellaneous Revenue   99                642             

 4 812            2 047           

18 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Costs of Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Plant equipment and vehicles   167               107             

Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Plant equipment and vehicles   355               30              

Net gain/(loss) on disposal  188              (  77)

19 Income from  State Government
Appropriation received during the year:

Service appropriations (a)  146 923        109 096       

Superannuation  (b)  6 044            1 651           
Total liabilities assumed by the Treasurer  6 044            1 651           

Land and Buildings (e) -                1 844           
Total assets assumed -                1 844           

Housing and Works
 - property management services -                 15              

State Solicitors Office
 - legal services   832              1 224           

Department of Treasury and Finance
 - procurement services   336             -               

Department of Land Information
 - land registration dealings, land information and products   633               323             

 1 801            1 562           

See note 3(u) 'inventories and note 21 'inventories'

The following liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer during the financial year.

The following assets have been assumed from other state government agencies during the

financial year (c) & (d)

Resources received free of charge has been determined on the basis of the following estimates

provided by agencies (d).
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

20 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current

Suspense account (a)   50                55              

Forest Residue Utilisation Levy Trust Fund (b)  56                 60              

Australia China Natural Gas Technology Partnership Trust Fund (c)  1 482             182             
 1 588             297             

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense account (d)   504               250             
  504               250             

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

AASB 101.57(d) requires cash and cash equivalents to be classified as current assets
unless it is restricted in its use beyond twelve months. Accordingly, this suspense
account will be non-current for 10 out of 11 years.

The balance in the suspense account represents funds received close to end of year but
not transferred to Treasury until after year end. 

The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is only a notional revenue
to offset the notional superannuation expense reported in respect of current employees
who are members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who have a transfer
benefit entitlement under the Gold State Scheme.

The account is used for the purpose of funding studies and programs which add value to
forest residue.

The trust is to hold funds for the purpose of training Chinese managers from the natural
gas industry in China, as well as joint Australia/China research programs. Training will be
conducted in both countries.

The amount held in this suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting
the 27th pay  in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. 

Where the Treasurer or other entity has assumed a liability, the Department recognises
revenues equivalent to the amount of the liability assumed and an expense relating to the
nature of the event or events that initially gave rise to the liability. From 1 July 2002 non-
discretionary non-reciprocal transfers of net assets (ie. restructuring of administrative
arrangements) have been classified as Contributions by Owners (CBOs) under TI 955 and
are taken directly to equity. Discretionary transfers of assets between State Government
agencies are reported as assets assumed/(transferred) under Income from State
Government.

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal consideration,
the Department recognises revenues (except where the contributions of assets or
services are in the nature of contributions by owners in which case the Department shall
make a direct adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or fair
value of those services that can be reliably determined and which would have been
purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or
expenses, as applicable.

Land and buildings at Carlisle and Dianella were first recognised and brought directly to
Contributed Equity in 2005/06. In 2006/07, these have been reclassified as Income from
State Government and the comparatives restated accordingly. The reclassification has
reduced the 2005/06 deficit from $7,304 to $5,460.  See also note 37 (c).

Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of services delivered.
The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The
receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any
agreed increase in leave liability during the year.
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21 Inventories
Current
Inventories held for resale:

Chemistry Centre supplies (at cost)   71                72              
 71                72               

22 Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Opening balance
Land -                2 760           
Buildings -               -               

-                2 760           

Assets reclassified as held for sale 

Land  (a)  (b) 4 212            ( 1 672)
Buildings 6 095            -               

10 307          ( 1 672)

Total assets classified as held for sale
Land  4 212            1 088           
Buildings  6 095           -               

 10 307          1 088           
Less assets sold 
Land -               ( 1 088)
Buildings -               -               

-               ( 1 088)

Closing balance
Land  4 212           -               
Buildings  6 095           -               

 10 307         -               

(a) 

(b)

23 Receivables
Current
Trade debtors  1 900            2 961           
Other debtors   75                183             
Provision for doubtful debts (  55) (  54)

Loans and advances (a)   137               181             
GST receivable  1 550            1 416           

 3 606            4 686           

Non-current

Loans and advances (a)  14 421          17 023         
Provision for conversion of loans to grants ( 1 412) ( 4 698)

 13 009          12 325         
(a)

See also note 3(k) �Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale� and note
18 �Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets�.

The carrying amount of loans receivable approximates their net fair values.

The 2005/06 reclassification represented (i) adjustments on transition to AIFRS that were taken
direct to Equity, and (ii) land at Technology Park reclassified to Property, Plant and Equipment
as a result of the 3 year plan to redevelop the land in accordance with the Technology Precinct
Management Plan. Therefore the land was no longer being actively marketed for sale.

For 2006/07, land and buildings held by the Department at Waterford are subject to negotiations
for sale which is expected to occur within the next 6 months. The values reported represent the
valuation undertaken during sale negotiations and are the most recent valuations. 
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24 Amounts receivable for services
Current  1 851            1 851           
Non-current  8 161            7 391           

 10 012          9 242           

25 Other assets
Current
Refundable rental bonds on overseas accommodation   65                284             
Prepayments  1 014             822             

 1 079            1 106           

26 Property, plant, equipment and vehicles
Freehold land - at fair value (a)  39 066          37 049         

Buildings - at fair value (a)  26 294          34 136         

Accumulated depreciation (b) -               -               
Total Buildings 26 294 34 136 

Furniture, plant and equipment - at cost 3 484 1 299 
Accumulated depreciation (1 136) (1 046)

 2 348             253             

Computer hardware and software - at cost  9 236            8 255           
Accumulated depreciation (6 277) (5 906)

2 959 2 349 

Scientific equipment - at cost 8 862 8 516 

Accumulated depreciation (6 029) (5 888)
2 833 2 628 

Total equipment  8 140            5 230           

Vehicles - at cost  281  281 
Accumulated depreciation ( 169) ( 192)

 112  89 

Works In Progress (Note 29) 6 770 1 779 

Total of property, plant, equipment and vehicles  80 382          78 283         

(a)

To ensure the valuations provided by Valuation Services were compliant at 30 June 2007
with the fair value requirements under AASB 116, Valuation Services provided the
Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) with information that tracked the general
movement in the market value of land and in building construction costs from the 1 July
2006 (the date of valuation) to 31 March 2007. DTF reviewed the information and
determined that the valuations provided by Valuation Services (as at 1 July 2006) were
compliant with fair value requirements for 30 June 2007 reporting without further
adjustment.

This asset represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. See note 3 (o)
'Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)'. It is restricted in that it can only be used for
asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

Freehold land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2006 by the Western Australian
Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during
the year ended 30 June 2007 and recognised at 30 June 2007. In undertaking the
revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land:
$28,987,834 and buildings: $16,962,031. For the remaining balance, fair value of land and
buildings was determined on the basis of existing use and depreciated replacement cost.
See note 3(h) �Property, Plant and Equipment�.
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(b)

27 Intangible assets 
Computer software
At cost   500               564             
Accumulated amortisation ( 464) ( 437)

 36  127 

Computer software

Carrying amount at start of year   127               213             

Reclassification -                 145             

Disposals -               ( 82)

Amortisation expense ( 91) ( 149)

Carrying amount at end of year  36  127 

28  Impairment of assets

29 Works in progress
Kalgoorlie Complex Stage 2   237               122             

Mineral House Air conditioning Upgrade (a) -                1 657           
Native Vegetation Clearing System   614             -               
Emits integrated Customer project  1 087           -               
Technology Park Bentley Infrastructure Development  4 570           -               
Integrated Spatial Data Infrastructure   262             -               

 6 770            1 779           

(a) The upgrade was completed in November and the asset was transferred into the asset
register at a value of $2.1m.

AASB 116 allows 2 alternative treatments of accumulated depreciation on revaluation of
assets. The net basis was used in accordance with Treasurers Instruction 954. There was
no retrospective adjustment to depreciation.

There were no indications of impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
at 30 June 2007.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the
reporting period and at reporting date there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
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30 Reconciliation of non-current assets

As at 30 June 2007
Land Buildings at

fair value
Furniture 

and
equipment

Computer 
hardware 

and 
software

Scientific 
equipment

Vehicles Works In 
Progress

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

37 049       34 136        253           2 349         2 628          89             1 779         78 283       
-            -             187           2 367          856            97             2 764         6 271         
-            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            
-            -            (  31) (  113) -            (  23) -            (  167)

( 4 212) ( 6 095) -            -            -            -            -            ( 10 307)
( 3 555)  118           2 123         -            -            -            1 314         -            

9 784         ( 1 161) -            -            -            -             913           9 536         
-            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            
-            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            
-            (  704) (  184) ( 1 644) (  651) (  51) -            ( 3 234)

39 066       26 294       2 348         2 959         2 833          112           6 770         80 382       

As at 30 June 2006
Land Buildings at

fair value
Furniture 

and
equipment

Computer 
hardware 

and 
software

Scientific 
equipment

Vehicles Works In 
Progress

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

36 556       33 177        663           3 042         2 320          166           1 003         76,927
-            -             165           1 575          809           -            1 701         4,250

( 1 852) (  594) (  128) (  519)  9               (  22) (  925) (4,031)
-            -            (  276) (  133) -            -            -            (409)
-            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            
-            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            

2 345         2 399         -            -            -            -            -            4,744
-            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            
-            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            
-            (  846) (  171) ( 1 616) (  510) (  55) -            (3,198)

37 049       34 136        253           2 349         2 628          89             1 779         78 283       

(a)

(b) 

Revaluation increments

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the current and previous 
financial year are set out below:

Impairment Losses (b)

Impairment losses reversed (b)

Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

Carrying amount at the start of year
Additions

Transfers (a)

Disposals
Classified as held for 
Reclassification
Revaluation increments

Impairment Losses (b)

Except for land held by the Minister and managed by the Department under the Industry Technology
Development Act, all land holdings of the Department are classified as Crown land. The Department
for Planning and Infrastructure (DPI) is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The
Department will transfer the Crown land to DPI when the land becomes available for sale.

Impairment Losses 
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end 

Recognised in the Income Statement. Where an asset measured at cost is written-down to
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the Income Statement. Where an asset
measured at fair value is written-down to recoverable amount, the loss is accounted for as a
revaluation decrement.

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Carrying amount at the start of year
Additions

Transfers (a)

Other Disposals
Classified as held for sale
Reclassification
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2007 2006

($'000) ($'000)

31 Payables
Current

Trade payables 3 938 5 856 
3 938 5 856 

32 Borrowings
Current:

WA Land Corp (Groyne Buyback Agreement)   200               200             
WA Treasury Corporation  3 840             395             
WA Land Corp (Enterprise Units Development Agreement)   771               771             

 4 811            1 366           
Non-current:

WA Land Corp (Groyne Buyback Agreement)   163               363             
WA Treasury Corporation -                3 840           

 163 4 203 

Total 4 974 5 569 

33 Other liabilities
Accrued Salaries   259              1 077           
Accrued expenses  1 231             280             
Accrued interest payable   66                70              
Other Liabilities   443               247             

 1 999            1 674           

34 Revenue received in advance
Grants held in trust for research projects   740               514             
Other   10                10              

  750               524             

35 Amounts due to the Treasurer
Amounts advanced - Treasurer's Advance -                1 200           

36 Provisions
Current 

Employee benefits provisions

Annual leave (a)  5 448            5 319           

Long service leave (b)  6 252            5 760           
 11 700          11 079         

Other provisions

Employment on-costs Provision (c)   98                93              
  98                93              

 11 798          11 172         
Non-current

Employee benefits provisions

Long service leave (b)  5 004            4 976           
Deferred salary scheme  72  91 

 5 076            5 067           

Other provisions

Employment on-costs Provision (c)   43                42              
  43                42              

 5 119            5 109           

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
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(a)

 3 637            3 339           

 1 811            1 980           
 5 448            5 319           

(b)

 4 310            4 383           
 6 946            6 353           

 11 256          10 736         

(c)

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year                135                143 
Additional provisions recognised   66                56              
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits ( 60) ( 64)
Carrying amount at end of year   141               135             

37 Equity

Contributed equity

Balance at the start of the year  58 908          49 469         

Contributions by owners

Capital contributions  (a)  1 945            6 770           

Transfer of net assets from other agencies (a)

Office of Science from Premier and Cabinet -                9 334           
Land, Buildings and Equipment from DOCEP   11              -               

Total contributions by owners  1 956            16 104         

Distributions to owners

Transfer of net assets to other agencies (b)

Skills Migration Unit to Small Business Development -               ( 200)
Land, Buildings and Equipment to DOCEP -               (6 465)

Total distributions to owners -               (6 665)

Balance at end of the year  60 864          58 908         

Within 12 months of balance sheet date

More than 12 months of balance sheet date
Within 12 months of balance sheet date

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate
that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual
settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

More than 12 months of balance sheet date

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The Government
holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation
reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of
employment on-costs including superannuation and WorkCover premiums. The provision is the
present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding
of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed at note 14 'Other expenses'. 
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Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve 

Balance at the start of the year  44 538          39 794         
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)
   Land 10 697  2 345           
   Buildings (1 161)  2 399           
Balance at the end of the year  54 074          44 538         

Accumulated surplus/ (deficit)

Balance at the start of the year (13 199) ( 678)
Net Adjustment on adoption of AIFRS -               (7 061)
Restated balance at start of period (13 199) (7 739)

Result for the year (c) 12 460 (5 460)
Balance at the end of the year ( 739) (13 199)

Total equity  114 199        90 247         

(a)

(b)

(c)

($'000)
 1 844             
 1 844             

38 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of cash

Cash on hand  42  42 
Operating account 22 141 14 921 
Cash and cash equivalents 22 183          14 963          

Restricted cash assets (refer note 20)  2 092             547             

 24 275          15 510         

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation
of non-current assets, as described in accounting policy note 3(h).

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the
related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:

Capital Contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net
assets from other State government agencies have been designated as contributions by owners
in Treasurer�s Instruction TI 955 and are credited directly to equity.

UIG 1038 requires that where the transferee accounts for a transfer as a contribution by owner,
the transferor must account for the transfer as a distribution to owners. Consequently, non-
discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets to other State government agencies are
distribution to owners and are debited directly to equity.

Decrease in Contributed equity

Effect on 2006
Increase in Income from State Government

Some land and buildings valued at $1.8m were not recognised as property, plant and equipment 
of the Department prior to 2005/06.  This is due to the fact that the land and buildings were not 
captured on the valuation report received from Valuation Services. In 2005/06 these assets 
were brought to account as a contribution from owners instead of revenue.  In 2006/07, the prior 
period financial statements have been restated to reflect this reclassification.  The effect of 
restatement is summarised below.
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Net cost of service (142 308) (119 613)

Non cash items
Superannuation  6 044            1 651           
Depreciation and amortisation expense  3 325            3 347           
Resources received free of charge  1 801            1 562           
Write down of Inventory to net realisable value -                403              
Work-off of loan   44              -               
Loan discount unwound ( 833) -               
Net (gain) / loss on disposal of non-current assets ( 188)  77 

Decrease/(Increase) in assets
Accounts receivable 1 170 (1 196)
Inventory  1 1 101 
Other assets  27 1 097 

(Decrease)/Increase in liabilities
Accounts payable (1 918) (3 683)
Other liabilities  325 1 077 
Revenue received in advance  226  68 
Provisions - Employee entitlements  636  914 
Net GST payments ( 134) ( 264)

Net cash used in operating activities (Statement of Cash Flows) (131 782) (113 459)

39 Resources provided free of charge

MERIWA (Building services, parking, conferences) 25 14

40 Commitments for expenditure
Capital expenditure commitments

Within 1 year 18 095 4 526 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 7 369 2 900 
Later than 5 years -               -               

 25 464          7 426           

The capital commitments include amounts for:
Building 14 117 3 764 
Computer hardware and software 8 441 3 562 
Furniture, plant and equipment 2 906  100 

25 464 7 426 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided/(used in)
operating activities

During the year the following resources were provided to other agencies free of
charge for functions outside the normal operations of the Department:

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

At the reporting date the Department had fully drawn on all financing activities, details of which
are disclosed in the financial statements.
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Lease commitments

Within 1 year 2 764 3 264 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 7 547 10 319 
Later than 5 years 5 006 7 479 

 15 317         21 062 
Representing:
Non-cancellable operating leases  15 317         21 062 

41 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities:

Contingent assets:

42 Events occurring after the balance sheet date

During the year the Department identified 16 potential contaminated sites of which three are
suspected sites as at the reporting date. The Department is unable to assess the likely outcome
of the classification process, and accordingly, it is not practicable to estimate the potential
financial effect or to identify the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflows.
Whilst there is no possibility of reimbursement of any future expenses that may be incurred in
the remediation of these sites, the Department may apply for funding from the Contaminated
Sites Management Account to undertake further investigative work or to meet remediation costs
that may be required.

From August 1, 2007 the Chemistry Centre, a division within DOIR, has become a statutory
authority. DOIR will continue to provide some corporate service support to the Chemistry
Centre after this date.

Contaminated sites

The department has a number of property leases for its operations both within the state and for
overseas representative offices. The leases have various terms and conditions and expiry
dates including rent reviews.

In addition to the liabilities included in the financial statements, the department has the following
contingent liabilities

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Department is required to report known and
suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In
accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the
environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated �

remediation required or possibly contaminated � investigation required, the Department may
have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

Commitments in relation to leases contracted at the balance sheet date but not recognised in
the financial statements are payable as follows:

There are no known contingent assets.

These commitments are exclusive of GST.
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43 Remuneration of senior officers
Remuneration

2007 2006
$10 001 to $20 000 1 -
$20 001 to $30 000 -   3                   
$50 001 to $60 000 - -
$60 001 to $70 000 1 -
$90 001 to $100 000 1   1                   
$100 001 to $110 000 -   1                   
$110 001 to $120 000 -   5                   
$120 001 to $130 000 8   10                 
$130 001 to$140 000 5   5                   
$140 001 to $150 000 2   2                   
$150 001 to $160 000 -   2                   
$170 001 to $180 000 2 -
$180 001 to $190 000 2 -
$200 001 to $210 000 1   1                   
$210 001 to $220 000 1 -
$220 001 to $230 000 1 -
$240 001 to $250 000 1 -
$300 001 to $310 000 -   1                   
$420 001 to $430 000 1 -

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 4 197 3 874 

44 Remuneration of Auditor

Remuneration to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:

  116               105             Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators.   

The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits
and other benefits  for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in
respect of senior officers.

80                         



45 Explanatory Statement

2007 2007
Estimate Actual Variation
($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

(a)

Net amount appropriated to deliver services  175 879      146 888     ( 28 991)

Total appropriations provided to deliver services  176 439      146 923     ( 29 516)

Capital contribution  5 584          1 945         ( 3 639)

Administered grants, subsidies and other transfer payments  49 120        57 228        8 108        

Petroleum (Submerged Land) Act 1982  21 498        14 573       ( 6 925)

Details of Expenditure by Service

Industry Development Services  19 318        22 366        3 048        

Investment Services  24 197        22 739       ( 1 458)

The 2006-07 Actual is greater than the 2006-07 Budget mainly due to one off
funding for Access 31 of $0.9 million and expenditure of $1.95 million in the
areas of Technology Incubator Program, Commercialisation Scheme, WA
Inventor of the Year and Supporting Biotechnology.

The shortfall in expenditure when compared to budget is due to staff
vacancies and difficulties in attracting and retaining staff in an economy that
has a shortage of professional and skilled labour together with under
expenditure by the Australia China Natural Gas Technology Partnership Fund
which will transpire later in the Funds remaining nine years.

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and
expense as presented in the financial statement titled "Summary of
Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates" are shown
below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or
$5 million. 

Significant variances between estimates and actual  for 2007 - Total 
Appropriation to deliver services

The reduction in appropriation is mainly due to repositioning of grant funding
to the out years for Science and Innovation, Promotion and Support (-$32m)
partly offset by additional funding for the WA Government Overseas Office
Network (+$2m) and CSA Wages Outcome (+$2m).

The reduction in appropriation is mainly due to repositioning of grant funding
to the out years for Science and Innovation, Promotion and Support (-$32m)
partly offset by additional funding for the WA Government Overseas Office
Network (+$2m) and CSA Wages Outcome (+$2m).

The reduction in capital contribution is due to deferral of capital works
programs from 2006-07 to 2007-08 for the Archives Processing Centre
($1.2m) and Technology Precinct Bentley ($2.4m).

The increase is mainly due to carry over of funding from 2005-06 to 2006-07
for Ravensthorpe Nickel project (+$5.7m), mining tenement refunds (+$1.5m)
together with supplementation to restore cash balances (+$10m) and
Boddington Gold Mine Expansion (+$2.5m) partly offset by repositioning of
funding to the out years for Science and Innovation (-$7.8m), Collie Coal (-
$1.8m) and Ravensthorpe Nickel Project (-$2.4m).

Payments to the Commonwealth for its share of petroleum royalties collected
under the Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982 were lower than
anticipated due to lower than estimated royalty collections as a result of
higher exchange rates and higher operating costs.
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DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

2007 2007
Estimate Actual Variation
($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Science & Innovation, Promotion and Support  71 341        36 317       ( 35 024)

Scientific Services  9 539          11 441        1 902        

Total Income  20 452        27 160        6 708        

Adjustment for movement in cash balances and other accrual items ( 1 526)  4 616          6 141        

Capital Expenditure

Purchase of non-current physical assets  6 885          6 261         (  624)

Administered Revenues

Territorial Royalties 2 290 499   2 204 086   ( 86 413)

-               9 798          9 798        

 7 600           500           ( 7 100)

Other Revenue   140            2 439          2 299        

The underspend in 2006-07 of $35 million compared to the 2006-07 Budget
is mainly due to the repositioning of $32 million grant funding for Innovate
WA, Centres of Excellence, Radio Astronomy and Science Initiatives. The
remainder of the under expenditure is due to general science grants.

The overspend of $1.9 million is due to an increase in Community Services
Obligations in the areas of Emergency Response and Research and
Development. There was also some additional operational expenditure in
preparation for the Chemistry Centre becoming a Statutory Authority on 1
August 2007.

The estimate included $7 million drawdown of Commonwealth funding for the
Jervoise Bay Infrastructure which was deferred during the year. The
$500,000 actual represents the Commonwealths contribution to
Ngaanyatjarra Lands broadband project.

Actual interest revenue was higher than estimate due to transfer of loans
receivable from controlled to Administered operations for Bayside Abalone
and Western Australian Meat Marketing Co-Operative. Other revenue not
included in the budget estimate includes contributions from industry and
government for special projects such as Indian Ocean Territories, Burrup
Rock Art Studies and Ngaanyatjarra Lands Broadband development together
with the increase in the face value of loans receivable recognised as income.

Regulatory Fees
This comprises Ad Valorem fees which occur on an ad-hoc basis and cannot
be estimated in the budget.

Grants and Subsidies

Deferral of Technology Precinct Bentley Stage 1 implementation and
Facilities Storage Archives processing centre due to change of scope from a
building to an electronic storage solution partly offset by carry over of
expenditure on Mineral House Air Conditioning, Native Vegetation Clearing
Regulations Land Clearing Permit System and Integrated Customer E-
Commerce Infrastructure.

Actual royalty collections were down in 2006-07. The decrease reflects higher 
exchange rates, higher operating costs offset by higher volumes and
commodity prices in mainly petroleum, iron ore, diamonds and gold.

Total income is higher than estimate due to receipt of Commonwealth
funding for Aboriginal Economic Development and the Australia - China
Natural Gas Technology Partnership Fund together with higher than budget
regulatory fees from prospecting, exploration and other mining licences and
permits together with the increase in the face value of loans receivable
recognised as income.

The positive movement in cash balances is due to higher than estimated
revenue collected together with underspending of general science grants.
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2007 2006
Actual Actual Variation
($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

(b) Significant variances between actuals for 2006 and 2007 - Total appropriation to deliver services:

Net amount appropriated to deliver services  146 888      114 000      32 888      

Section 25 transfer of appropriation
Resources Safety to DOCEP -              ( 12 849)  12 849      

Office of Science from DPC -               8 488         ( 8 488)

Total appropriations provided to deliver services  146 923      109 096      37 827      

Capital contribution  1 945          6 770         ( 4 825)

Administered grants, subsidies and other transfer payments  57 228        41 677        15 551      

Amount authorised by other statutes
Petroleum (Submerged Land) Act 1982  14 573        18 497       ( 3 924)

Administered Capital Appropriations  1 000          2 100         ( 1 100)

Total Administered transactions  72 801        62 274        10 527      

The increase in 2007 appropriation is due to additional funding for Science
and Innovation grants, Coal Industry development and Boddington Gold Mine
Expansion together with additional cash supplementation partially offset by
reductions in funding for Ravensthorpe nickel project and Petroleum
(Submerged Lands) Act.

The decrease in capital contribution compared to 2006 is due to decrease in
funding for Kalgoorlie Complex Stage 2 and Mineral House Air Conditioning.

The increase in 2007 appropriation is due to additional funding for Science
and Innovation grants, Coal Industry development and Boddington Gold Mine
Expansion together with additional cash supplementation partially offset by
reductions in funding for the Ravensthorpe nickel project.

The appropriations for 2007 payments to the Commonwealth for its share of
petroleum royalties collected under the Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act
1982 is lower than 2006 due to lower production levels partially offset by
higher prices.

The reduction in 2007 capital appropriation is due to reduction in funding for
the Marine Industry Technology Park.

The increase in net amount appropriated to deliver services compared to
2006 is mainly due to transfer in of full year of funding from the Office of
Science which transferred from Department of the Premier and Cabinet on 1
April 2006, together with salary and cost escalations and partially offset by
transfers out of appropriation to Department of Consumer and Employment
Protection.

The increase in appropriation compared to 2006 is mainly due to transfer in
of full year of funding from the Office of Science which transferred from
Department of The Premier and Cabinet in April 2006, together with salary
and cost escalations.

Staff and resources from the Resources Safety Division of The Department
of Industry and Resources, responsible for the administration of the Mine
Safety Inspection Act and The Dangerous Goods Act, transferred out to The
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection from 1 July 2005.

Functions from the Department of Premier and Cabinet, Office of Science
were transferred into the Department of Industry and Resources at 1 April
2006.
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Details of Expenditure by Service

2007 2006
Actual Actual Variation
($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Resource Services  53 861        50 931        2 930        

Industry Development Services  22 366        24 091       ( 1 724)

Science and Innovation, Promotion and Support  36 317        10 533        25 784      

Total income   27 160        23 618        3 542        

 4 616         ( 10 517)  15 131      

Total appropriations provided to deliver services   146 923      109 096      37 827      

 6 261          3 713          2 548        

( 4 911)  2 295         ( 7 206)

Capital contribution  1 945          6 770         ( 4 825)

Total Territorial 2 204 086   1 877 805    326 281    

Purchase of non-current physical assets  

The increase in 2006-07 actual expenditure compared to 2005-06 is mainly
due to higher superannuation liabilities expense assumed by the Treasurer.

The decrease in 2006-07 actual compared to 2005-06 actual is mainly due to
the completion of IBM Australia Ltd financial assistance and the transfer of
the Skilled Migration Strategy Unit to Small Business Development
Corporation.

Total income for 2007 is higher than 2006 mainly due to receipt of
Commonwealth funding for Aboriginal Economic Development and the
Australia - China Natural Gas Technology Partnership Fund together with the
increase in the face value of loans receivable recognised as income.

The increase is due to a full year of expenditure whereas 2005-06 included
only three months expenditure for the Office of Science which transferred in
from Department of Premier and Cabinet on 1 April 2006.

The decrease in cash balances for 2006 was due to utilisation of cash
balances for recurrent expenditure . The increase in cash balances for 2007
was due to higher than estimated revenue collected together with lower than
estimated expenditure on general science grants.

Adjustment for movement in cash balances and other accrual items  

The increase in appropriation compared to 2006 is mainly due to transfer in
of full year of funding from the Office of Science which transferred from
Department of the Premier and Cabinet in April 2006, together with salary
and cost escalations.

The decrease is mainly due to cessation of funding for Kalgoorlie complex
stage 2 and Mineral House Air Conditioning.

The royalty collections in 2007 were higher than 2006 due to high commodity
prices for nickel, iron ore, crude oil and LNG, higher sales volumes for iron
ore, crude oil and LNG offset by a stronger exchange rate, lower sales
volumes for gold and diamonds and the government decision to reduce the
diamond royalty rate.

The increase in 2007 is mainly due to expenditure on Integrated Customer E
Commerce Infrastructure - development of an Electronic Title Register , and
higher expenditure on computer equipment.

sources
Capital expenditure on Integrated Customer E Commerce infrastructure,
Mineral House Air Conditioning and Native Vegetation Clearing Regulations
Land Clearing permit system were all funded out of cash balances from
capital contributions that were drawn down in prior years. Additionally, higher
than estimated expenditure on computer equipment was funded from cash
reserves.

Adjustment for movement in cash balances and other funding sources  
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2007 2006
Actual Actual Variation
($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

 9 798          14 695       ( 4 897)

 71 801        60 174        11 627      

 2 439           642            1 797        

Appropriations

Other Revenue

The increase in 2007 appropriation is due to additional funding for Science
and Innovation grants, Coal Industry development and Boddington Gold Mine
Expansion together with additional cash supplementation partially offset by
reductions in funding for Ravensthorpe nickel project and Petroleum
(Submerged Lands) Act.

Actual interest revenue was higher than 2006 due to transfer of loans
receivable from controlled to Administered operations for Bayside Abalone
and Western Australian Meat Marketing Co-Operative. Other increases in
revenue were generated from contributions from industry and government for
special projects such as Indian Ocean Territories, Burrup Rock Art Studies
and Ngaanyatjarra Lands Broadband project together with the increase in the
face value of loans receivable recognised as income.

Variance represents decrease in Ad Valorem fees collected from the
Commonwealth Government in relation to mining companies.

Regulatory Fees
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46 Financial instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Cash flow interest rate risk

(b) Financial Instrument disclosures

Interest Rate Risk Exposure

The following table details the Department�s exposure to interest rate risk as at the reporting date:

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

Within 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 
years

4-5 
years

More than 
5 years

Non - 
interest 
Bearing

Total

2007 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial 
Assets
Cash and 
cash 
equivalents

-          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           22 183     22 183     

Restricted 
Cash and 
cash 
equivalents

-          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           2 092       2 092       

Receivables -          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           3 469       3 469       
Loans and 
Advances -          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           13 146     13 146     

Amounts 
receivable 
for services

-          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           10 012     10 012     

-        -        -           -        -       -       -           50 902     50 902     

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, finance leases, Treasurer�s advances and
receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department�s overall risk
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

The Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place to ensure that
sales of products, services and loans (included in receivables on the balance sheet) are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the
Department�s exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk other than borrowings
of $19m to a counter party which is payable in 2013.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

The Department is exposed to interest rate risk because although cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-
interest bearing, there are interest bearing borrowings other than the Treasurer�s advance (non-interest bearing).
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Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

Within 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 
years

4-5 
years

More than 
5 years

Non - 
interest 
Bearing

Total

2007 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial 
Liabilities
Payables -          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           3 938       3 938       
Borrowings 6.85 4 974     -        -           -        -       -       -           -           4 974       

Amounts due 
to the 
Treasurer

-          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           -           -           

4 974     -        -           -        -       -       -           3 938       8 912       

Interest Rate Risk Exposure

The following table details the Department�s exposure to interest rate risk as at the reporting date

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

Within 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 
years

4-5 
years

More than 
5 years

Non - 
interest 
Bearing

Total

2006 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial 
Assets
Cash and 
cash 
equivalents

-          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           14 963     14 963     

Restricted 
Cash and 
cash 
equivalents

-          -        -        -           -        -       -       -            547          547         

Receivables -          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           4 505       4 505       
Loans and 
Advances -          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           12 506     12 506     

Amounts 
receivable 
for services

-          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           9 242       9 242       

-        -        -           -        -       -       -           41 763     41 763     

Financial 
Liabilities
Payables -          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           5 856       5 856       
Borrowings 6.63 5 569     -        -           -        -       -       -           -           5 569       

Amounts due 
to the 
Treasurer

-          -        -        -           -        -       -       -           1 200       1 200       

5 569     -        -           -        -       -       -           7 056       12 625     

Net fair values
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements are not materially
different from their fair value, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 3(m) to the financial
statements.
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47 Related bodies

48 Affiliated bodies

The Department had no related bodies as defined in the Financial Management Act and Treasurer's Instruction 951.

Western Australian Technology and Industry Advisory Council (TIAC)

The Technology and Industry Advisory Council (TIAC), which was established by the Technology Development Amendment
Act 1987 and continues under the Industry Technology Development Act 1988, is totally funded by the Department of
Industry and Resources. TIAC used $560,325 of funds for the year ending 30 June 2007. The TIAC Board is not subject to
operational control by the Department although it receives administrative support.

88



2007 2006

$'000 $'000
49 Special Purpose Accounts

Survey of leases under the Mining Act Account

Opening balance 1 July  123                 930                 

Add receipts -                  -                   

-                  -                   
Less payments

Refunds -                    807                
-                   807                 

Closing balance 30 June  123                 123                 

Barrow Island Royalty Trust Account

Opening balance 1 July  11 343            8 090              

Add receipts
Royalties received  35 931            51 263            

 35 931            51 263            
Less payments

Remitted to State  11 818            12 003            
Remitted to Commonwealth  35 456            36 007            

 47 274            48 010            

Closing balance 30 June -                   11 343            

Departmental receipts in suspense

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Survey fees collected under the Mining Act are paid into this account. The
actual cost of surveys is charged to the Consolidated Fund, and fees
previously collected are transferred to Consolidated Revenue. If the
applicant decides not to proceed with the survey, the fee collected is
refunded. 

The account was created under the Barrow Island Royalty Trust Account Act
1985 which provides for royalty payments received under the Barrow Island
lease to be credited to the account and subsequently apportioned between
the Commonwealth and the State. 

This account is to hold moneys temporarily, pending identification of the
purpose for which the funds were received. The balance of the account as at
30 June 2007 was $50,206.
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2007 2006

$'000 $'000

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Deposits Mines Department account

Opening balance 1 July  2 403              2 327              

Add receipts
Bonds, Securities   45                 -                   
Interest   145                 106                

  190                 106                
Less payments

Refunds of bonds, securities -                  -                   
Operational expenses   6                   -                   
Interest transferred -                    30                  

  6                     30                  

Closing balance 30 June  2 587              2 403              

Special Projects Trust Fund account

Opening Balance 1 July  1 005              1 163              

Add receipts
Contribution from Industry and Government  1 130               386                

 1 130               386                

Less payments
Salaries   15                   66                  
Travel   27                   29                  
Other   45                   39                  
Consultants   121                 410                

  208                 544                

Closing Balance 30 June  1 927              1 005              

The account was created to hold funds for the purpose of participating in
significant projects with other countries, the Commonwealth and the private
sector to the mutual benefit of the other participants and the State of
Western Australia.

This account includes an agreement between the Commonwealth and the
Department (Indian Ocean Territories Agreement) to carry out inspection
services at Christmas Island. With an opening balance of $21,298, receipts
totalled $51,375 and payments made totalled $18,211 giving a closing
balance of $54,462.

Funds held are received for the issue of temporary reserves and exploration
permits pending finalisation of certain legal requirements. 
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DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Forest Residue Utilisation Levy Trust Fund

Opening Balance 1 July   60                   60                  

Add receipts -                  -                   
-                  -                   

Less payments   4                   -                   
  4                   -                   

Closing Balance 30 June   56                   60                  

Australia China Natural Gas Technology Partnership Trust Fund

Opening Balance 1 July   182                 392                

Add receipts
Contribution from Industry and Government  2 926               633                

 2 926               633                

Less payments
Salaries   109                 102                
Consultants   596                 668                
Travel -                    23                  
Accommodation   64                   49                  
Grants - Training   801               -                   
Other payments   56                   1                    

 1 626               843                

Closing Balance 30 June  1 482               182                

Purpose - To hold funds appropriated by Parliament for the purpose of
funding studies and programs which add value to forest residues.

The trust is to hold funds for the purpose of training Chinese managers from
the natural gas industry in China, as well as joint Australia/China research
programs.  Training will be conducted in both countries.

91



2007 2006

$'000 $'000

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Research Trusts

Opening Balance 1 July   514                 435                

Add receipts
Revenue received  1 740              1 302              

 1 740              1 302              
Less payments

Money spent on research  1 514              1 223              
 1 514              1 223              

Closing Balance 30 June   740                 514                

Regional Headworks Development Scheme Trust Account

Opening Balance 1 July  5 045              5 045              

Add receipts -                  -                   
-                  -                   

Less payments
Grants   38                 -                   

  38                 -                   

Closing Balance 30 June  5 007              5 045              

Western Australian Industry and Technology Development Account

Opening Balance 1 July   142                6 853              

Add receipts
Drawdowns  23 871            18 071            

-                    794                
Other revenue  3 172              3 238              

 27 043            22 103            
Less payments

Loans, grants etc  26 844            28 814            
 26 844            28 814            

Closing Balance 30 June   341                 142                

The purpose of the account is to record funds received and expenditure
charged in accordance with the Industry and Technology Development Act
1998 (ITDA).

The following moneys are held on behalf of various institutions for which the
Chemistry Centre (WA) performs various specified research projects.

Loans received

The purpose of the account is to hold funds appropriated for the purpose of
assistance under the Regional Headworks Development Scheme.
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50 Supplementary financial information

Losses Through Theft, Defaults and Other Causes

-                  -                   
Amount recovered -                  -                   

-                  -                   

Write Offs

The Accountable Officer   2                     8                    
The Minister   44                   60                  
Executive Council   304               -                   

  350                 68                  
Analysis of losses written off

Bad debts   350                 68                  
Non-current assets

  350                 68                  

Gifts of Public Property

Gifts of public property provided by the Department -                  -                   

During the year $350,000 (2006 $68,000) was written off the Departments
asset register under the authority of:

Losses of public moneys and public or other property through theft or default
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51 ADMINISTERED EXPENSES & INCOME

EXPENSES 
Finance costs  131   88
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982  16 041  18 497
Refunds of previous years' revenue  9 885  4 510
Services and contracts  1 535  1 164
Depeciation, amortisation and impairment losses -                    861
Payments to Consolidated Fund 2 166 726 1 815 423
Grants  43 982  39 610

Total administered expenses 2 238 300 1 880 153

INCOME
Rentals and royalties 2 204 086 1 877 805
Regulatory fees  9 798  14 695
Grants   500 -                   
Interest   582   304
Revenues from Government  71 801  60 174
Other income  1 857   338

Total administered income 2 288 624 1 953 316

52 ADMINISTERED ASSETS & LIABILITIES

  ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  12 324  22 302
Receivables  432 753  383 879
Restricted cash  5 007  5 044
Loans  2 204  2 347

Total administered current assets  452 288  413 572

Non-current assets
Fixed assets under construction  3 993   693
Computing equipment   19   13
Loans  17 480  20 736

Total administered non-current assets  21 492  21 442

Total administered assets  473 780  435 014

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payments received in advance   123  8 630
Accounts payable  1 708  6 856
Other liabilities  3 881   113
GST payable  486  86 

Total administered Current liabilities  6 198  15 685

Non-Current Liabilities
Loans  2 089  2 089

Total administered non-current liabilities  2 089  2 089

Total administered liabilities  8 287  17 774
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Administered income

Revenue
Rentals and royalties

Royalties
    Petroleum - Commonwealth  656 833  609 803
    Petroleum - State  53 682  71 422
    Iron Ore  868 292  721 808
    Diamonds  25 678  43 500
    Alumina  84 189  69 960
    Mineral sands  31 562  29 300
    Nickel  206 525  93 029
    Gold  104 586  91 623
    Other  109 674  83 905
Lease rentals  63 065  63 455
Total  Royalties 2 204 086 1 877 805

Administered assets
Administered current assets
Accounts receivable  432 753  383 879

Administered Contingent Liabilities
Administered Contingent Liabilities

(1)

(2) Two claims have been made for refund of royalties.  If successful, the 
claims would represent potential liabilities of $2.6m.

The Department is responsible for collection of certain rentals and royalties.
These are not classified as operating revenues and are paid directly to
Consolidated Fund.

In addition to the administered liabilities detailed above, the following
contingent liabilities exist:

A claim for $2.5m rebate as part of a Government assistance package.

This mainly represents royalties not collected as at 30 June 2007 on
production which occurred prior to balance date.
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4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND MEASURES
Performance indicators and measures provide accountability to Parliament and the 

community for expenditure of public money and to assist in the management of the 

Department. These performance measures are published in accordance with the 

Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA) and the associated Treasurer’s Instruction 904.

The FMA requires that the Department disclose audited key performance indicators 

that:

• Are relevant, free from bias and quantifi able

• Encompass the operations of the Department

• Are reproduced within the elements of the report on operations to which they 

relate.

Treasurer’s Instruction 904 defi nes Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) in terms of the 

following 2 sets of indicators:

• Effectiveness indicators provide information on the extent to which outcomes 

have been achieved through the funding and production of agreed services

• Effi ciency measures relate Services to the level 

of resource inputs required to produce them.

This report contains audited Key Effectiveness Indicators and Key Effi ciency 

Measures, (collectively referred to as KPIs), together with certifi cation of these KPIs 

by the Director General of the Department of Industry and Resources and the opinion 

of the Auditor General concerning those KPIs.

All reported effi ciency measures refl ect the full cost 

of service reported in the fi nancial statements. 

This report also discloses Service Performance Measure results against revised 

targets published in the 2006/07 Budget Papers.

CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, 

are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of 

Industry and Resources’ performance, and fairly represent the performance of the 

Department of Industry and Resources for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007.

Jim Limerick

Accountable Offi cer 

3 September 2007
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The Department’s Key Effectiveness Indicators are 

grouped below under the following four headings:

• Key Stakeholder/Customer Satisfaction Ratings

• Conformance with Regulation and Government 

Policy

• State Development Performance.

• Science and Innovation

They measure the Department’s effectiveness in 

achieving its key outcome, which is Responsible 

Development of The State’s Industry and Resources for 

the Benefi t of Western Australians.

The Department’s Key Effi ciency Measures track the 

effi ciency with which the Department’s Services are 

produced.  

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES

Ministers’ Satisfaction Ratings

Target 

2006/07

Actual1 

2006/07

A. Rating by the Minister for Trade; Innovation; Science, of his 

satisfaction with the quality DoIR’s policy and planning advice 

regarding “Responsible development of the State’s industry and 

resources for the benefi ts of Western Australians”.

7 5

B. Rating by the Minister for  Energy; Resources, Industry and 

Enterprise, of his satisfaction with the quality DoIR’s policy and 

planning advice regarding “Responsible development of the State’s 

industry and resources for the benefi ts of Western Australians”.

7 4

C. Rating by the Minister for State Development, of his satisfaction with 

the quality DoIR’s policy and planning advice regarding “Responsible 

development of the State’s industry and resources for the benefi ts of 

Western Australians”.

7 5

1  Ministers’ Satisfaction with the Quality of the Department’s Policy and Planning Advice

EXPLANATORY NOTE
Each Minister was provided (in July  2007) with a questionnaire and asked to rate the performance of the Department’s 

policy and planning advice in working towards the outcome of “Responsible development of the state’s industry and 

resources for the benefi t of Western Australians”. 

He was provided with a 7 point scale where ”7” equated to “Totally Satisfi ed” and “1” equated to “Totally Dissatisfi ed”

This is the fi rst year in which multiple Ministers have provided ratings.  In 2005/06 a rating of “5” was provided and in 

each of the two years prior to that, the rating was “6”.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS



DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07  PAGE 98

06
/07

Reader’s/Stakeholders 

Satisfaction Ratings

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

D. Readers’ satisfaction with the quality 

of resource sector information.
99% 99% 96% 90% 75%2 

E. Measure of key stakeholders’ 

satisfaction that DoIR encourages 

a climate conducive to ongoing 

resources development in Western 

Australia.

79% 81% 81% 63% 62.5%3

2  Readers’ Satisfaction with Publications

EXPLANATORY NOTE
In the context of this KPI, in order to rationalise survey administration and to minimise survey costs, “Readers” are 

represented by CEOs, and Managing Directors of resource companies in Western Australia. “Readers”, so defi ned 

were interviewed as part of the Investors survey, which forms the basis of  one of the KPIs on the next page. 

The Department provided a list of 182 such contacts to an independent market research company which conducted 

telephone interviews which included a question addressing interviewee’s satisfaction with the Department’s 

publications.  The number of interviews conducted (125) was suffi cient to provide 95% certainty that the survey result 

is within a 5% error margin.  Note that the survey method was modifi ed in the 2005/06 report.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
Previously this KPI has been based on a survey form, which referred only to  Prospect magazine and which was  

provided with one edition of Prospect magazine.  Response was voluntary, by subscribers who chose to complete the 

form and mail it to the Department. 

The target was set at 90%  because such surveys had consistently resulted in very high reported satisfaction rates.  

This year the survey  has been derived from interviews  conducted  in respect of the  Investors’ Satisfaction survey,( 

see below).  Note that a high proportion of the respondents,(15%) provided responses of “Don’t know” and that this is 

the primary reason for the actual rating  being lower than the target rating.

3  Stakeholders’ Satisfaction

EXPLANATORY NOTE
In the context of this KPI, “Stakeholders” are represented by parties, other than resource companies, which have an 

interest in the Departments promotion of the State’s Resource sector.  They include other Government departments, 

Local Government bodies and peak industry representative bodies.  The Department provided a list of  197such parties 

to an independent market research company which conducted telephone interviews.  The number of interviews 

conducted (147) was suffi cient to provide 95% certainty that the survey result is within a 5%  error.  Note that the 

statistical method of calculation was changed prior to the setting of the 06/07 targets, refer to notes in 05/06 Annual 

report.

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES
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Investor/Client Satisfaction Ratings

(continued)

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

F. Measure of investor’s satisfaction 

with DoIR’s resource development 

facilitation services, including 

infrastructure planning, project 

co-ordination and assistance with 

approvals. 

83% 86% 68% 67% 60%4

G. Extent to which clients agree that 

the Department of Industry and 

Resources contributes to business 

development within Western 

Australia.  

88% 86% 92% 90% 89%5 

H. Satisfaction from Scientifi c Services 

client surveys. 
77% 75% 75% 77% 73% 

4 Investors’ Satisfaction

EXPLANATORY NOTE
In the context of this KPI, “Investors” are represented by CEOs, and Managing Directors of resource companies in 

Western Australia.  The Department provided a list of 182 such contacts to an independent market research company 

which conducted telephone interviews which included 5 questions addressing investors’ satisfaction with The 

Department’s resource development facilitation services, including infrastructure planning, project co-ordination and 

assistance with approvals. The number of interviews conducted (125) was suffi cient to provide 95% certainty that the 

survey result is within a 5% error margin. Note that the statistical method of calculation was changed prior to the 

setting of the 06/07 targets, refer to notes in 05/06 Annual report.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
The State has experienced a signifi cant number of staff departures to the private sector which has impacted, on 

occasion, the Department’s abilities to respond quickly while replacement staff are recruited and trained. 

  
5  Contribution to Business Development

EXPLANATORY NOTE
The Department provided a list of 328 contacts to an independent market research company which conducted 

telephone interviews which included a question addressing contacts’ belief that the Department contributed to 

business development within Western Australia. The number of interviews conducted was suffi cient to provide 95% 

certainty that the survey result is within a 4.7% error margin.

The overall sample size is smaller due to the transfer of responsibility for some client groups that were included in the 

previous survey, to other Departments.

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES
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Geological Stakeholder Satisfaction 

Ratings (continued)

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

I.    Rating of geoscience information 

products.
4.2 4.2 4.25 4.2 3.86 

J. Rating of geological exploration 

information services.
3.9 3.9 4.25 3.9 4.17

6  Geoscience Information Products

EXPLANATORY NOTE
This KPI is an averaged customer rating given by industry-based mineral and petroleum Technical Advisory 

Subcommittees tabled through the Geological Survey Liaison Committee. This committee comprises industry 

representatives nominated by the Australian Petroleum Production and Exploration Association, the Chamber of 

Minerals and Energy of Western Australia, the Association of Mining and Exploration Companies, and other geoscience 

customers, such as Geoscience Australia, CSIRO and Western Australian universities. The Committee meets twice 

yearly to consider reports by its Technical Advisory Subcommittees and to provide guidance for future programs and 

feedback on past performance. Geoscience Information Products are rated twice yearly, for quality, against a fi ve-

point scale by the  subcommittees. 

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
Even though the quality of the geoscience being currently done has not changed, the petroleum subcommittee as a 

matter of principle has awarded a lower quality score as a means of re-enforcing its long held view that funding of 

petroleum geoscience in GSWA needs to be increased substantially and the result of low staff numbers is directly 

related to potential output. 

7  Geological Exploration Information Services

EXPLANATORY NOTE
This KPI is an averaged customer rating given by industry-based Technical Advisory Subcommittees tabled through 

the Geological Survey Liaison Committee (see note above). Geological Exploration Information services are rated twice 

yearly, for quality, against a fi ve-point scale by the  subcommittees. 

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES
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Conformance with Regulation 

and Government Policy

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

K. Level of compliance with expenditure 

conditions  (Form 5) in mineral titles.
89% 89% 99% 97% 99%8  

L. Percentage of total royalties 

collected during the period as      

compared to the total proportion 

of royalties due according to 

government policy. 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100%9

M. Minerals Industry Environmental 

Management assessment scores 

- Environmental compliance index 

(Base year: 1998 99 = 100). 

105 107 106 107 9410  

8  Compliance With Expenditure Conditions

EXPLANATORY NOTE
This indicator shows the percentage of “in force” mineral titles for which form 5’s report on expenditure have been 

lodged.

  
9  Royalty Collections

EXPLANATORY NOTE
This indicator addresses exceptions to the collection of royalties as required by government policy.  As in previous 

years, no exceptions were noted during the 2006/07 year.

10  Minerals Industry Environmental Management

EXPLANATORY NOTE
On completion of the Annual Environmental Review for each mine site, scores are allocated in a number of categories 

to refl ect the operator’s performance in managing environmental issues.  This performance indicator measures the 

trend in the overall annual average of these scores for the industry and is presented as an index, with 1998-99 as the 

base year.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
The 12% adverse variance is due to implementing a risk based approach to site inspections resulting in a lower level 

of environmental compliance.  

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES
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Conformance with Regulation 

and Government Policy (continued)

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

N. Petroleum Industry Environmental 

Management - the performance 

of the industry as the percentage 

of audited projects which had zero 

major corrective actions reports 

(CARs). 

95% 95% 100% 95% 85%

11 Petroleum Industry Environmental Management

EXPLANATORY NOTE
Non-compliances are defi ned as:

•  Specifi c infringements of commitments made in project environmental documentation (Environmental Management 

Plans or EMPs)

•  Specifi c infringements of conditions of approval

•  Practices not in accord with the Commonwealth and State Petroleum Acts and Regulations and Schedules of 

Directions issued under these Acts.

Non-compliances are identifi ed in fi eld audits conducted on a cross-section of projects selected on a risk-assessment 

basis, which may introduce variability into the results between years. Non-compliances can be segregated into minor 

and major categories.  An example of a minor non-compliance may be the presence of litter at an operation and 

while still requiring the generation of a Corrective Action Recommendation (CAR), minor non-compliances are not 

considered to have a reasonable risk of signifi cant environmental impact. A major non-compliance however, is defi ned 

as an item where if no CAR is identifi ed and implemented, there is a reasonable risk of signifi cant environmental 

impact.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
There were 33 projects audited for the year and 5 had major corrective action reports.

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES
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06
/07

State Development Performance Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

O. Percentage of international mineral 

exploration expenditure expended in 

Western Australia. 

9% 8% 5% 6% 4%12 

P. Western Australia’s rating on 

the Fraser Institute Investment 

Attractiveness index (Composite 

policy and mineral potential rating). 

2nd 4th 3rd 3rd 3rd13

12 International Mineral Exploration Expenditure

EXPLANATORY NOTE
The data are from the worldwide survey by the Metals Economic Group of Canada combined with the Australian survey 

by the Australian Bureau of Statistics. The worldwide survey is done on a calendar year basis, hence results above are 

for calendar 2006. The worldwide survey is only of commercial  non-ferrous mineral exploration and the percentages 

quoted are on this basis. Western Australia enjoyed attracting 10–12% of the worldwide non-ferrous mineral 

exploration expenditure from 1993 through to 2002 inclusive (and hence that had previously been adopted 

as the target), but the actual percentage spent locally has dropped from 9% to 4% over the last four years.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
Western Australia has been losing its attractiveness to mineral explorers over the last few years through a 

combination of reasons (access to land; access to capital; red tape; perceived lower prospectivity; fewer high-profi le 

discoveries, etc). Steps have been taken by Government in an effort to reverse the trend.

13 Fraser Institute Investment Attractiveness Index

EXPLANATORY NOTE
The effectiveness is assessed by the Fraser Institute annual survey of mining companies (www.fraserinstitute.ca). 

The survey is of 64 jurisdictions in the world and of companies spending about one-third of the world-wide exploration 

budget. The internationally respected Fraser Institute ratings show Western Australia is widely recognised in terms of 

its ‘composite policy and mineral potential’.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
Western Australia’s premium rating remains high, rating behind Chile and Nevada.

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES

http://www.fraserinstitute.ca
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06
/07

State Development Performance 

(continued)

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

Q. Level of Australian exploration 

expenditure in Western Australia. 

 • Minerals 59% 59% 51% 54% 48%14

 • Petroleum 71% 60% 48% 53%  60%15  

R. Area of Western Australia under 

mineral exploration title (sq km). 
246 002 258 241 314 806 320 000 407 34016  

14 Level of Australian Mineral Exploration Expenditure in Western Australia

 EXPLANATORY NOTE
 Data compiled by the Australian Bureau of Statistics. At the time of compilation of this annual report,  ‘actual’ data is 

only available  for the fi rst three quarters of 2006/07  and hence the percentage shown is on an actual basis but only 

for the fi rst nine months of 2006/07. 

 EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
 The slippage in this indicators  shows a similar trend to Western Australia’s international competitiveness (Indicator 

O). See explanation in Note 12  (above).

15 Level of Australian Petroleum Exploration Expenditure in Western Australia.

 EXPLANATORY NOTE
 Data compiled by the Australian Bureau of Statistics. ‘Actual’ data is used  for the fi rst three quarters of 2006–07, 

but data for the fi nal quarter of 2006–07 is not yet available from the ABS and hence an estimate by the Department is 

used (June quarter 2006 = June quarter 2007).

 EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
 The increase in exploration refl ects industry recognition of the potential of Western Australia’s petroleum resources 

and the strategic position that the State holds in the market place.

16 Area of Western Australia Under Exploration Title (Minerals)

 EXPLANATORY NOTE
 Data sourced from the Department.  This fi gure includes Exploration Licences, prospecting licences and mineral 

claims.

 EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
 The continuing commodity boom coupled with the use Regional Standard Heritage Agreements has led  to a signifi cant 

increase in the granting of mineral titles resulting in a large increase in the area under mineral title in Western 

Australia.

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES
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Science and Innovation

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

S. Index of funding leverage obtained 

for Western Australia from “Centres 

of Excellence” grants

n/a n/a 6.1:1 5:1 6.1:117 

T. Change in level of total investment in 

scientifi c research and development 

in Western Australia 

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a13

17 Index of unding leverage

 EXPLANATORY NOTE
 This is a leading indicator that reports the ratio of dollars provided by the Commonwealth and other sources for every 

dollar provided by the state.  6.1:1 is the leverage ratio for all centres external cash income for COE grants paid to 

30 June 2007.

 EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
 A higher than expected proportion of Cooperative Research Centre grants were established, and generally these 

provide higher leverage to the State.

18 Change in level of total investment

 EXPLANATORY NOTE
 This is a lagging indicator, based on Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) data which is published every 2 years.  

No estimate was provided in the Department of Premier and Cabinet’s 05/06 budget papers.  It is not possible to 

derive an “actual” fi gure relevant to the short period that OSI has been with the Department.

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES
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AUDITED KEY EFFICIENCY MEASURES

Service 1: Titles and Royalties 

Administration

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target* 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

Average cost per mineral title service $759 $669 $566 $489 $520

Average cost per petroleum title 

operation and resource service
$692 $424 $745 $688 $1 060

Average cost per royalty return verifi ed 

and audited
$978 $1452 $2517 $2 389 $2 248

Average cost per weighted unit of 

environmental regulatory service 

provided to the minerals industry

n/a n/a n/a $1 386 $1 447

Average cost per weighted unit of 

petroleum environmental audit and 

assessment

n/a n/a n/a $1 188 $1 231

Average cost of Aboriginal Economic 

Development services
$567 378 $848 434 $712016 $736 470 $821 814

Average Cost Per Infrastructure Project 

Facilitated
$252 415# $400 274# $312 706# $176 711 $196 469

Average Cost Per Resource 

Development Project Facilitated
$57 712# $65 305# $87 326# $34 452 $38 304

* The Department has used revised targets for 2006/07 because of the signifi cant amount of repositioning of funds and priorities as approved 

by the Expenditure Review Committee in the mid year review.

# The defi nitions of these projects were changed prior to setting the 2006/07 targets.

EXPLANATIONS OF VARIANCES
Average costs for all sub-service components were generally higher than expected due to an increase in costs 

associated with employee expenses. This resulted from the general wage increase and a 366% increase in assumed 

superannuation liabilities, as advised by the Government Employees Superannuation Board.  The total cost of 

Service 1 was $54,031,000 against a budget estimate (in March 07) of $48,928,000, an overall 10.4% increase.  That 

budget estimate included $540,000 for “Established Industry Projects”, a sub service component which is no longer 

supported.  That $540,000 has been allocated proportionately across the other 8 sub service components also 

contributing to higher variances. Where relevant, other factors contributing to a greater than 5% variance are detailed 

under specifi c sub-service headings below.

Average cost per mineral title service.

The variance of 6.75% is a result of superannuation liabilities and the allocation of a proportion of the “Established 

Industry Projects” subcomponent.

Average cost per petroleum title operation and resource service

There was a decrease in the number of dealings reported attributable to less corporate activity in the petroleum sector 

whilst increased operational activities were undertaken in response to the resources boom.

Average cost per royalty return verifi ed and audited

The new online Royalties Management System (RMS) reported on all producers including smaller operations (as low 

as one production return submitted in the year) that had historically not been considered projects.

Average costs of Aboriginal Economic Development Services

There was a funding injection of $1.4m for the Indigenous Economic Development Strategy mid way in 2006/7. 

Average cost per Infrastructure Project Facilitated

The variance of 11.5% is can be attributed to superannuation liabilities, the allocation of a proportion of the 

“Established Industry Projects” subcomponent as well as increased costs associated with fi nancial assistance to 

infrastructure projects i.e. rising costs of raw materials, production, etc.

Average cost per Resource Development Project Facilitated

The variance of 11.5% is a combined result of superannuation liabilities, allocation of a proportion of the “Established 

Industry Projects” subcomponent and costs to corporate overhead allocation.

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES
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Service 2: Industry and 

Development Services

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target* 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

Average cost of Industry Projects 

Facilitated
n/a n/a n/a $1 074  079 $1 367 282

Average cost of Technology 

Infrastructure Projects  Facilitated
n/a n/a n/a $769 973 $798 512

* The Department has used revised targets for 2006/07 because of the signifi cant amount of repositioning of funds and priorities as approved 

by the Expenditure Review Committee in the mid year review.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
The higher actual cost Industry Projects Facilitated in 2006/07 compared to the target (a 27.6% increase),  is mainly 

due to one off funding for Access 31.

Service 3: Investment Services Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target* 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

Average Cost per Resource Sector 

Investment Attraction Program 

Delivered

n/a n/a n/a $35 532 $35 605

Average cost per major resource 

project facilitated
n/a n/a n/a $111 278 $111 509

Average cost per major trade project 

facilitated
n/a n/a n/a $881 017 $882 842

* The Department has used revised targets for 2006/07 because of the signifi cant amount of repositioning of funds and priorities as approved 

by the Expenditure Review Committee in the mid year review.

Service 4: Geological Services Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target* 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

Average cost per weighted total 

published product
$235 000 $264 369 $231 451 $210 286 $197 496

Average cost per weighted data 

transaction unit
$40 $50 $38 $38 $32

* The Department has used revised targets for 2006/07 because of the signifi cant amount of repositioning of funds and priorities as approved 

by the Expenditure Review Committee in the mid year review.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE

Weighted Total Published Product (WTPP)

The average cost per WTPP is lower than the target estimate mainly due to productivity credits that have been claimed 

for airborne geophysical data that were released in 2006/07, but whose acquisition cost was accrued in the 2005/06 

fi nancial year.

Weighted Data Transaction Unit (WDTU)

The average cost per WDTU is higher than the target estimate mainly due to company objections delaying the release 

of processed company exploration reports until 2007/08.

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES
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Service 5: Industry Development 

Services

Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target* 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

Average Cost per FTE for support 

provided to the WA Science Council
n/a n/a $90 349# $123 803 $123 478

Average cost per research capability 

and infrastructure grant administered
n/a n/a $3 752# $63 902 $56 594

Average cost  per science and innovation 

program and project managed
n/a n/a $54 584# $49 472 $48 032

Grants excluded n/a n/a $36 647 000# $34 987 050 $31 750 672

* The Department has used revised targets for 2006/07 because of the signifi cant amount of repositioning of funds and priorities as approved 

by the Expenditure Review Committee in the mid year review.

# These actual fi gures were annualised by extrapolation from partial year fi gures.  They may not support meaningful comparisons.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCES
The variance in the average cost per research capability and infrastructure grant administered is a consequence 

of positions temporarily vacant in the second half of the fi nancial year, combined with the total cost of service of 

Service 5, (Grants excluded) being $4,599,164 against a revised target of $ 5,227,950.

Service 6: Scientifi c Services Actual

2003/04

Actual

2004/05

Actual

2005/06

Target* 

2006/07

Actual

2006/07

Average cost per chargeable hour 

of providing service
$128 $128 $133 $129 $137

* The Department has used revised targets for 2006/07 because of the signifi cant amount of repositioning of funds and priorities as approved 

by the Expenditure Review Committee in the mid year review.

EXPLANATION OF VARIANCE
There was a 6% increase in sales which resulted in a slightly higher demand for staff with a high chargeout rate.

4.2 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AUDITED KEY EFFECTIVENESS MEASURES

4.3 MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES

In February 07, the Minister for Energy, Resources, 

Industry and Enterprise directed the Department to 

provide regular monthly reports to the Minister’s offi ce 

outlining progress in achieving priorities related to: 

• Technology Parks,

• Biotechnology Strategy,

• Information and Communication Technology, and

• Resources.
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4.4.1 PRICING POLICIES OF SERVICES 

PROVIDED
The Department’s User Charges and Fees 

are reviewed annually in accordance with the 

government’s policy on the costing and pricing of 

government services. Under this policy increases 

in user charges and fees are generally limited 

to increases in the CPI index as advised by the 

Department of Treasury and Finance and endeavour to 

recover the full cost of service delivery where possible.

Petroleum permits and license fees which form part 

of  this revenue are set under Commonwealth and 

State Petroleum legislation and are reviewed in 

accordance with the Commonwealth.

4.4.2 CAPITAL PROJECTS

Major capital works as at 30 June 2007

Uncompleted major projects Expected 

Year 

Completion

Estimated 

Cost to 

Complete 

($’000)

Estimated 

Total Cost

($’000) 

Estimated 

Total Cost Prior 

Financial Year

($’000)

Variance from Prior 

Financial Year Total 

Cost and Estimated 

Total Costs

($’000)

Land and Buildings

Technology Precinct Bentley Stage 2 2009/10 7,829 8,550 8,550 Nil

Kalgoorlie Stage 2 Complex 2007/08 5,988 6,225 3,525

2, 700

additional funding 

due to building cost 

escalation

Computer Hardware and Software

Integrated Customer E Commerce 

Infrastructure
2007/08 1,189 3,200 3,200 Nil

Native Vegetation Clearing Systems IT 2007/08 379 1,500 1,500 Nil

Facilities Storage Archives 2007/08 1,264 1,264 1,264 Nil

Completed Projects Year 

Completion

Total Cost

Mineral House Air Conditioning 2006/07 2,020

4.4 OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES



DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY AND RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07  PAGE 110

4.4.3.1 COMPARATIVE FTE ALLOCATION 

BY CATEGORY
The Department’s Full Time Equivalent (FTE) staffi ng 

numbers are detailed in the table below:

30 June 2006 30 June 2007

Permanent Full Time 763 761

Contract Full Time 108 81

Part Time – Permanent 

and Contract 

42 43

Seconded Out 20 20

Seconded In 16 3

4.4.3.2 INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
The majority of Departmental staff are employed 

under the Public Service General Agreement 2006 with 

6 staff (or 2.58 FTE’s) employed under the Government 

Services (Miscellaneous) General Agreement 2005.

4.4.3.3 STAFFING POLICIES
Several Human Resources policies and procedures 

were reviewed and updated in preparation for the 

transfer to Offi ce of Shared Services. Leave audits and 

job description updates are also in progress. 

Information sessions on a range of HR management 

policies, practices and innovations have been held in 

Perth and Kalgoorlie. 

The Department’s Parental Leave handbook for staff 

and managers has been revised and republished.

Human Resources has provided assistance and 

professional advice to the Chemistry Centre of WA 

to facilitate their transfer to a Statutory Authority, 

including assisting with corporate policies, 

organisational restructuring and revising job 

descriptions to focus on emerging business needs.

4.4.3.2.1 RECRUITMENT
Improvements to the Recruitment and Selection 

process have been implemented including the 

development of an on-line Temporary Employment 

Register to facilitate recruitment for short term 

vacancies. The Recruitment and Selection training 

program has been continued with eight sessions held 

in 2006/07. 

The Graduate program has been revised and an 

agreement has been reached to increase the number 

of Graduates for 2008 to twelve (12). 

4.4.3.2.2 STAFF DEVELOPMENT
Staff development activities for 2006/07 were 

concentrated in four areas: continued comprehensive 

induction programs for new staff; continued internal 

development programs aligned with strategic 

priorities. Renewed emphasis on leadership and 

management skills using performance management 

processes as an initial focus; and externally-provided 

skills and knowledge development to meet role-

specifi c needs.

Structured internal programs were actively promoted 

and supported from senior levels through the 

management structure. This approach contributed to 

strong participant numbers as demonstrated in the 

following table.

Program Number of 

Participants

Workplace Conduct Awareness 519 

Indigenous Cultural Awareness Training 98 

Mentoring Program 46

Capabilities and Career Development 

Program 

4 

Leadership and Management Scholarships 9

Work and Living Program (various activities) 650

Performance and Accountability Framework 686

Performance and Accountability Coaching 14

Total expenditure on staff development for the year 

exceeded $1.1m.

4.4.3.2.3 CORPORATE OCCUPATIONAL 

HEALTH AND SAFETY ISSUES
The Department has continued to develop and improve 

its Occupational Safety and Health processes by 

incorporating pro-active approaches and responses to 

safety issues. 

The goal is to develop and reinforce a solid safety 

culture at all levels of the organisation as an integral 

part of the way the Department carries out its work. 

The Department’s OSH processes were recognised 

with the awarding of the IFAP / CGU Gold Safety 

Achievement Award in November 2006. The 

Department was the only government Department out 

of 1100 nominees to receive this prestigious award.

During the 2006/07 year, The Department reviewed 

and developed policies and procedures to ensure 

current best practice standards were incorporated into 

the Department’s safety approach. Special attention 

was paid to safety issues relating to fi eld staff working 

in remote and isolated situations.

4.4.3 EMPLOYMENT AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
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Corporate Occupational Safety and Health staff 

continue to provide assistance through education and 

training across a diverse range of topics and areas.  

A range of Training and Awareness Programs were 

implemented and made available on the Department’s 

intranet site, identifying issues and allowing easy 

access for all staff. 

To reinforce corporate and individual responsibilities, 

regular updates for safety information are provided on 

the intranet or by Newsfl ash.

Safety Health and 

Welfare Statistics

03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07

Total Workers’ 

Compensation Claims

14 16 10 11

Stress Claims 0 0 0 0

Lost time Injuries / 

Diseases

3 1 0 5

Lost Time Frequency Rate 0.24 0 n/a

Lost time Incident Ratio 0.63

Duration Rate 16 9 0 2.4

Nr Incident Reports 6 33 31 25

Nr Hazard Notifi cations 21 14 14

The Department places a high priority on safety by 

managing occupational health and safety issues 

effectively through a range of identifi cation and 

intervention strategies.

Staff Support 2004 / 05 2005 / 06 2006/07

Workplace assessments 225 327 236

Follow up Assessments 0 37 122

Home Based 

Assessments

6 2 4

Counselling & Advice 

Sessions (Various)

83 110 382

SBE Glasses subsidies 64 73 66

OSH Inductions 

(New staff)

118 480 177

Disability Workplace 

Needs Assessments

4 4 7

OSH News Flash Staff 

Information

42
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4.5.1 ADVERTISEMENTS – MARKET 

RESEARCH EXPENDITURE
The following table details the market research 

expenditure spent by the Department in the 06/07 period.

Organisation                 06/07 

Expenditure $

Praetorium Pty Ltd                  40,000

White Knight Business Consulting        2,000

The John Curtin Institute of  Public Policy        5,000

Research Solutions                   48,500

TOTAL                               95,500

4.5.2 DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION 

PLAN OUTCOMES

OUTCOME 1. People with disabilities have the same 

opportunities as other people to access the services 

of, and any events organised by the Department of 

Industry and Resources (DoIR)

In accordance with the DoIR Disability Access and 

Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2007-2012 the Department 

continues to provide for the requirements of disabled 

persons with access to existing facilities and premises 

as well as access to all relevant information  through 

the Department’s Communication and Marketing 

branch and internet facilities.

Events held outside of Department’s offi ces are always 

organised at venues that have the requisite facilities 

for persons with disabilities.

OUTCOME 2. People with disabilities have the same 

opportunities as other people to access the buildings 

and other facilities the Department.

In accordance with the Department’s Disability Access 

and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) the Department continues to 

provide for the requirements of disabled persons with 

access to existing facilities and premises as well as 

the provision of these requirements in refurbishment 

programs, and the design of new facilities.

The upgrade of the ground fl oor at Mineral House 

included the extension of the reception counter to 

provide for wheelchair access and toilet facilities.

Where the provision of such facilities is restricted, as 

at other leased premises, and in some regional offi ces, 

staff are briefed and trained to make the necessary 

arrangements on request, to enable business to be 

conducted with clients with disabilities.

Disabled parking with level access is provided at the 

main Perth CBD offi ces, with two bays at Mineral 

House and three bays at 1 Adelaide Terrace.

Disabled toilets are provided at Mineral House and 

1 Adelaide Terrace.

OUTCOME 3.  People with disabilities receive 

information from the Department in a format that will 

enable them to access the information, as readily as 

other people are able to access it.

All Departmental staff and visitors are able to access 

information via various mediums. These include direct 

verbal communication, written documentation and 

communications, internal training and awareness 

sessions, web site access externally and internal 

Intranet access. Media releases and internal 

and external feedback seminars are also used to 

communicate Departmental information. 

Written and verbal information is also distributed 

in multilingual formats, via various mediums. Sign 

language has also been used to convey information in 

training sessions. 

OUTCOME 4. People with disabilities receive the same 

level and quality of service as other people receive 

from the Department’s staff.

The Department is committed to its core values of 

being Committed, Informed, Principled, Innovative, 

Open and Supportive. All Departmental customers 

are treated equally in an open, honest and impartial 

manner refl ective of our core values.

 

OUTCOME 5. People with disabilities have the same 

opportunities as other people to make complaints to 

the Department.

The Department is committed to its core values of 

being principled, innovative, open and supportive. The 

Department has a complaints system that is ultimately 

answerable to the Director General. Complaints 

are handled honestly and impartially, via an open 

communication and transparent process. Complaints 

are recognised as a contributing mechanism for 

improving services. 

 

OUTCOME 6. People with disabilities have the same 

opportunities as other people to participate in any 

public consultation by the Department.

The Department is committed to its core values of 

being principled, innovative, open and supportive. It is 

committed to fostering a culture that values, diversity 

of ideas and open communication. 

The Department makes full use of the backgrounds, 

skills, talents, and perspectives of its entire workforce 

and the West Australian Community, to ensure 

that current and future challenges can be met in a 

competent and innovative manner, through improved 

effi ciency, effectiveness, and relevance of service 

delivery. 

4.5 OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
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4.5.3 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

OUTCOMES
The Department’s Equal Employment Opportunity 

Management Plan 2006 – 2010 was established and 

approved in early 2007.  

The Department has recently established a new Equity 

and Diversity Committee structure that will facilitate 

the implementation of the strategies contained in this 

Plan.  

The committee has been successful in laying a 

foundation to carry out these strategies in 2006/07 and 

will oversee the completion of these tasks in 2007/08.

Signifi cant progress has been made against the 

2006/07 Equal Employment Opportunity targets, 

with all agency targets exceeded with exception 

of the representation from People from Diverse 

Backgrounds.  

The Department has consistently exceeded 

government sector targets for this particular diversity 

group for a number of years, and although there has 

been a small decrease during 2006/07, it still exceeds 

the sector target by almost 70 per cent.  The agency 

now also exceeds the sector targets established 

for Women in Management Tier 2 and 3 combined, 

Indigenous Australians, People with Disabilities and 

Youth. 

Performance against 2007 targets by diversity group

Diversity group % Actual 

Representation

Equity 

Index

2007 

Objective (%)

% Above or 

Below Objective

Women in Management Tiers 2 and 3 38.5 51 27.0 11.5

People from Culturally Diverse Backgrounds 17.8 72 18.2 -0.4

Indigenous Australians 2.6 52 2.0 0.6

People with Disabilities 3.8 41 3.6 0.2

Youth 6.6 N/A 6.0 0.6
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Key Equal Employment Opportunity initiatives implemented in 2006 / 07

Initiative Strategy What was achieved What difference it has 

made

How the initiative was 

evaluated

1 EEO Plans 
integrate with 
corporate plans.

Strategy 1.1  in current 

EEO Plan - Initiative 

1.1.1: Clear leadership 

on diversity matters.

The Board has accepted 

the EEO Management 

Plan for 2006 – 2010.

It has improved the 

agency’s ability to 

achieve the targets for 

each of diversity groups.

The Director General 

has promoted Equity and 

Diversity matters with 

the Board, the Executive 

Management Group and 

at biennial Feedback 

Sessions.

More individuals from 

identifi ed diversity 

groups were employed 

or promoted from within.

Funding has been 

dedicated for the Equity 

and Diversity initiatives 

detailed in the EEO 

Management Plan.

This has enabled the 

Equity and Diversity 

Committee to build the 

momentum required 

to deliver on these 

initiatives.

Quarterly reports are 

provided to the Board 

by the Chairperson of 

the Equity and Diversity 

Committee.

This has enabled the 

Equity and Diversity 

Committee to maintain 

the momentum so far 

achieved to deliver on 

these initiatives.

Signifi cant progress 

has been made over the 

last 12 months against 

targets set for diversity 

groups.

2. Eliminate 
bias from 
policies and 
procedures.

Strategy 2.1 in current 

EEO Plan – Initiative 

2.1.1: Exit Interviews are 

“EEO sensitive

All Exit interview 

documentation has been 

reviewed to meet EEO 

requirements and the 

necessary changes have 

been made. The Equity 

and Diversity Committee 

will be involved with 

the assessment of 

suitable software for the 

dedicated Exit Interview 

database.

This has enabled us to 

establish reasons why 

employees (including 

those from the diversity 

groups) resign from the 

agency. This information 

is provided to the Board 

on a quarterly basis.

Specifi c causes for 

employees leaving 

the organisation are 

identifi ed and reported to 

the Board, and strategies 

to address these causes 

are established by the 

Board.

3. Improved 
outcomes for 
Indigenous 
Australians.

Strategy 3.1 in current 

EEO Plan – Initiative 

3.1.1: Promoting cultural 

awareness within the 

Department.

Continued providing 

Indigenous Cultural 

Awareness Training 

(ICAT), available to all 

employees. Managers 

and supervisors of 

Indigenous employees 

were encouraged to 

attend.

This has enabled us to 

increase staff awareness 

of the Indigenous 

culture, and for the need 

to improve outcomes for 

Indigenous Australians 

in the agency.

Feedback from 

participants in the form 

of workshop evaluation 

forms, including 

additional feedback 

received from individuals 

in this regard. More than 

80% of attendees report 

that this workshop has 

positively changed the 

way in which they look at 

Indigenous Australians 

in society and the 

workplace.

Commenced 

investigating 

the possibility of 

supplementing the ICAT 

program with cross 

cultural awareness 

training, either as a 

follow up to the existing 

program or as part of 

the induction program. 

A recommendation will 

be made to the Board 

by December 2007, for 

implementation in 2008.

Interest has already 

been shown by individual 

participants of the ICAT 

program to attend a 

follow up workshop, 

indicating a willingness 

to engage in this regard. 

This interest will be 

gauged with future 

participants in the ICAT 

program – to be included 

in the feedback / course 

evaluation form.

Feedback received from 

ICAT delegates.
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Celebrate diversity by 

recognising NAIDOC 

Week or National 

Reconciliation Week.

Plans have been made to 

celebrate NAIDOC Week 

in July 2007, involving 

Indigenous performance, 

dance and artwork. A 

Diversity Lunch is also 

planned for early in the 

new fi nancial year.

The level of enthusiasm 

shown by the members 

of the Equity and 

Diversity Committee 

organising these events 

and the interest showed 

by staff thus far.

Initiative 3.1.2 in current 

EEO Plan – Targeted 

recruitment.

Seven Indigenous cadets 

were appointed over 

the last seven months 

through the NICP 

program, and a Steering 

Committee was created 

to support them.

The value of and 

contribution of 

Indigenous cadets to 

the organisation was 

promoted to staff.

A number of 

Newsfl ashes was written 

to promote the value 

that these cadets added. 

Positive feedback was 

received from a number 

of staff in this regard.

4. Specifi c 

policies and 

practices 

targeted at 

improving 

employment 

outcomes for 

youth.

Strategy 3.2  in current 

EEO Plan – Initiative 

3.2.1: Review the DoIR 

graduate program to 

ensure we optimise its 

utilisation.

Successful review and 

improvement of the 

corporate Graduate 

Program. Increased 

commitment to the 

program, improved 

effi cacy of the program 

allowing a signifi cantly 

larger number of 

graduates to participate 

in 2007/8.

The utilisation of the 

graduate program will 

be close to optimal in 

2007 / 2008, given the 

fact that the number of 

graduates will increase 

from 2 to 12.

The level of funding 

made available for the 

graduate program in 

2007 / 2008.

5. Policies 

and practices 

targeted at 

improving 

representation 

of women 

in senior 

management, 

in management 

tiers and in the 

SES.

Strategy 3.3  in current 

EEO Plan – Initiative 

3.3.2: Balance gender 

participation in exec 

development.

Additional funding has 

been made available 

for the development 

of women in late 2007. 

Female employees at 

Level 4 and above will 

be actively encouraged 

to apply for Leadership 

and Management 

Scholarships to increase 

the proportion of women 

receiving this benefi t.

This will enable the 

agency to develop more 

women in management 

from 2008 onwards.

Feedback received 

from the Women in 

Management action 

group within the Equity 

and Diversity Committee 

had indicated that this 

initiative carries their 

approval and support.

Strategy 3.3  in current 

EEO Plan – Initiative 

3.3.3: Use the in-house 

mentoring program to 

advance women in the 

agency.

A specifi cation for the 

women in management 

module for the 

mentoring program 

has been established 

and discussions with 

service providers held 

for incorporation in early 

2008.

Female employees feel 

more supported.

Current participants 

in the DoIR mentoring 

program have been told 

of this initiative and the 

feedback received was 

very positive. It was felt 

that the specifi c needs of 

women would be better 

addressed in future with 

this initiative.

Opportunities and risks identifi ed for attention in the year ahead

The opportunity is there to further increase the representation of individuals in all diversity groups given the 

momentum achieved in the latter half of 2006 / 07.   However, the agency’s continued ability to attract and retain 

employees from these groups within the context of the current resources boom is a concern, and therefore specifi c 

initiatives to address this concern are being considered.
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4.5.4 COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR 

STANDARDS AND ETHICAL CODES
Compliance with Public Sector Standards

Information about The Public Sector Standards 

and the WA Code of Ethics is published on the 

Department’s intranet and included in induction 

briefi ngs. 

As a quality assurance requirement, recruitment 

and selection Public Sector Standards training is 

conducted monthly on a group basis for prospective 

selection committee participants, ‘scribe’ contractors 

and employees seeking refresher training. It is 

mandatory for Selection panels to have members 

trained in selection processes, including compliance 

requirements. 

A new automated induction management process is 

being implemented to improve the induction program. 

This now includes  formal sign off by new employees 

on their knowledge and understanding of the Code of 

Conduct, The Public Sector Standards and The Public 

Sector Code of Ethics.

In 2006 / 07 one breach claim against the Recruitment, 

Selection and Appointment Standard, was received.  

Following a review by the Offi ce of the Public Sector 

Standards Commissioner the claim was 

not substantiated.

Compliance with Codes of Ethics and Codes 

of Conduct

Mandatory Workplace Awareness Conduct sessions 

were continued, a total of 519 employees attended 

during 2006/07.  These sessions were also provided 

on-site to employees based in regional offi ces across 

W.A.

The Code of Conduct was reviewed to include the 

‘Contact with Lobbyists Code’, this is available to 

staff from the Intranet.  The policy and guidelines 

have been disseminated to all employees through the 

Director General’s employee feedback sessions and to 

new employees through the Induction program.

4.5.5 RECORDKEEPING
As part of the Recordkeeping Plan for the Department 

and compliance with SRC Standard 2 Principle 

6, several major initiatives were undertaken in 

2006/2007.

• A major training program, started in 2005, 

continued throughout the Department in 

2006/2007. More than 400 offi cers were trained 

in many aspects of record keeping processes, 

including basic record keeping induction for 

new starters, document and fi le management, 

electronic document recording.

• The fi le plan based on the Keyword AAA 

classifi cation was consolidated to provide easier 

search access and a solid framework for future 

electronic and record systems.

• Signifi cant resources were input in reviewing parts 

of the records holdings such as offsite storage 

holdings that were inherited from other agencies in 

the past 5 years.

•  A new electronic document and records system 

was implemented very successfully throughout the 

Department.

•  Processes for electronic record keeping were 

successfully introduced in a small functional area 

to assist in the development of policies, procedures 

and processes. 

In April 2007, an Electronic Records Archives Project 

was approved for 2007/2008 to implement electronic 

record keeping. The project includes digitisation of 

all major active and high turnover paper records, 

training of offi cers and implementation of information 

technology infrastructure. 
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4.6.1 CORRUPTION PREVENTION
The Department has implemented a series of activities 

and processes in accordance with the Premier’s 

Circular 2005/02, dated 31/03/2005 on corruption 

prevention.

The Department is committed to the aims and 

objectives of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003.  

It recognises the value and importance of 

contributions of staff to enhance administrative 

and management practices and strongly supports 

disclosures being made by staff as to corrupt or 

improper conduct.

A number of steps have been taken to ensure 

prevention of corruption by staff. These include:

• Conducting workplace awareness training for staff;

• Implementation of a policy on shareholding and 

business interests;

• Maintaining a register recording items of gifts and 

rewards received by its offi cers;

• Implementation of the State government’s policy in 

relation to lobbyists.

An investigation by the Corruption and Crime 

Commission (CCC) resulted in allegations against a 

senior offi cer who was seconded to the Department 

from the Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC).  

The matter relating to the offi cer is being actioned 

by the DPC.  Any further issues relating to the 

Department will be advised when CCC has fi nalised 

its investigation. The Department has reviewed 

correspondence that this offi cer had undertaken 

to ensure applications of probity, and no further 

breaches of conduct had been identifi ed.

As a result of this incident, the Department has 

reviewed its internal processes to prevent fraud and 

corruption by any offi cer.  In this regard, the Chief 

Executive Offi cer and Senior Legal Offi cer have 

briefed all departmental staff on their responsibilities 

under the Public Sector Code of Conduct and the 

Department’s core values.  This will form part of all 

further ongoing training for all staff on appropriate 

behaviour in their work.

A new system has also been implemented with regard 

to access and security of documents created within the 

Department to remove ambiguity in relation to sharing 

of documents. In support of this initiative, changes 

have been made to the arrangements within the 

Department for handling documentation, particularly 

documents for Ministers.  A ministerial liaison unit 

has been established to ensure correct protocols are 

followed when communicating with the Ministers 

responsible for the Department’s activities.

All new staff undergo an induction process which 

includes information, document security requirements 

and acceptable behaviour and conduct in the 

workplace. 

All existing staff in the Department currently undergo 

workplace conduct awareness workshops. These 

include an emphasis on confi dentiality of information, 

the receipt of gifts, hospitality, and appropriate 

conduct in dealing with lobbyists. 

4.6.2 SUBSTANTIVE EQUALITY
In accordance with the Department’s commitments 

to implement the Policy Framework for Substantive 

Equality, the Board commenced the Needs and Impact 

Assessment within the Tenure and Native Title Branch, 

in 2006/07. 

It was negotiated with the Commissioner for Equal 

Opportunity that the Needs and Impact Assessment 

within the Tenure and Native Title Branch will be 

completed by December 2007. Following which, 

implementation will commence within a new service 

area, negotiated with the Commissioner for Equal 

Opportunity, in January 2008.

4.6.3 SUSTAINABILITY
Departmental staff are encouraged to use 

sustainability principles for departmental decision 

making regarding project, policy and corporate 

matters. These principles give equal value to social, 

economic and environmental considerations.

Departmental offi cers achieve this by adopting the 

principles outlined in the State Sustainability Strategy 

2003 “Hope for the Future”.  The following examples 

illustrate the Department’s sustainability approach.

• The Department has continued initiatives to 

support sustainable Indigenous economic 

development under bilateral arrangements with 

the Commonwealth.  It has participated with 

Indigenous groups, industry, local government 

and the Commonwealth in the implementation of 

Regional Partnership Agreements on employment 

in the Pilbara and East Kimberley.

• In October 2006 the State Minister for Resources 

launched the Strategic Water Management in the 

Minerals Industry Framework.  It was an initiative 

of the Minerals Council of Australia (MCA) and 

4.6 GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS
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the Ministerial Council on Mineral and Petroleum 

Resources (MCMPR) and was prepared in 

recognition of the mining sector’s responsibility to 

contribute to sustainable water management. 

 The Framework demonstrates ways in which 

water-wise management and close consultation 

with stakeholders has delivered sustainable water 

use, more profi table operations and excellent 

community/stakeholder relationships.  The 

Department is promoting sustainable water use 

through adoption of the Framework.

• Given the high resource prospectivity and high 

conservation values of many of the ironstone 

ranges in the Yilgarn (including Mid West) 

region, a strategic review is being conducted 

by the Department of Industry and Resources 

and Environment and Conservation. This review 

evaluates the economic and social benefi ts and 

the overall regional development potential of the 

Mid West region, based on the establishment of 

signifi cant iron ore industry in the region. 

 The review considers also the unique biodiversity 

values of many of the ironstone ranges and the 

objective of extending the State’s conservation 

estate to be comprehensive, adequate and 

representative of the biodiversity values across the 

region.

• A whole of Government strategy was progressed to 

ensure ‘Project Ready Industrial Land’ is available 

to meet future industrial development needs of 

the State.  This initiative promotes sustainable 

development and will help Government reduce 

the ‘footprint’ of industry with a more strategic 

approach to planning rather than being reactive to 

proponents.  It will provide a greater understanding 

and management of environmental and cultural 

issues through forward strategic planning and 

assessments.  In addition, it will also ensure 

that physical and human infrastructure is better 

planned and implemented in proportion to 

development.

Departmental offi cers supported sustainability 

initiatives across State Government, for example by 

contributing to the:

• drafting of the fi nal report of the Minister for 

Agriculture’s Biofuels Taskforce.

• development of the various proposals put forward 

by the Premier’s Climate Change Action Statement 

Working Group. 

• maintenance of a multiple use approach in the 

creation of marine conservation reserves to 

accommodate industry and resources development 

as prescribed in the Government’s New Horizon’s 

policy.

• development of Commonwealth and State 

Bioregional Marine Plans to accommodate 

appropriately industry and resources development 

sector interests.

• development of Commonwealth and State 

legislation and policies for carbon capture and 

geological storage of carbon dioxide (CCS) as 

recommended in the Government’s Greenhouse 

Strategy.  The Department is the Government’s 

lead CCS agency.

• Environmental Protection Authority’s consideration 

of projects of State economic signifi cance in 

the development of its Guidance and Position 

Statements.

• Cockburn Sound Management Council’s 

consideration of sustainable development issues 

affecting marine water and habitat quality.

• WA Planning Commission’s Coastal Planning and 

Coordination Councils addressing sustainability 

issues in the State’s coastal development. 
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APPENDIX 1: LEGISLATION AND CHANGES TO LEGISLATION

The Department of Industry and Resources (DoIR) is 

responsible to 

• The Premier in his capacity as the Minister for 

Trade; Innovation and Science

• The Minister for State Development 

• The Minister for Energy; Resources; Industry and 

Enterprise 

for administering a number of Acts of State 

Parliament.  

Acts

The main Acts are:

• Industry and Technology Development Act 1998 

 (See note 1 below)

• Mining Act 1978

• Petroleum Act 1967

The remaining Acts are:

• Albany Freezing Works Agreement Act 1945

• Barrow Island Royalty Trust Account Act 1985

• Barrow Island Royalty Variation Agreement Act 1985

• Coal Miners Welfare Act 1947

• Hide and Leather Industries Act 1948

• Manjimup Canned Fruits and Vegetables Industry   

 Agreement Act 1969

• Mining on Private Property Act 1898

• Mining (Validation and Amendment) Act 1986

• Morley Shopping Centre Redevelopment 

 Agreement Act (1992)

• Nuclear Activities Regulation Act 1978

• Petroleum Pipelines Act 1969

• Petroleum (Registration Fees) Act 1967

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Registration

  Fees Act 1982 

• Western Australian Products Symbol Act 1972

• Wyndham Freezing, Canning and Meat Export 

 Works Act 1918

• Year 2000 Information Disclosure Act 1999

The following Commonwealth legislation is 

administered by the Department through the 

Commonwealth/Western Australian Offshore 

Petroleum/Minerals Joint Authorities:

• Offshore Minerals Act 1994

• Offshore Minerals (Registration Fees) Act 1981

• Offshore Minerals (Mining Licence Fees) Act 1981

• Offshore Minerals (Exploration Licence Fees) 

 Act 1981

• Offshore Minerals (Retention Licence Fees) Act 1994

• Offshore Minerals (Works Licence Fees) Act 1981

• Offshore Minerals (Royalty) Act 1981

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1967

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Registration Fees)  

 Act 1967

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Royalty) Act 1967

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Fees Act 1994

The following Commonwealth legislation is 

administered by the Department in accordance with 

the Commonwealth / Western Australian Service 

Delivery Agreement. 

• Mining Act 1978 (W.A.) (C.K.I.)

• Mining Act 1978 (W.A.)(C.I.)

The Department administers various State Agreement 

Acts, which are listed in Appendix 2. 

Changes to Legislation in 2006/07

Acts

Mining Act 1978

• Oaths, Affi davits and Statutory Declarations 

(Consequential Provisions) Act 2005, (No. 24 of 

2005):  Assented to 2 December 2005, section 

62 commenced 31 March 2007.  Consequential 

amendments to section 160D of the Mining Act 1978 

to refl ect the new Oaths, Affi davits and Statutory 

Declarations Act 2005.

• Mining Amendment Act 2004 (No. 39 of 2004):  

Assented to 3 November 2004, Part 9 commenced 

31 March 2007.  Part 9 introduces a range of 

amendments and new provisions relating to the 

functions and operations of Wardens and Wardens’ 

Courts.

Petroleum Safety Act 1999

• This Act was repealed on 28 March 2007 following 

the Proclamation published 27 March in the 

Government Gazette allowing for section 51 of the 

Petroleum Legislation Amendment and Repeal Act 

2005 to come into operation.

Petroleum Submerged Lands Act 1982

• Part 4 of the Petroleum Legislation Amendment 

and Repeal Act 2005 (PLAR Act 2005) commenced 

28 March 2007 following the Proclamation 

published 27 March in the Government Gazette. 

Part 4 of the PLAR Act 2005 amends the WA 

Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982 (PSLA 

82) by introducing a comprehensive occupational 

safety and health regime modelled on the 

provisions of the Commonwealth’s Schedule 

7.  Part 4 also confers powers on the National 

Offshore Petroleum Safety Authority to regulate 

petroleum safety in waters covered by the PSLA 82.Note: 1. This Act comes under the portfolio of the Minister for 

Science and Innovation – Department of the Premier and Cabinet 

– however, the Department is the agency principally assisting the 

Minister in the administration of this Act.
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Regulations

Mining Regulations 1981
• Mining Amendment Regulations (No. 6) 2006:  

Published in the Gazette on 23 June 2006 to 

operate from 1 July 2006.  Increases rents and fees 

to meet budget targets set by Government for the 

2006-07 fi nancial year..

• Mining Amendment Regulations 2007:  Published 

in the Gazette on 9 March 2007 to operate from 31 

March 2007.  Contains regulations to support the 

Mining Amendment Act 2004, Part 9 that came into 

effect on the same day.

• Mining Amendment Regulations (No. 3) 2007:  

Published in the Gazette on 22 June 2007 to 

operate from 1 July 2007.  Increases rents and fees 

to meet budget targets set by Government for the 

2007-08 fi nancial year.

Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Regulations
Four new Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Safety 

Regulations came into effect on 28 March 2007 with the 

commencement of Part 4 of the Petroleum Legislation 

Amendment and Repeal Act 2005. These regulations 

introduce an objective-based system for the regulation 

of occupational safety and health activities in the 

designated coastal waters area. These regulations 

(which are modelled on similar Commonwealth safety 

regulations) are:

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Management of 

Safety on Offshore Facilities) Regulations 2007 

 Establishes a requirement to have an accepted 

safety case for each offshore petroleum facility;

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Pipelines) 

Regulations 2007

 Establishes a requirement to have an accepted 

pipeline safety management plan (as part of an 

overall pipeline management plan);

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Diving Safety) 

Regulations 2007

 Establishes a requirement to have an accepted dive 

safety management system and dive project plan;

• Petroleum (Submerged Lands) (Occupational Safety 

and Health) Regulations 2007

 Defi nes limits to certain OSH risks, for example 

by prohibiting certain materials, defi ning certain 

exposure standards, etc.

Legislation yet to Come into Effect at 30 June 2007

Offshore Minerals Act 2003, Offshore Minerals 

(Consequential Amendments) Act 2003, Offshore 

Minerals (Registration Fees) Act 2003. New legislation 

to govern the exploration for and exploitation of 

minerals from the seabed within the three nautical 

mile Territorial Sea (this legislation is to mirror the 

Commonwealth’s Offshore Minerals Legislation 

as agreed in the 1979 Offshore Constitutional 

Settlement). The legislation is awaiting the drafting of 

supporting regulations.

Petroleum Legislation Amendment and Repeal Act 2005 

(No. 13 of 2005) Assented to 1 September 2005. The Act 

amends the Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982, 

the Petroleum Act 1967 and the Petroleum Pipelines Act 

1969 with respect to the occupational safety and health 

of persons at offshore petroleum facilities, petroleum 

operations and petroleum pipeline operations. It also 

repeals the Petroleum Safety Act 1999 and makes 

consequential amendments to the Barrow Island 

Act 2003, the Industrial Relations Act 1979 and the 

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984. Part 4 of the 

Act commenced 28 March 2007 when the required 

safety regulations for the Petroleum (Submerged 

Lands) Act 1982 came into operation.
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APPENDIX 2: STATE AGREEMENTS ACTS (MAJOR RESOURCE PROJECTS)

The Department of Industry and Resources 

administers 72 State Agreement Acts on behalf 

of the Government of Western Australia.

List of Agreement Acts Administered by the 

Department at 30 June 2007

Government Agreements Act 1979

Alumina

• Alumina Refi nery Agreement Act 1961

• Alumina Refi nery (Mitchell Plateau) Agreement 

Act 1971

• Alumina Refi nery (Pinjarra) Agreement Act 1969

• Alumina Refi nery (Wagerup) Agreement and Acts 

Amendment Act 1978

• Alumina Refi nery (Worsley) Agreement Act 1973

Charcoal Iron and Steel

• Wundowie Charcoal Iron Industry Sale 

Agreement Act 1974

Coal

• Collie Coal (Griffi n) Agreement Act 1979

• Collie Coal (Western Collieries) Agreement Act 1979

Copper

• Western Mining Corporation Limited (Throssell   

 Range) Agreement Act 1985

Diamonds

• Diamond (Argyle Diamond Mines Joint Venture)   

 Agreement Act 1981

Energy

• Goldfi elds Gas Pipeline Agreement Act 1994

• Pilbara Energy Project Agreement Act 1994

• Ord River Hydro Energy Project Agreement Act 1994

Forest Products

• Albany Hardwood Plantation Agreement Act 1993

• Bunbury Treefarm Project Agreement Act 1995

• Collie Hardwood Plantation Agreement Act 1995

• Dardanup Pine Log Sawmill Agreement Act 1992

• Paper Mill Agreement Act 1960

• Wesply (Dardanup) Agreement Authorization Act 1975  

 (Terminated)

• Wood Chipping Industry Agreement Act 1969   

 (Terminated)

• Wood Processing (WESFI) Agreement Act 2000

• Wood Processing (Wesbeam) Agreement Act 2002

Gas

• North West Gas Development (Woodside) Agreement 

Act 1979

• Barrow Island Act 2003 (which incorporates the 

Gorgon Gas Processing and Infrastructure Project 

Agreement)

Gold

• Tailings Treatment (Kalgoorlie) Agreement Act 1988

Iron Ore and Steel

• BHP Billiton (Termination of Agreements) Agreement 

Act 2006

• Iron Ore (The Broken Hill Proprietary Company 

Limited) Agreement Act 1964 (Terminated)

• Iron Ore (Channar Joint Venture) Agreement Act 1987

• Iron Ore (FMG Chichester Pty Ltd) Agreement Act 

2006

• Iron Ore (Goldsworthy-Nimingarra) Agreement Act 

1972

• Iron Ore (Hamersley Range) Agreement Act 1963

• Iron Ore (Hamersley Range) Agreement Act 

Amendment Act 1968

• Iron Ore (Hope Downs) Agreement Act 1992

• Iron Ore (McCamey’s Monster) Agreement 

Authorization Act 1972

• Iron Ore (Marillana Creek) Agreement Act 1991

• Iron Ore (Mount Bruce) Agreement Act 1972

• Iron Ore (Mount Goldsworthy) Agreement Act 1964

• Iron Ore (Mount Newman) Agreement Act 1964

• Iron Ore (Murchison) Agreement Authorization Act 

1973

• Iron Ore (Rhodes Ridge) Agreement Authorisation Act 

1972

• Iron Ore (Robe River) Agreement Act 1964

• Iron Ore (Wittenoom) Agreement Act 1972

• Iron Ore Processing (BHP Minerals) Agreement Act 

1994 (Terminated)

• Iron Ore Benefi ciation (BHP) Agreement Act 1996

• Iron Ore Direct Reduced Iron (BHP) Agreement Act 

1996

• Iron Ore (Yandicoogina) Agreement Act 1996

• Iron & Steel (Mid West) Agreement Act 1997 

(Terminated)

• Iron Ore Processing (Mineralogy Pty Ltd) Agreement 

Act 2002

Mineral Sands

• Mineral Sands (Eneabba) Agreement Act 1975

• Mineral Sands (Cooljarloo) Mining and Processing 

Agreement Act 1988

• Mineral Sands (Beenup) Agreement Act 1995
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Nickel

• Nickel (Agnew) Agreement Act 1974

• Nickel Refi nery (Western Mining Corporation Limited) 

Agreement Act 1968

• Nickel Refi nery (Western Mining Corporation Limited) 

Agreement Act Amendment Act 1970

• Poseidon Nickel Agreement Act 1971

Oil

• Oil Refi nery (Kwinana) Agreement Act 1952

Salt

• Dampier Solar Salt Industry Agreement Act 1967

• Evaporites (Lake MacLeod) Agreement Act 1967

• Leslie Solar Salt Industry Agreement Act 1966

• Onslow Solar Salt Agreement Act 1992

• Shark Bay Solar Salt Industry Agreement Act 1983

Uranium

• Uranium (Yeelirrie) Agreement Act 1978

Miscellaneous

• Cement Works (Cockburn Cement Limited) 

Agreement Act 1971

• Industrial Lands (CSBP & Farmers Limited) 

Agreement Act 1976

• Industrial Lands (Kwinana) Agreement Act 1964

• Pigment Factory (Australind) Agreement Act 1986

• Silicon (Kemerton) Agreement Act 1987

• Anglo-Persian Oil Company Limited’s (Private) Act 

1919

• British Imperial Oil Company, Limited (Private) Act 

1925

• Commonwealth Oil Refi neries Limited (Private) Act 

1940

• Texas Company (Australasia) Limited (Private) Act 

1928

New Agreements Ratifi ed (2006/07)

• BHP Billiton (Termination of Agreements) Agreement 

Act 2006;

• Iron Ore (FMG Chichester Pty Ltd) Agreement Act 

2006

Variations (2006/07)

• Iron Ore (Goldsworthy-Nimingarra) Agreement Act 

1972;

• Poseidon Nickel Agreement Act 1971

Agreements Terminated (2006/07)

• Broken Hill Proprietary Company’s Integrated Steel 

Works Agreement Act 1960;

• Broken Hill Proprietary Steel Industry Agreement Act 

1952

Agreement Acts Repealed (2006/07)

During the reporting period, no State Agreement Acts 

were repealed.
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APPENDIX 3: GLOSSARY

ABS Australian Bureau of Statistics

ACEPT Australian Centre for Energy and Process 

Training

AIFRS Australian Equivalents to International 

Financial Reporting Standards

AIIA Australian Information Industry Association

AMC Australian Marine Complex

APPEA Australian Petroleum Production and 

Exploration Association

APPEX American Association of Petroleum Geologists 

Prospect Expo

ARC Australian Research Council

ASKAP Australian Square Kilometre Array Pathfi nder

CAR Corrective Action Recommendation

CCC  Corruption and Crime Commission

CCS Carbon Capture and Geological Storage

CDEP Community Development Employment 

Program

COE Centres of Excellence

CPI  Consumer Price Index 

CRC Co-operative Research Centre

CS  Corporate Support

CSIRO Commonwealth Scientifi c and Industrial 

Research Organisation

CSF Central Services Facility

CUF Common User Facility

DAIP Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

DEC Department of Environment and Conservation

DAF Department of Agriculture and Food 

DIA  Department of Indigenous Affairs

DLI  Department of Land Information

DoE Department of Education

DOCEP Department of Consumer and Employment 

Protection

DoH Department of Health

DoIR Department of Industry and Resources

DPC Department of Premier and Cabinet

DPI  Department for Planning and Infrastructure

DTF Department of Treasury and Finance

EAF Environmental Assessors Forum

EMA Emergency Management Australia

eMiTS Electronic Mineral Titles System

EMP Environmental Management Plan

EPA Environmental Protection Authority 

FMA Financial Management Act 2006

FOI  Freedom of Information Act 1992

FSL Forensic Science Laboratory

FTE Full Time Equivalent

GIS  Geographical Information System

GSWA Geological Survey of Western Australia

GSS Gold State Superannuation Scheme

GTL Gas to Liquid

HR  Human Resources

ICAT Indigenous Cultural Awareness Training

ICN  Industry Capability Network

ICT  Information and Communications Technology

IEDS Indigenous Economic Development Strategy

IMF International Monetary Fund

ISO  International Standards Organisation

ISU  Investigation Services Unit

ITCPL Innovative Carbon Technology Pty Ltd

ITDA Industry and Technology Development Act 1998 

ITRI Invitation to Register Interest 

iVEC Interactive Virtual Environments Centre

JOGMEC Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation

JORC Joint Ore Reserves Committee 

JVP’s Joint Venture Partners

JWG Joint Working Group on Natural Gas Supply 

KDC Kimberley Development Commission

KPI  Key Performance Indicator

LNG Liquefi ed Natural Gas

MCMPR Ministerial Council on Mineral and Petroleum 

Resources

MILC Mining Industry Liaison Committee

MCA Minerals Council of Australia

MLO Ministerial Liaison Offi cer 

MOU Memorandum of Understanding

MMO Massively Multiplayer Online

MRO Murchison Radio-astronomy Observatory

MT  Megatonne

MWDC Mid West Development Commission

NAIDOC National Aborigines and Islanders Day 

Observance Committee

NAPE North American Prospect Expo

NICP National Indigenous Cadetship Project

NIFS National Institute of Forensic Science

NTA Native Title Act 1993 (Commonwealth)

NWS North West Shelf 

OAED Offi ce of Aboriginal Economic Development

OPEC Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting 

Countries

OSD Offi ce of State Development

OSH Occupational Safety and Health

OSTI Offi ce of Science, Technology and Innovation

QMS Quality Management System

R&D Research and Development

RG  Resources Group

RPA Regional Partnership Agreement

RSHA Regional Standard Heritage Agreement

RWWA Racing and Wagering Western Australia

SBN StateWide Broadband Network

SDS State Development Strategies

SISA Science and Innovation Studentship Awards

SKA Square Kilometre Array 

SPPP Supplementary Property Purchase Program

SRC State Record Commission

SUT Society for Underwater Technology 

SWDC South West Development Commission

TENGRAPH Tenement Graphics (Mineral Titles Online)

TI  Treasurer’s Instruction 

TIAC Technology and Industry Advisory Council

UIG  Urgent Issues Group

WA  Western Australia

WAGON Western Australian Government Overseas 

Network

WAIMR Western Australian Institute for Medical 

Research

WAMSI Western Australian Marine Science Institution

WARIMS Western Australian Resource Information 

System

WDTU Weighted Data Transaction Unit

WSS West State Superannuation Scheme

WTPP Weighted Total Published Product
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